
‐1- 
 

 
 

To	Provide	a	Sustainable	Quality	of	Life	
Through	Excellent	Stewardship	of	Government 

UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL 
P. O. Box 610 ▪ Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

Tel (907) 581-1251 ▪ Fax (907) 581-1417 ▪ www.ci.unalaska.ak.us 

Mayor: Vincent M. Tutiakoff Sr.   City Manager: Chris Hladick 
City Clerk: Marjie Veeder, mveeder@ci.unalaska.ak.us 

 

COUNCIL MEETING ATTENDANCE 
The community is encouraged to attend meetings of the City Council: 

 In person at City Hall 
 Online via ZOOM (link, meeting ID & password below) 
 By telephone (toll and toll free numbers, meeting ID & password below) 
 Listen on KUCB TV Channel 8 or Radio Station 89.7 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
The Mayor and City Council value and encourage community input at meetings of the City Council. There is a time 
limit of 3 minutes per person, per topic. Options for public comment: 

 In person 
 By telephone or ZOOM - notify the City Clerk if you’d like to provide comment using ZOOM features (chat 

message or raise your hand); or *9 by telephone to raise your hand; or you may notify the City Clerk during 
regular business hours in advance of the meeting 

 Written comment is accepted up to one hour before the meeting begins by email, regular mail, fax or hand 
delivery to the City Clerk, and will be read during the meeting; include your name 

ZOOM MEETING LINK: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85203975430 
Meeting ID: 852 0397 5430 / Passcode: 977526 

TELEPHONE: Meeting ID: 852 0397 5430 / Passcode: 977526 
Toll Free numbers: (833) 548-0276; or (833) 548-0282; or (877) 853-5247; or (888) 788-0099 
Non Toll Free numbers: (253) 215-8782; or (346) 248-7799; or (669) 900-9128 

 

AGENDA 
1. Call to order 

2. Roll call 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Recognition of Visitors 

5. Mayoral Proclamation Declaring October 2022 as Domestic Violence Awareness Month, with 
presentation from M. Lynn Crane, Executive Director of Unalaskans Against Sexual Assault and 
Family Violence (USAFV) 

6. Adoption of Agenda 

7. Approve Minutes of Previous Meeting September 13, 2022 

Unalaska City Hall 
Council Chambers 

43 Raven Way 
 
 
 

Council Members 
Dennis M. Robinson 
Alejandro R. Tungul 

Shari Coleman 

Regular Meeting 
Tuesday, September 27, 2022 
6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
Council Members 
Thomas D. Bell 
Darin Nicholson 
Daneen Looby 

Council Packet Page 1



‐2- 
 

8. Reports: City Manager Report 

9. Community Input & Announcements Members of the public may provide information to council or 
make announcements of interest to the community. Three-minute time limit per person. 

10. Public Comment on Agenda Items Time for members of the public to provide information to Council 
regarding items on the agenda. Members of the public may also speak when the issue comes up on the regular 
agenda by signing up with the City Clerk. Three-minute time limit per person. 

11. Work Session Work sessions are for planning purposes, or studying and discussing issues before the 
Council. 

a. Unalaska Airport Master Plan Presentation 
Marc Luiken, Civil/Transportation Engineering Manager, Michael Baker International 
Paul Khera, Aviation Planner, Alaska Department of Transportation 
Greg Lockwood, Engineer/Architect, Alaska Department of Transportation 

b. Investment Presentation 
Bil Lierman, Chief Investment Officer, Alaska Permanent Capital Management 

c. City Attorney Report 
Brooks Chandler and Charles Cacciola of Chandler, Falconer, Munson & Cacciola 

12. Consent Agenda Approval of non-controversial or routine items, accomplished without debate and with a 
single motion and vote. Council members may request an item be moved to the regular agenda for discussion 
purposes. 

a. Request from the Unalaska Native Fisherman’s Association for an updated letter of support 
from the City related to their request to the North Pacific Fishery Management Council for a 
Community Cod Allocation 

13. Regular Agenda Persons wishing to speak on regular agenda items must sign up with the City Clerk. 
Three-minute time limit per person. 

a. Ordinance 2022-16: First Reading, Amending Section 2.20.075 of the Unalaska Code of 
Ordinances, removing the prohibition of Council Members Participating in Executive Session by 
telephone and adding participation in meetings by other electronic means 

b. Ordinance 2022-17: First Reading, Creating Budget Amendment #2 to the Fiscal Year 2023 
Budget to (1) Increase wages, fringe benefits and associated State of Alaska PERS 
contributions for IUOE Local 302 union employees covering increased wage scales, longevity 
bonuses and education incentives for three Collective Bargaining Unit Agreements; (2) 
Recognizing local support revenue of $10,834 from APIA in the general fund and increasing the 
PCR operating budget by $10,834 for the senior exercise program; (3) Increasing Mayor and 
Council budget by $75,000 to fully fund two community fireworks shows; (4) Appropriating an 
additional $252,154 from the electric proprietary fund for the Generator Sets Rebuild Project; 
and (5) Appropriating an additional $526,447 from the water proprietary fund for the Pyramid 
Water Treatment Plant Chlorine Upgrade Project 

14. Council Directives to City Manager 

15. Community Input & Announcements Members of the public may provide information to council or 
make announcements of interest to the community. Three-minute time limit per person. 

16. Executive Session: Discussion with City Attorneys regarding pending litigation 

17. Adjournment 
 

Council Packet Page 2



City	of	Unalaska,	Alaska	
PROCLAMATION	

WHEREAS, all people living and working in Unalaska have the right to be safe in their homes, workplaces and 
community. Domestic Violence is widespread and devastating to many Alaskan families, and we must combat 
these crimes; and 

WHEREAS, the physical and emotional scars of domestic violence affect men, women and children across our 
state in alarming numbers. Domestic violence violates an individual’s dignity, security and humanity and can 
leave lifelong scars on the minds, bodies and spirits of victims; and 

WHEREAS, in the United States, approximately one in four women and one in seven men have been victims 
of domestic violence, and 15.5 million children are exposed to violence every year; and 

WHEREAS, one in three adult women in Alaska have been victims of stalking in their lifetime and one in nine 
Alaskan women 60 years of age or older experienced psychological or physical abuse in the past two years; 
and 

WHEREAS, domestic violence remains a serious crime that crosses all economic, racial, gender, educational, 
religious and societal barriers. In Alaska, we acknowledge the disproportional impact that interpersonal 
violence has on Alaska Native populations where 80% of Alaska Native women have experienced one or 
more forms of violence in their lifetime; and 

WHEREAS, as Unalaskans, we must demonstrate with our words and actions that we do not tolerate intimate 
partner violence. We will continue to build alliances among community entities, businesses and 
governmental, educational and faith-based organizations that will strengthen our families and hold offenders 
accountable for their crimes; and 

WHEREAS, every October, we recognize the victims and survivors of domestic violence, and remind them 
that they are not alone. We also recognize those working and volunteering for USAFV (Unalaskans Against 
Sexual Assault and Family Violence), who stand ready to respond to those in crisis day or night; and  

WHEREAS, USAFV provides safe shelter, advocacy, personal support and other services to adults and 
children impacted by domestic violence in Unalaska and Dutch Harbor; and  

WHEREAS, USAFV seeks to prevent future domestic violence by providing education and outreach to people 
of all ages; and 

WHEREAS, only a coordinated community effort will put a stop to domestic violence. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, VINCENT M. TUTIAKOFF, SR., MAYOR OF THE CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA, DO 
HEREBY PROCLAIM	THE	MONTH	OF	OCTOBER	2022	AS	DOMESTIC	VIOLENCE	AWARENESS	MONTH, 
AND URGE ALL CITIZENS TO WORK TOWARD THE ELIMINATION OF ALL VIOLENCE WITHIN FAMILIES AND 
WITHIN DATING RELATIONSHIPS OF ALL KINDS. 

SO PROCLAIMED this 27th day of September 2022. 

 
        ________________________________________________  

Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
ATTEST:       Mayor 
 
___________________________________ 
Marjie Veeder, CMC 
City Clerk 

Council Packet Page 3



 

-1- 
 

 

 

UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL 
P. O. Box 610 ▪ Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

Tel (907) 581-1251 ▪ Fax (907) 581-1417 ▪ www.ci.unalaska.ak.us 
Mayor: Vincent M. Tutiakoff Sr.   City Manager: Chris Hladick 

City Clerk: Marjie Veeder, mveeder@ci.unalaska.ak.us 
 

MINUTES 

1. Call to order. The Mayor called the regular meeting of the Unalaska City Council to order on 
September 13, 2022, at 6:00 p.m. 

2. Roll call. The City Clerk called the roll. The Mayor and all Council Members were present in 
person. Mayor announced establishment of a quorum. 

Robinson read the City’s Mission Statement: To provide a sustainable quality of life through 
excellent stewardship of government. 

3. Pledge of Allegiance. Looby led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

4. Recognition of Visitors. The Mayor recognized Nelson San Juan with the State Department of 
Labor. 

5. Adoption of Agenda. Robinson moved to adopt the agenda with second by Tungul. Robinson 
moved to amend the agenda to add a work session item to discuss the proposed marine sanctuary 
near the Pribilof Islands, second by Nicholson. Roll call vote on motion to amend: all council 
members voted in the affirmative; motion to amend adopted 6-0.Roll call vote on the motion to 
adopt the agenda as amended: all council members voted in the affirmative; motion passed 6-0. 

6. Approve Minutes of Previous Meetings. Coleman moved to approve the proposed minutes of the 
council meetings held August 9; August 19; and August 25, 2022, as presented, with second by 
Robinson. There being no objection, the minutes were approved by consensus. 

7. City Manager Report. Acting City Manager Bil Homka presented the City Manager’s report and 
along with department directors McLaughlin and Cohenour responded to questions and comments 
from Council. 

8. Community Input & Announcements. The Mayor provided an opportunity for community input 
and announcements, which were provided as follows: 

a. Roger Blakeley made PCR announcements and a personal announcement; 

b. M. Lynn Crane made announcements for USAFV and the Foraker Group training for 
nonprofit boards to be held this weekend; 

c. Steve Tompkins made announcements for the Utility Department; 

Unalaska City Hall 
Council Chambers 

43 Raven Way 
 
 
 

Council Members 
Dennis M. Robinson 
Alejandro R. Tungul 

Shari Coleman 

Regular Meeting 
Tuesday, September 13, 2022 
6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
Council Members 
Thomas D. Bell 
Darin Nicholson 
Daneen Looby 

Council Packet Page 4



 

-2- 
 

d. City Clerk Marjie Veeder made announcements regarding the October 4 local election; 
and 2nd half property tax payments due on October 20; 

e. Nick Cron encouraged community members to respond to a survey regarding use of 
plastics; 

f. Denise Rankin commented about fireworks shows on behalf of Ounalashka Corporation; 
and 

g. Dennis Robinson made an announcement regarding the upcoming candidate forums 
hosted by KUCB. 

9. Public Comment on Agenda Items. The Mayor provided opportunity for public comment on 
agenda items; no comment offered. 

10. Work Session. Nicholson moved to go into Work Session; second by Robinson. There being no 
objection, Council began their work session at 6:32 p.m.  

a. Kelly Mayes, BDO Assurance Manager, made a presentation to Council regarding the 
Annual Audit for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 and responded to Council questions. 

b. Peggy McLaughlin, Director of Ports & Harbors, made a presentation to Council 
regarding lease spaces in the Tom Madsen Airport Terminal Building and responded to 
Council questions. 

c. City Clerk Marjie Veeder led a discussion with Council regarding a proposed code 
change to allow council participation by telephone in executive session; and adding 
“other electronic means” to all forms of remote participation in council meetings; and 
responded to Council questions. 

Robinson moved to return to regular session; second by Tungul.  

Council resumed regular session at 7:40 p.m. 

11. Consent Agenda 

Robinson moved to adopt the Consent Agenda; second by Tungul. Roll call vote: all council 
members voted in the affirmative; motion passed unanimously 6-0 adopting the following items: 

a. Resolution 2022-37: Authorizing the Sale of Surplus Personal Property 

b. Resolution 2022-38: Appointing Judges and Clerks for the Regular Municipal Election on 
October 4 2022, and Judges to serve on the Canvass Committee 

c. Resolution 2022-39: Approving the Mayor’s Appointment of Noel Rea to the Parks, 
Culture and Recreation Committee 

12. Regular Agenda  

a. Reconsider Resolution 2022-32 Authorizing the City Manager to enter into a sublease 
agreement with TransNorthern, LLC / Dena’ina Air Taxi for Space “A” at the Tom 
Madsen Airport Terminal Building 

Looby moved to reconsider Resolution 2022-32; second by Nicholson.  

Council discussion.  

 

Council Packet Page 5



 

-3- 
 

Council Member Bell objected to the motion to reconsider as procedurally improper as 
the request was made after the June 28 meeting was adjourned, and asked the chair to 
make a ruling. Mayor Tutiakoff ruled to allow the motion to reconsider to proceed based 
on the advice of the City Attorney.  

Roll call vote on motion to reconsider: all Council Members voted in the affirmative, 
approving the motion to reconsider unanimously.  

Acting City Manager Homka and Port Director McLaughlin briefly reviewed Resolution 
2022-32. 

Roll call vote (on reconsideration) of Resolution 2022-32: all Council Members voted in 
the affirmative, adopting the Resolution 2022-32 unanimously. 

b. Resolution 2022-40: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement with 
OptimEra for electric lineman services 

Robinson moved to adopt Resolution 2022-40; second by Coleman. 

Acting City Manager Homka and Acting Utility Director Tompkins provided an overview 
followed by Council discussion and questions. 

Roll call vote: all Council Members voted in the affirmative, adopting Resolution 2022-40 
unanimously.  

c. Approve travel for the Mayor and/or City Council Members to the October meeting of the 
North Pacific Fishery Management Council in Anchorage, Alaska (October 6-11) 

Robinson moved to approve travel for the Mayor and up to three council members to the 
NPFMC meeting in Anchorage, October 6-11, 2022; second by Tungul. 

Council discussion. 

Robinson moved to amend the motion to insert names of travelers as Council Members 
Tungul and Nicholson and the Mayor; second by Nicholson. Roll call vote on motion to 
amend adopted unanimously.  

Roll call vote on main motion to approve travel, as amended, was adopted unanimously. 

13. Council Directives to City Manager 

a. Nicholson moved to direct the city manager to task the city’s federal lobbyist to begin 
work on the proposed marine sanctuary in the Pribilof Islands; second by Robinson. 
Council discussion. Roll call vote: all Council Members voted in the affirmative adopting 
the directive. 

b. Coleman moved to direct the city manager to bring forward an ordinance that would 
change the terms for council participation in executive session in Title 2.20.075; second 
by Robinson. Roll call vote: all Council Members voted in the affirmative adopting the 
directive. 

c. Robinson moved to direct the city manager to provide a New Year’s Eve fireworks show, 
along with a budget amendment to cover the costs for the fireworks trailer and a 4th of 
July fireworks show; second by Nicholson. Roll call vote: all Council Members voted in 
the affirmative adopting the directive. 

Council Packet Page 6



 

-4- 
 

14. Community Input & Announcements. The Mayor provided a final opportunity for community input 
and announcements. Council Member Coleman expressed appreciation for the work of the Public 
Utilities Department with all of the additional work for locates, etc.  

15. Adjournment. Having completed all items on the agenda, the Mayor adjourned the meeting at 8:24 
p.m. 

 

These minutes were approved by the Unalaska City Council on September 27, 2022. 
 
 
__________________________ 
Marjie Veeder, CMC 
City Clerk 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Council Packet Page 7



1 
 

Manager’s Report 
September 27, 2022 
From:  Chris Hladick, Interim City Manager 
 Bil Homka, Acting City Manager 

1. Fireworks: Per City Manager directive (9/13) the budget amendment this evening includes 
provisions for two firework shows in FY23 – New Year’s Eve and 4th of July and funds to 
complete and repair the fireworks trailer. 

2. Sanctuary: Per City Manager directive (9/13) the city’s federal lobbyists have been directed 
to begin work on a strategy for aiding the City and its trilateral partners to advocate against the 
marine sanctuary. As proposed, a 100 mile boundary would surround the Pribilof Islands 
(possibly more) and would negatively impact processing communities in Alaska.  The proposal 
has already been added to NOAA’s inventory list, which means it will be an active proposal 
for up to five years. 

3. Teleconference Participation in Executive Session: Per City Manager Directive (9/13) the 
City Clerk’s office has drafted amendments to Title 2.20.075 and change the ordinance to allow 
city council members to participate in executive sessions via phone, zoom or similar 
telecommunication methods.  The proposal is on tonight’s agenda. 

4. Alaska Airlines: Chris is working on putting together a teleconference with Alaska, Ravn, and 
representatives of the Seafood processing community to talk about air service. Waiting to hear 
back from Scott Haberstadt of Alaska Airlines. 

5. Aleutian Airways: Aleutian Airways has received FAA approval to operate the Saab 2000 in 
Unalaska. Chris is hoping to meet with leadership at Aleutian Airways in October to discuss 
their future plans.  

6. Dredging of the Bar: The Corps of engineers will begin benthic surveys of the bar in 
September and October. This information is needed to finalize the design of the channel they 
plan to construct coming across the bar at the entrance of Dutch Harbor. It is so good to have 
this project moving. Brad Gilman and I started this process in the 2008 timeframe. Thanks to 
Senator Murkowski for the recent congressionally directed spending to make this project 
happen. The question is, once we dredge the bar how big will the ships be that come in and 
can we service them? The local Marine Pilots were instrumental in getting the project started 
and assisting the Corps with much needed information about the problems ships were having 
at low tide. 

7. Captain’s Bay Road: Bil Homka is working on a detailed plan for the project which will be 
presented to the council as there will be some decisions to make about amenities, etc. 
Additionally, what Trident decides will impact the scope of the project. This is definitely a 
priority for staff right now. 

8. Terminal Facility: Later this fall staff in the planning department will present to the city 
council a draft of a public process for addressing the Terminal Facility. We need to start now.  

Council Packet Page 8



2 
 

9. Travel: Marjie Veeder will serve as Acting City Manager when Chris is off island in October. 
Bil Homka is scheduled to travel with the High School Swim Team to three swim meets next 
month.  

10. Title 3: The Administration department’s HR Manager and Risk Manager have been working 
together to propose changes to Title 3, including text amendments as well as proposed 
scenarios for salary changes. Bil recommends the salary scenarios be separated from the text 
amendments so that any changes in salaries can be budgeted for this calendar year to address 
tax and IRS implications.  The text amendments are needed but will need vetted by the city 
administration, legal and staff prior to presenting them to city council.  

11. Staffing: As of 9/20/22 the City has 24 vacant positions.  This includes the 5 vacant lineman 
positions.  Vacancies are as follows:  

 

Vacancies (9/20/22) 

City Manager Office  1 

Administration  2 

City Clerk  0 

Finance  1 

Planning  1 

Police  5 

Fire  1 

Ports  0 

PCR  2 

Public Works  1 

Public Utilities  10 

TOTAL  24 

 

12. GCI/JTA: The Communication infrastructure project has installed about 62,000 feet of 
conduit and 57 vaults as of 8/26/22. The entire trenching project, which includes the city 
intranet and GCI lines throughout the community, is about 90% complete at this time. GCI is 
connecting residences to the fiber and the City is about to enter negotiations for the internet 
service contract. 

 

Council Packet Page 9



- 1 - 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Bil Homka, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 27, 2022 
Re: Airport Master Plan Update 
 

 
SUMMARY: The Airport Master Plan was initiated by the State of Alaska to update the existing 
master plan and address issues concerning safety, runway improvements, terminal needs and 
compliance with FAA / DOT guidelines and regulations. The State hired planning firm Michael 
Baker International to update the 2008-2012 airport master plan. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: None 
 
BACKGROUND: The State of Alaska owns the Unalaska airport and prepares master plan 
updates every 10 years. This update was scheduled earlier than anticipated due to the plane 
crash that happened in October 2019. Together with the State, City administration and the Ports 
and Planning Departments worked with the consultant to kick off the process in September 2020. 
 
Several committee meetings occurred during 2020 in an effort to identify issues and discuss 
possible ideas for improving the airport’s safety and operational needs. Everyone knows there 
are many cancelled flights due to weather impediments. During this time Unalaska also 
experienced travel impediments resulting from Pen Air discontinuing service to Unalaska, Ravn 
Air acquiring the route and subsequently filing for bankruptcy, the City operating a “charter” 
operation for three weeks, and access to the mainland was reduced to charter service mostly on 
small planes (6-8 seats). At some point Dena’ina Air began charter service with a larger plane 
that ran between Unalaska and Anchorage 2-3 times per week. 
 
The schedule for the master plan was offset by the COVID-19 pandemic and most of the meetings 
anticipated to happen on island were held virtually with online platforms. KUCB and Channel 8 
assisted with coordinating public meetings to obtain comments from island residents and 
businesses. In all, the community and planners did what needed to be done in order to move the 
planning effort forward.  
 
About September 2021 coordination efforts between the City and the consultant started to wane. 
The last public presentation was scheduled for October 2021, but was rescheduled to the prior 
month. No public presentation was ever made of the final plan submitted to the State of Alaska. 
 
DISCUSSION: Unalaska’s airport faces extreme challenges: it is surrounded by Ballyhoo 
Mountain on the north and water on the other three sides. At just 5,500 feet in length, the airport 
is not rated for large jets to land and depart. The wind and weather conditions are often 
unfavorable for planes to land and the airport lacks electronic navigational aids that would help 
overcome some of the less extreme weather situations such as fog and clouds. Therefore, regular 
scheduled passenger service between Unalaska and Anchorage is often cancelled.  
 
As of now it appears the plan to improve the airport’s safety includes an EMAS system 
(Engineered Material Arresting System). EMAS would flank both ends of the runway and serve to 

Council Packet Page 10



- 2 - 
 

capture the plane wheels should they transgress into either of the two safety zones. Basically the 
EMAS consists of large concrete type blocks that crush when the plane wheels run across them, 
thus causing a plane to decelerate rapidly.  
 
Not presenting the results of the master plan to the community at large leaves the public’s 
expectations, right or wrong, hanging in limbo as to what plans are being considered for the 
airport. At the community input meetings it was clear participants want a longer runway and any 
other improvements that would facilitate flights more regularly and safely. The cost estimate to 
achieve a longer runway is said to be around $250,000,000. The State of Alaska believes this is 
too expensive a plan to implement.  
 
Tonight, representatives from Alaska Department of Transportation and Michael Baker 
International will attend via Zoom to present the firm’s recommendations for airport improvements.  
 
Attached is a slide they will use during their presentation.  
  

Council Packet Page 11



UNALASKA BAY

RPZ
RPZ

RP
Z

RPZ
RPZ

RPZ

DUTCH HARBORMT. BALLYHOO

RP
Z

Future Taxiway "B" TS
A

TS
A

TS
A

Road Traffic
Control Gate

Road Traffic
Control Gate

TS
AFuture Road Alignment

Road Traffic
Control Gate

Future
Turnaround

Aircraft Tie Downs (Typ.)

Vehicular
Traffic

Fuel Truck
Parking Area

Segmented Circle
& Wind Cone
(Location TBD)

EMAS

Aleutian World War II
National Historic Area

Visitor Center
(To Be Relocated)

Prescribed OFA

Prescribed RSA
EMAS

Proposed
Shoreline

RP
Z

Proposed Top
of Embankment

Future Taxiway "B"

Road Traffic
Control Gate

Future Road Alignment

Road Traffic
Control Gate

Future
Turnaround

Aircraft Tie Downs (Typ.)

Vehicular
Traffic

Fuel Truck
Parking Area

EMAS

PW123 PW123 PW123 PW123

Super King Air 200

Super King Air 200

Super King Air 200

Super King Air 200

Super King Air 200

Super King Air 200

PW123

PW123

Dash-8 Series 300 Dash-8 Series 300

PW

123

PW

12

3

D

a

sh

-8

 S

e

ri

e

s 

3

0

0

D

a

s

h

-8

 S

e

ri

e

s

 3

0

0

LO
T 8

LO
T 4

B

Dash-8 Series 300 Dash-8 Series 300

PROPOSED BRL

BCH 1900C

B

C

H

 1

9

0

0

C

ADG-III Parking
Position 1

ADG-III Parking
Position 2

ADG-II Parking
Positions (Typ.) LO

T 9

PROPOSED BRL

RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA

OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA

OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA OFA

RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSARSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSA RSARoad Traffic
Control Gate

Airport Beach Road

Ballyhoo Road

Ba
lly

ho
o 

Ro
ad

Future Airport Beach Road

Airport Beach Road

Ballyhoo Road

Ba
lly

ho
o 

Ro
ad

Future Airport Beach Road

Airport Beach Road

Ballyhoo Road

Ba
lly

ho
o 

Ro
ad

Future Airport Beach Road

Airport Beach Road

Ballyhoo Road

Ba
lly

ho
o 

Ro
ad

Future Airport Beach Road

Airp
ort

 Driv
e

Airp
ort

 Driv
e

Airp
ort

 Driv
e

Airp
ort

 Driv
e

RESERVED

FO
R FU

TU
RE

NON-AE
RONAU

TIC
AL

USE

PAR
KIN

G

FU
TU

RE
PAR

KIN
G

13

14
17

1822

27 31

33
36
39

4
6

88

4

11

Dash-8 Series 300 Dash-8 Series 300 21

Aleutian World War II
National Historic Area

Visitor Center
(To Be Relocated)

23

Unalaska Airport Master Plan Update

Capital Improvement Program (2020 -2039)

N

Figure 8-1

N

400' 0 400'

DEVELOPMENT PHASES

SHORT-TERM (2020-2024)

MID-TERM (2025-2029)

LONG-TERM (2030-2039)

XX

XX

XX

LEGEND
ITEM DESCRIPTION

PROPERTY LINE
RUNWAY SAFETY AREA (B-III)
RUNWAY OBJECT FREE AREA (B-III)
57.5' TAXILANE OBJECT FREE AREA (ADG-II)
81' TAXILANE OBJECT FREE AREA (ADG-III)
TAXIWAY CONNECTOR (TDG 3)
TAXIWAY CONNECTOR TOFA (ADG 3)
TAXILANE CENTERLINE (ADG-II)
TAXILANE CENTERLINE (ADG-III)
NAVIGATIONAL AIDS - VASI-4
NAVIGATIONAL AIDS - WIND CONE
AWOS-3 (TO BE RELOCATED)
NAVIGATIONAL AIDS - FUTURE VASI-4
FUTURE BUILDING
BUILDING TO BE REMOVED
FUTURE PARKING
PAVEMENT TO BE SCARIFIED OR REMOVED
EMAS BED
RSA IMPROVEMENT
EXISTING AIRFIELD PAVEMENT
ULTIMATE AIRFIELD PAVEMENT
EXISTING LEASE LOT
FUTURE LEASE LOT

RSA

OFA

TOFA TOFA

TOFA TOFA

TOFA TOFA

Council Packet Page 12



T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S

B I L L  L I E R M A N ,  C F A ®  ▪ ( 9 0 7 ) 6 4 6 – 3 5 2 6  ▪ W W W . A P C M . N E T

CITY OF UNALASKA

INVESTMENT REVIEW
for the period ending August 31, 2022

Agenda
1. Portfolio Review
2. Market Review
3. Appendix

Council Packet Page 13



Account Summary as of August 31, 2022

City of Unalaska

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S1

Account Inception June 1995

Current Market Value
August 31, 2022

$109,120,730

Annualized Account Return
June 30, 1995 – August 31, 2022; Gross of Fees

+3.31%

Annualized Benchmark Return
June 30, 1995 – August 31, 2022

+3.06%

Current Benchmark Bloomberg 1-3 Year Government 
Index

Council Packet Page 14



Historical Market Value as of August 31, 2022

City of Unalaska

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S2

Chart shows month-end portfolio market value from June 30, 1995 to August 31, 2022. 

$0

$20

$40

$60

$80

$100

$120

1995 1997 1999 2001 2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2021

M
i

l
l

i
o

n
s

Market Value as of August 31, 2022: $109,120,730

$5MM Withdrawal
September 21, 2011

$10MM Addition
May 17, 2016$10MM Withdrawal

January 12, 2011

$10MM Addition
December 4, 2007$8MM Addition

November 4, 2005

$5MM Addition
November 4, 2003

$3.5MM Addition
October 4, 2001

$2MM Addition
June 1, 2000

$5MM Addition
October 28, 2002

$10MM Addition
April 22, 2016

Council Packet Page 15



Portfolio Review
For Period Ending August 31, 2022

Portfolio Review Market Review Appendix

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S3

Council Packet Page 16



PORTFOLIO 
REVIEW

-2.79
-3.39

0.24

1.10 0.96

3.31

-3.38
-4.03

-0.18

0.75 0.72

3.06

-5%
-4%
-3%
-2%
-1%
0%
1%
2%
3%
4%

2022 YTD 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year Since
Inception

T
o

t
a

l
 

R
e

t
u

r
n

Unalaska Bloomberg 1-3 Gov't

Performance is gross of fees and annualized for periods greater than one year. Inception performance begins on June 30, 1995.
Benchmark is the Bloomberg 1-3 Year Government Index.

4 T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S

Account Performance as of August 31, 2022

City of Unalaska

Council Packet Page 17



Portfolio Characteristics of August 31, 2022

City of Unalaska
PORTFOLIO 

REVIEW

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S  ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S5

Portfolio Objectives

Preservation of capital is the foremost objective of the investment 
program. Liquidity of the portfolio will remain sufficiently liquid to 
enable the City to meet all operating requirements. Portfolio shall be 
designed to attain a market rate of return.

Portfolio Bench*

Avg. Maturity: 1.71 years 1.96 years

Yield to Maturity: 3.62% 3.50%

Duration: 1.62 1.89

Avg. Quality: AA- AAA

Portfolio Composition

1% 1% 2% 3%2% 2%
2%

58% 55% 55% 61%

35% 37% 35% 29%

6% 5% 5% 5%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

12/31/2020 6/30/2021 12/31/2021 8/31/2022

Cash Agency Treasuries Corporates Securitized Debt (ABS)

Portfolio Review
What has happened:
• The portfolio duration (sensitivity to interest rates) now stands at 

1.62 years vs the bench at 1.89 years.
• The portfolio is less sensitive to interest rates.

Going forward:
• Maintain an underweight to duration as the Fed Funds rate is 

anticipated to rise 50-75 basis points on September 21st. The 
current effective Fed funds rate is 2.33%.

• Cautious on corporate exposure, looking for issuers that have 
positive free cash flow and have positive debt profiles.

*Bench: Bloomberg 1-3 Government 

May not add to 100% due to rounding

Quality

Unalaska Bench
5

AAA 71.1% 100%

AA - -

A 11.4% -

BBB 17.5% -

Total 100% 100%

Data from Bloomberg

Council Packet Page 18



Market Review

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S

Portfolio Review Market Review Appendix

6

Council Packet Page 19



Main ConclusionsMARKET 
REVIEW

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S7

Key Themes Market Impacts

Improvements in inflation will be seen throughout 2022, but a sticky 
underlying core trend suggest a longer tail to the inflationary 

environment. We project higher yields still possible, but the bulk of the 
adjustment is behind us. 

For the inflation regime to change, US growth needs to run below 
potential growth (a negative output gap). An inverted yield curve and 

weaker household demand will help. 

QT is a global phenomena, with no real historical precedence. This 
remains one of the greatest risks to all markets. 

Policy uncertainty remains for 6 months as economies adjust to higher 
rates. Recession conclusion not known for 12-18 months after 1st hike. 

Caution still prudent. We are biased to higher quality and sector 
selectivity.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Peak inflation – Not necessarily peak 
rates

Fed to engineer growth below potential, 
curve inversion

Quantitative tightening (QT) has started, 
it will accelerate in September

Recession (or not) not “known” for 12-18 
months

Investing in late cycle markets

Council Packet Page 20



Peak Inflation – Not Necessarily Peak RatesMARKET 
REVIEW

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S8

• Inflation will fall – but 2.0% (the Fed’s forecast) is more optimistic than most. Interest rates are still WELL below previous levels given 
inflation…

 FOMC forecasts are the most optimistic when it comes to 
inflation projections.

 It will take some time for inflation to approach 2%.

 It’s been since 1984 since the gap between rates and 
inflation has been this large. 

 Yields historically trade at a premium over inflation – with 
inflation above 8.5%, suggests this can still move higher. 

Sources: Bloomberg

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Forecasted Inflation (%)

US CPI Breakeven Rates

FOMC Forecasts Bank Economist Consensus

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

1978 1983 1988 1993 1998 2003 2008 2013 2018

US Consumer Price Index vs. 2-Year Rates

CPI YOY Index 2-Year Treasury

Council Packet Page 21



Inflation Components Suggest Underlying Trends To Remain 
Well Above 2%  for Years

MARKET 
REVIEW

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S9

-2%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020

Services Inflation Matters Most

Goods YoY Services YoY

1.0
1.5
2.0
2.5
3.0
3.5
4.0
4.5
5.0
5.5

2001 2004 2007 2010 2013 2016 2019 2022

Wages (%, YoY)

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

1987 1992 1997 2002 2007 2012 2017

Conference Board 12m Fwd Inflation 
Expectation

-120

-100

-80

-60

-40

-20

0

20

19
94

19
96

19
98

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

US Trade Balance (Oil vs All Goods & 
Services, $bn)

Petroleum All Goods & Services

Services Inflation is 57% of CPI, 
currently 5.6% and rising. 
Services matters more than 
Goods (22% of CPI), Food (13%) 
and Energy (7%) combined. 

Expectations on Prices aren’t 
falling much, despite the Fed’s 
aggressive approach. 
Households expect 7.6%  

The impact of oil cannot be 
overstated. The US imports more 
goods & services than it ever has 
(Red Line). Even if supply picks 
up – underlying energy price 
filters into everything given US 
imports. 

Wage increases for ALL workers 
in ALL industries are rising faster 
than any point in the past 30 
years. Currently 5.1% and rising. 

Sources: Bloomberg Council Packet Page 22



Monetary Policy Expectations – Far From DoneMARKET 
REVIEW

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S10

The Inflation outlook suggests it will take (1) Time and (2) Significant Effort to avert the underlying trends – regardless of oil/food prices

What’s priced in? +160bps through March 2023 (i.e. 6 more 25bp hikes), then -40bps by December 2023 (2 cuts).   
• FOMC members are already pushing back on the cuts expected in 2023, making them a source of front-end and US Dollar support
• APCM baseline: Front-end rates still to move higher, driving curve inversion and helping slow the US economy. 

 QT has so far been mild since starting in June ($35bn to date), this has accelerated to $95bn / month. 
 QT’s effect on the curve level and volatility are unknown. Q4 2018 – this generated enough disruption to cause a FOMC pivot. The BOE, 

BOC and ECB will also employ QT in 2023 and beyond, so disruption in rates may well come from outside the US.  

Sources: Bloomberg

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024 2026

Central Bank Assets on Balance Sheet ($tn)

Federal Reserve Assets on Balance Sheet Projected Quantiative Tightening

4 yrs2 yrs

Balance Sheet reduction & 
several Fed Hikes in Q4 
2018 led to heavy 
volatility, causing a Fed 
pivot in 2019

2.0

2.2

2.4

2.6

2.8

3.0

3.2

3.4

3.6

3.8

4.0

Current 2022 2023 2024 2025 Long Run

Fed Funds Projections - Official and Market

FOMC forecasts (June Median Projections) Market Expectations (OIS)

Council Packet Page 23



US Treasury Curve and the US Growth Outlook MARKET 
REVIEW

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S11

The US Curve has stabilized after its largest sell-off in 40 years. A move higher is possible still as policy tightens and QT accelerates, but 
we believe the bulk is behind us. Curve inversion highlights a US growth slowdown to come. This also caps yields moving a lot higher. 

 The 1-2 year sector of the curve has moved 300 bp in under 12 
months. We expect greater stability moving forward, but yields 
can still rise to 3.5-4.0%, if the Fed raises rates to 3.8%. 

 The US bill curve has reached levels where a growth slowdown 
must occur – the impact takes quarters to fully appear. 

 Think of brakes on a car. How negative and how long it remains 
inverted is the same as how hard and how long you step on the 
brakes. 

Sources: Bloomberg

-3

-2

-1

0

1

2

3

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

1970 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020

2s10s Curve & US GDP 

US Real GDP (Annual, %, LHS) 2s10s UST Cuve (RHS)

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

1yr 2yr 3yr 5yr 7yr 10yr 20yr 30yr

United States Treasury Curve

Current 1m ago 3m ago 12m ago

Council Packet Page 24



Corporate OutlookMARKET 
REVIEW

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S12

We see select opportunities in credit markets given elevated rates and historical levels of valuation, and we are focused on companies 
that should benefit from strong balance sheets and healthy liquidity. 

 We are taking a selective approach, preferring strong cash-
flow-generating corporate bonds where spreads remain wide 
to pre-COVID-19 levels and sectors we believe are default 
remote such as finance

 Upgrades have outpaced downgrades YTD as corporate 
balance sheets have generally continued to strengthen.

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

1989 1992 1995 1998 2001 2004 2007 2010 2013 2016 2019 2022

Bloomberg US Agg Corporate Avg OAS

Spread Above UST's Rolling 20 year Avg

Historically above 20y 
avg is a good point of 
entry

Long Term Rating changes on Bloomberg U.S. Corporate Bond Index

S&P Moody’s
Upgrade Downgrade Upgrade Downgrade

2Q 2022 12 6 2 5

1Q 2022 31 7 10 4

4Q 2021 5 11 9 4

3Q 2021 4 10 15 4

2Q 2021 40 11 6 8

1Q 2021 7 23 7 8

4Q 2020 22 62 15 8

3Q 2020 16 27 13 7

2Q 2020 9 11 25 9

1Q 2020 5 35 11 33

4Q 2019 6 18 13 10

3Q 2019 6 11 1 11

2Q 2019 12 14 6 4

Sources: Bloomberg Council Packet Page 25



Appendix

Market Review Portfolio Review Appendix

T R U S T E D  A D V I S O R S   ▪ M O R E  E X P E R T S   ▪ B E T T E R  A C C E S S13

Council Packet Page 26



Portfolio Appraisal
CITY OF UNALASKA
August 31, 2022

Yield
Average Total Market Pct. Annual Accrued to

Quantity Security Cost Average Cost Price Value Assets Income Interest Maturity

ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES
672,431 USAA AUTO OWNER TRUST 101.04 679,418 99.95 672,128 0.62 14,390 640 2.21

2.140% Due 11-15-24
750,000 CITIBANK CREDIT CARD ISSUANCE TRUST 104.60 784,512 99.95 749,655 0.69 24,075 5,617 3.16

3.210% Due 12-07-24
1,000,000 DISCOVER CARD EXOCUTION NOTE TRUST 100.12 1,001,250 100.04 1,000,360 0.92 27,210 1,209 2.82

2.721% Due 08-15-25
1,264,000 CAPITAL ONE MULTI ASSET EXECTUTION TRUST 100.25 1,267,160 100.00 1,264,000 1.16 34,646 1,540 2.83

2.741% Due 03-16-26
251,000 Bank of America Credit Card Trust 99.79 250,461 95.68 240,164 0.22 853 38 4.09

0.340% Due 05-15-26
1,600,000 World OMNI Select Auto Trust 97.06 1,553,000 96.63 1,546,048 1.42 8,480 377 2.75

0.530% Due 03-15-27
Accrued Interest 9,421 0.01

5,535,800 5,481,776 5.02 9,421

AGENCIES
2,740,000 FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK 100.00 2,740,000 94.01 2,575,819 2.36 13,700 4,643 3.77

0.500% Due 07-29-24
Accrued Interest 4,643 0.00

2,740,000 2,580,462 2.36 4,643

CORPORATE BONDS
985,000 MARSH & MCLENNAN COS INC 105.38 1,037,973 99.68 981,868 0.90 32,505 15,079 3.88

3.300% Due 03-14-23
1,150,000 BONY MELLON CORP 104.76 1,204,694 100.05 1,150,575 1.05 40,250 13,752 3.40

3.500% Due 04-28-23
1,000,000 BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA 102.85 1,028,550 98.62 986,250 0.90 16,250 5,417 3.71

1.625% Due 05-01-23
800,000 OMEGA HLTHCARE INVESTORS 108.27 866,128 99.35 794,808 0.73 35,000 2,917 5.09

4.375% Due 08-01-23
1,000,000 MCCORMICK & CO 107.14 1,071,420 99.57 995,750 0.91 35,000 17,500 3.93

3.500% Due 09-01-23
1,000,000 TORONTO-DOMINION BANK 99.89 998,910 96.57 965,660 0.88 4,500 2,125 3.88

0.450% Due 09-11-23
1,000,000 ROYAL BANK OF CANADA 99.65 996,490 95.43 954,290 0.87 4,250 496 3.84

0.425% Due 01-19-24

*CALLABLE SECURITY

1
Council Packet Page 27



Portfolio Appraisal
CITY OF UNALASKA
August 31, 2022

Yield
Average Total Market Pct. Annual Accrued to

Quantity Security Cost Average Cost Price Value Assets Income Interest Maturity

893,000 FIFTH THIRD BANCORP 108.45 968,490 99.36 887,276 0.81 32,594 3,259 4.12
3.650% Due 01-25-24

1,000,000 CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CO 108.80 1,088,042 99.64 996,430 0.91 39,000 3,467 4.15
3.900% Due 01-29-24

1,000,000 BANK OF MONTREAL 108.53 1,085,310 99.04 990,450 0.91 33,000 2,383 3.99
3.300% Due 02-05-24

1,000,000 ENTERPRISE PRODUCTS OPER 109.65 1,096,530 99.69 996,950 0.91 39,000 1,733 4.11
3.900% Due 02-15-24

605,000 PHILLIPS 66 100.16 605,986 95.58 578,253 0.53 5,445 242 4.05
0.900% Due 02-15-24

1,000,000 KIMCO REALTY CORP 105.25 1,052,510 97.91 979,120 0.90 27,000 13,500 4.14
2.700% Due 03-01-24

1,000,000 GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP INC 108.12 1,081,210 99.97 999,670 0.92 40,000 19,778 4.01
4.000% Due 03-03-24

1,000,000 WEC ENERGY GROUP INC 100.07 1,000,730 95.22 952,200 0.87 8,000 3,689 4.03
0.800% Due 03-15-24

1,000,000 CANADIAN NATIONAL RESOURCES 106.87 1,068,710 99.08 990,770 0.91 38,000 14,356 4.39
3.800% Due 04-15-24

1,000,000 MORGAN STANLEY 107.55 1,075,550 99.56 995,600 0.91 37,370 13,183 4.01
3.737% Due 04-24-24

1,000,000 SCHLUMBERGER HLDGS CORP 107.24 1,072,430 99.28 992,830 0.91 37,500 12,500 4.19
3.750% Due 05-01-24

1,000,000 AON PLC 107.85 1,078,500 99.01 990,060 0.91 35,000 7,486 4.07
3.500% Due 06-14-24

1,000,000 CARDINAL HEALTH INC 106.40 1,064,010 98.05 980,520 0.90 30,790 6,500 4.21
3.079% Due 06-15-24

1,000,000 JOHNSON CONTROLS INTL PL 108.82 1,088,160 99.06 990,580 0.91 36,250 5,941 4.15
3.625% Due 07-02-24

1,000,000 DAIMLER FINANCE NA LLC 106.89 1,068,890 98.24 982,420 0.90 32,500 2,708 4.21
3.250% Due 08-01-24

1,000,000 TYCO ELECTRONICS GROUP S 107.95 1,079,520 99.31 993,140 0.91 34,500 2,875 3.82
3.450% Due 08-01-24

1,000,000 CVS HEALTH CORP 106.89 1,068,940 98.93 989,330 0.91 33,750 1,781 3.94
3.375% Due 08-12-24

1,000,000 RYDER CORP 104.61 1,046,090 96.71 967,090 0.89 25,000 12,500 4.23
2.500% Due 09-01-24

1,100,000 SIMON PROPERTY GROUP LP 103.61 1,139,754 96.41 1,060,466 0.97 22,000 10,267 3.85
2.000% Due 09-13-24

*CALLABLE SECURITY

2
Council Packet Page 28



Portfolio Appraisal
CITY OF UNALASKA
August 31, 2022

Yield
Average Total Market Pct. Annual Accrued to

Quantity Security Cost Average Cost Price Value Assets Income Interest Maturity

1,000,000 SKY LTD 108.79 1,087,930 99.37 993,700 0.91 37,500 17,187 4.07
3.750% Due 09-16-24

1,000,000 ALLEGION US HOLDING CO 106.22 1,062,160 97.38 973,800 0.89 32,000 13,333 4.52
3.200% Due 10-01-24

1,000,000 KEYSIGHT TECHNOLOGIES 111.73 1,117,330 100.57 1,005,730 0.92 45,500 15,293 4.27
4.550% Due 10-30-24

290,000 KLA CORP 111.52 323,407 101.60 294,652 0.27 13,485 4,495 3.86
4.650% Due 11-01-24

1,000,000 ABBVIE INC 105.38 1,053,840 96.64 966,420 0.89 26,000 7,222 4.19
2.600% Due 11-21-24

1,000,000 BECTON DICKINSON AND CO 108.49 1,084,920 99.11 991,070 0.91 37,340 7,883 4.14
3.734% Due 12-15-24

1,000,000 ORACLE CORP 107.70 1,077,030 94.93 949,290 0.87 25,000 10,417 4.60
2.500% Due 04-01-25
Accrued Interest 271,264 0.25

33,840,145 31,588,282 28.95 271,264

U.S. TREASURY 
2,500,000 US TREASURY NOTES 99.75 2,493,652 97.62 2,440,525 2.24 3,125 798 3.36

0.125% Due 05-31-23
4,000,000 US TREASURY NOTES 100.06 4,002,344 97.55 3,901,880 3.58 10,000 2,131 3.42

0.250% Due 06-15-23
125,000 US TREASURY NOTES 99.88 124,854 97.12 121,401 0.11 156 20 3.50

0.125% Due 07-15-23
2,700,000 US TREASURY NOTES 99.85 2,695,910 96.86 2,615,301 2.40 3,375 156 3.49

0.125% Due 08-15-23
2,700,000 US TREASURY NOTES 99.93 2,698,207 96.61 2,608,443 2.39 3,375 1,559 3.47

0.125% Due 09-15-23
3,000,000 US TREASURY NOTES 100.06 3,001,875 96.26 2,887,740 2.65 7,500 2,221 3.44

0.250% Due 11-15-23
3,600,000 US TREASURY NOTES 99.88 3,595,641 95.84 3,450,096 3.16 4,500 959 3.45

0.125% Due 12-15-23
6,700,000 US TREASURY NOTES 99.77 6,684,598 95.52 6,400,041 5.87 8,375 1,092 3.49

0.125% Due 01-15-24
4,750,000 US TREASURY NOTES 99.46 4,724,209 94.44 4,485,947 4.11 11,875 2,531 3.48

0.250% Due 06-15-24
3,500,000 US TREASURY NOTE 100.19 3,506,699 99.13 3,469,655 3.18 105,000 17,976 3.49

3.000% Due 06-30-24

*CALLABLE SECURITY

3
Council Packet Page 29



Portfolio Appraisal
CITY OF UNALASKA
August 31, 2022

Yield
Average Total Market Pct. Annual Accrued to

Quantity Security Cost Average Cost Price Value Assets Income Interest Maturity

4,000,000 US TREASURY NOTES 96.43 3,857,266 94.45 3,778,120 3.46 15,000 1,957 3.46
0.375% Due 07-15-24

2,600,000 US TREASURY NOTES 99.79 2,594,617 94.19 2,448,966 2.24 9,750 450 3.47
0.375% Due 08-15-24

4,000,000 US TREASURY NOTES 100.03 4,001,094 96.18 3,847,040 3.53 70,000 11,984 3.47
1.750% Due 12-31-24

5,000,000 US TREASURY NOTES 98.94 4,946,875 95.14 4,757,250 4.36 68,750 5,978 3.49
1.375% Due 01-31-25

5,000,000 US TREASURY NOTE 99.25 4,962,695 95.33 4,766,600 4.37 75,000 3,465 3.50
1.500% Due 02-15-25

5,980,000 US TREASURY NOTES 100.30 5,997,753 98.36 5,881,689 5.39 171,925 43,916 3.51
2.875% Due 05-31-25

3,500,000 US TREASURY NOTES 99.93 3,497,539 98.03 3,430,945 3.14 96,250 16,478 3.49
2.750% Due 06-30-25

5,475,000 US TREASURY NOTES 100.14 5,482,699 98.31 5,382,418 4.93 157,406 13,687 3.49
2.875% Due 07-31-25
Accrued Interest 127,358 0.12

68,868,527 66,801,415 61.22 127,358

CASH AND CASH EQUIVILENTS
WF ADV GOVT MM FD-INSTL #1751 2,668,795 2,668,795 2.45

TOTAL PORTFOLIO 113,653,267 109,120,730 100 1,915,997 412,686

*CALLABLE SECURITY

4
Council Packet Page 30



PERFORMANCE 
HISTORY

GROSS OF FEES
CITY OF UNALASKA

Gross of Fees

Percent Return
Per Period

Time Period Total 
Account

Blend BLOOMBERG 
1-3 YR 
GOV

08-31-21 to 09-30-21 -0.07 -0.10 -0.10
09-30-21 to 10-31-21 -0.31 -0.33 -0.33
10-31-21 to 11-30-21 -0.10 -0.04 -0.04
11-30-21 to 12-31-21 -0.12 -0.21 -0.21
12-31-21 to 01-31-22 -0.61 -0.70 -0.70
01-31-22 to 02-28-22 -0.34 -0.41 -0.41
02-28-22 to 03-31-22 -1.15 -1.41 -1.41
03-31-22 to 04-30-22 -0.46 -0.47 -0.47
04-30-22 to 05-31-22 0.52 0.59 0.59
05-31-22 to 06-30-22 -0.60 -0.63 -0.63
06-30-22 to 07-31-22 0.47 0.42 0.42
07-31-22 to 08-31-22 -0.65 -0.80 -0.80

Date to Date
08-31-21 to 08-31-22 -3.39 -4.03 -4.03

Council Packet Page 31



CHANDLER, FALCONER, MUNSON & CACCIOLA, LLP 

Chris Hladick 
Interim City Manager 

Unalaska City Council 

Re: Status Report 

ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

SUITE 302 

911 WEST EIGHTH AVENUE 

ANCHORAGE, ALA SKA 99501 

TELEPHONE: (907) 272-8401 

FACSIMILE: (907) 274-3698 

bcf@bcfaklaw.com 

September 22, 2022 

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 

Dear Chris and City Council Members: 

This report indicates the status of various pending matters and summarizes work 
performed since we last reported in May. 

Fiber Optic Project 

We have wrapped up our work with the Planning Department and Department of Public 
Works on the current phase of the project save for some occasional questions on details we help 
answer. Remaining unresolved is a dispute over ownership of existing buried conduit. That 
dispute does not prevent completion of the project. 

Airport 

We advised on an RFP for and award of new subleases. 

General Matters 

We have worked on an ordinance updating Title 17 building code requirements. Because 
the State is also in the process of updating state regulations this will be a two part process. One 
RE: Status Report Page 1 of 3 September 22, 2022 

Council Packet Page 32



ordinance to adopt in the fall and a second ordinance to adopt next spring. The first ordinance is 
ready for introduction. We advised on a procurement issue. We advised on the agreement for 
audit services. 

Utilities 

We are helping finalize the transfer of title to property used for the new General Hill 
booster station from two private owners to the City. This has become more complicated than 
usual due to having to obtain deeds of reconveyance from two different banks. We received one 
of the deeds of reconveyance on September 21. There is also a lender signature on a plat which 
the City is waiting to receive. We advised on a lineman support contract. 

Litigation Matters 

Unalaska v. Jacobs Engineering: The City Council previously authorized 
filing a quiet title lawsuit. Our plan to avoid litigation by providing Jacobs Engineering 
with a draft complaint did not yield results. I suspect Jacobs is now such a large company 
the request for a quit claim deed to the property is stuck somewhere in the bureaucracy. 
Suit was filed September 22. The City will prevail in this action. If the case is not 
contested, this will be quickly resolved. Otherwise, it will take a year or two to complete. 

EPA v. City of Unalaska: On the distant horizon will be some action to 
terminate the consent decree. EPA recently inspected the WWTP and has confirmed it is 
meeting all consent decree parameters. 

City of Unalaska v. AIG: This case was decided in the City's favor on March 
18, 2022. The judgment was in the amount of$515,631.67. With attorney's fees and 
interest, the total judgment in favor of the City is $589,126.43. AIG appealed the 
judgment to the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals. Council authorized settlement. We are 
waiting on final signatures on the settlement agreement. The City should expect to 
receive payment by the end of October. 

Unalaska v. Tuyen Dinh: Since we last reported, trial was continued when 
opposing counsel got COVID shortly before trial. Trial is now set for October 19. 

Wells and Lunn v. City of Unalaska, et al. /Penn Air v. City: These cases 
arise from an October 2019 Penair crash in Unalaska. Plaintiffs are pilots, passengers and 
their spouses. The pilots are pursuing the City directly. In the passenger case, Penn Air is 
suing the City. Both cases allege the city was negligent for placing (or failing to remove) 
a large rock that was positioned near the end of the runway. The plane struck the rock, 
which plaintiffs claim contributed to the crash and the injuries. The cases are in the 
discovery phase. Our office is the attorney defending the city as needed. 

RE: Status Report Pagel of3 September 22, 2022 

Council Packet Page 33



John Merrion v. City of Unalaska: This is a wrongful termination case. 
Summary judgment motions will be heard on October 5. A non-jury trial in Unalaska is 
scheduled for October 31. The City is represented by Clint Campion who was hired by 
the City's insurer, APEi. 

Anthony Recco v. City of Unalaska: We have asked the attorney defending this 
case to discuss the status directly with the Council in executive session. 

Minor Offenses 

We have advised on disposition of several minor offenses. 

Personnel Matters 

ASCHR Complaint: A former employee alleged being passed over for a 
promotion and being underpaid on the basis of sex discrimination. We helped prepare the 
City's response and provide requested employment records to the ASCHR investigator. 
Since we last reported ASCHR determined there was insufficient evidence to validate the 
complaint. 

Personnel Policies: We helped modify the FMLA policy and we have advised 
on issues related to the FMLA and overtime. 

Very truly yours, 

CHANDLER, FALCONER, 
MUNSON & CACCIOLA, LLP 

~ By: _,...,_ar_l-es_A_. -C-ac-c-io_l_a __ 

RE: Status Report Page 3 of3 September 22, 2022 

Council Packet Page 34



- 1 - 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Frank Kelty, Fisheries Consultant  
Through: Chris Hladick, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 27, 2022 
Re: City Council Letter of Support to the North Pacific Fishery Management Council 

(NPFMC) at the October 2022 NPFMC Meeting, in Support of C-2 BSAI Pacific 
Cod Small Boat Access Alternative 2 Option 1 and Suboption B for Final Action 
at the October 2022 NPFMC Meeting  

 
 
SUMMARY: This has been an issue that Unalaska Native Fishermen's Association (UNFA) has 
been working on for four years, driven by declining Pacific Cod allocations and the tremendous 
increase in 58’< fixed gear fleet. These factors have decreased the length of seasons and reduced 
catch by the local Unalaska fleet, which is heavily dependent on the Pacific Cod fishery. UNFA is 
requesting continued support. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: In May of 2022 and May of 2021, Mayor Tutiakoff wrote letters 
to the North Pacific Fishery Management Council in support of UNFA’s request to move forward 
Alternative 2  Option 1 55’ LOA and Suboption: B-season fishery would remain jig gear only 
fishery. On October 9, 2020, the City Council discussed the issue and supported such a letter as 
well as related public testimony. On September 24, 2019 Council passed Resolution 2019-55 
which supported the development of the Bering Sea Aleutian Island Pacific Cod Limited Access 
Privilege Program (LAPP) for the trawl catcher vessel sector, >60’ pot catcher vessels. The 
resolution also included in the preamble support for the <60’ fixed gear vessels for a community 
development quota based on the unused portion of the Pacific Cod Jig allocation. 

BACKGROUND: UNFA has raised small boat concerns to the NPFMC for many years and has 
asked for assistance in addressing the impacts to the local small boat fleet based in Unalaska. 
The Unalaska City Council has been supportive, having written letters of support, and in the 
passage of Resolution 2019-55 Council supported an allocation based on the unused portion of 
the jig Pacific Cod allocation.  

Previously UNFA considered requesting, at the December 2020 NPFMC meeting, support of an 
analysis to be included as part of the LAPP that is moving forward for the Trawl Catcher Vessel 
sector. This is important since the Magnuson-Stevens Conservation and Management Act (MSA) 
requires that entities such as Fishing Communities, Regional Fishing Associations and 
Community Fishing Associations be attached to a LAPP program and the only one underway in 
Alaska is the Trawl Catcher Vessel Pacific Cod LAPP request. This option was too difficult to get 
any traction on, and UNFA once again refocused on access to the 1.4% Jig allocation for use of 
the HAL, Pot CV and Jig under <55 ’LOA vessels. 

DISCUSSION: Mayor Tutiakoff provided letters to the NPFMC in May of 2022 and in May of 2021, 
in keeping with Council’s support in October of 2020. The Unalaska City Council was supportive 
of UNFA’s request in 2019 and provided Resolution 2019-55 and testimony at the October 2019 
NPFMC meeting in Homer. The situation for the local small boat cod fleet is an issue that the 
Unalaska City Council has been concerned with for years, with a local small boat facing continued 

Council Packet Page 35



- 2 - 
 

declines in the Pacific Cod allocation, and an over-capitalized fixed gear cod fleet. An updated 
letter of support has been prepared and is included in the packet.  

ALTERNATIVES: The Council could support the request for a letter and testimony to NPFMC; 
amend the proposed letter; or choose to take no action. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: I believe supporting UNFA’s request by letter or public testimony 
has no financial implications to the City of Unalaska. 

LEGAL: N/A 

CONSULTANT RECOMMENDATION: I recommend providing a letter of support and to provide 
public testimony, in support of moving C-2 BSAI Pacific Cod Small Boat Access Alternative 2 
Option 1 55’ LOA and Suboption: B-season fishery would be jig gear only fishery for final action 
at the October 2022 NPFMC meeting.  

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to authorize the Mayor to sign the proposed letter of support, and 
to authorize the Mayor and the City’s fisheries consultant to provide testimony to the North Pacific 
Fisheries Management Council during their meeting in October 2022 in Anchorage, Alaska.  

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Proposed September 2022 letter to NPFMC 

2. NPFMC BSAI Pacific Cod Small Boat Access Analysis  

3. Draft Informational paper from Dustan Dickerson, Securing Unalaska Small Boat Future 

4. May 2022 Letter to NPFMC  

5. May 2021 Letter to NPFMC 

6. Unalaska City Council Resolution 2019-55 

 

Council Packet Page 36



CITY OF UNALASKA 
43 Raven Way - P.O. Box 610 

Unalaska, Alaska 99685 
Tel (907) 581-1251 FAX (907) 581-1417 

~ 
't 

~J. .___"""? 

r' 
• -o< 
~ /!/ 

··,. ·. -7~ 
- · ~ c:, ~~ ~~ 

September 27, 2022 

Simon Kinneen, Chairman 
North Pacific Fisheries Management Council 
1007 W 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 
Anchorage, AK 99501 

Re: C-2 BSAI Pacific Cod Small Boat Access 

Chairman Kinneen: 

- ........ ..tPJi' ~- Unalaska, Alaska 

The City of Unalaska is writing in support of moving Alternative 2 Option 1: 55' LOA and Sub 
option B: the B season would remain a jig gear only fishery; final action at the October 2022 
North Pacific Fishery Management Council (NPFMC) meeting in Anchorage, Alaska. Alternative 
2 Option 1 and suboption B which would develop a new fishing sector that would combine the 
less than 55' LOA or smaller Hook and Line (HAL), Pot CV, and Jig sectors to fish the 1.4 
percent jig allocation. 

Mr. Chairman, as you are aware, the City of Unalaska and the Unalaska Native Fishermen's 
Association have provided written and verbal testimony of our concerns for years, concerning 
the ongoing race for fish within the overcapitalized < 60' fishing fleet. Combined with the 
continued decline in cod allocations and shorter fishing seasons, the economic viability of the 
cod fishery, of which the Unalaska's small boat fleet is heavily dependent upon, is threatened. 

The analysis under Alternative 2 Option 1 appears to us to address the concerns of the small 
vessels that are facing increased competition in the <60' Pacific Pot Cod fishery. In 1994, the 
NPFMC supported a request from UNFA for a 1.4% Pacific cod jig allocation to be used by the 
region's local small-boat vessels to provide additional participation in the region's Pacific Cod 
fishery. It seems reasonable that the jig allocation could be developed under this new sector that 
could assist the smaller HAL, Pot CV, and would continue to provide a jig allocation as laid out 
in Sub option B of Alternative 2. I believe rollover provisions, if needed from the A season, 
would be made to the <55' HAL, Pot CV for the C season which opens on September 1st. 

Looking at trimester allocation within the jig allocation, I believe it could stay as is, with the HAL, 
Pot CV fishing the A and C season, and the Jig sector working the B season during the summer, 
which they traditionally do; the jig sector harvesters could also participate in the A and C season 
if they so choose. Leaving the trimester season allocations would also assist with any sea lion 
concerns. 

In closing, the City of Unalaska supports moving Alternative 2 Option 1 and Suboption B for 
public review and final action at the October NPFMC meeting. This option is the only Alternative 
that addresses the City of Unalaska's concerns in a timely manner. The main objectives of the 

Proposed

Attachment 1

Council Packet Page 37



Simon Kinneen, Chairman 
NPFMC 
September 27, 2022 

City of Unalaska are continuing to protect fishing opportunities for local vessels in BSAI Pacific 
Cod fisheries; continued support for fishing opportunities for community members; and to 
minimize the economic impact of an overcapitalized fishery facing a further reduction in fishing 
time and reduced Cod allocations. 

We thank the North Pacific Fishery Management Council for considering the City of Unalaska's 
comments on C-2 BSAI Small Boat Access. 

Sincerely, 

CITY OF UNALASKA 

Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
Mayor 

CC: Acting City Manager Chris Hladick 
Unalaska City Council Members 

Proposed

Council Packet Page 38



Accessibility of this Document:  Effort has been made to make this document accessible to individuals with 
disabilities and compliant with Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act. The complexity of this document may 
make access difficult for some. If you encounter information that you cannot access or use, please call us at 
907-271-2809 so that we may assist you.

DRAFT FOR INITIAL REVIEW 

Regulatory Impact Review 
For a Proposed Amendment to the Fishery Management Plan for 

Groundfish of the Bering Sea / Aleutian Islands Management Area 

Bering Sea Aleutian Island Pacific Cod Small Vessel Access

June 2022 

For further information contact: Kate Haapala, North Pacific Fishery Management Council 
1007 W. 3rd Ave, Suite 400, Anchorage, AK 99501 
(907) 271-2809

Abstract: This Regulatory Impact Review analyzes a proposed amendment to allow smaller hook-
and-line or pot catcher vessels operating in the Federal Bering Sea and Aleutian Island 
Pacific cod (Gadus macrophalus) less than 60’ hook-and-line or pot catcher vessel sector 
to harvest Pacific cod from the jig sector’s Federal Bering Sea Aleutian Island Pacific cod 
allocation. The proposed amendment considers redefining the current Federal BSAI 
Pacific cod jig sector to include jig catcher vessels and catcher processors as well as 
hook-and-line or pot vessels that are less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ length overall. 
The proposed amendment could provide additional opportunities for current fishery 
participants and potential new entrants with smaller hook-and-line or pot catcher vessels 
without negatively impacting vessels currently operating in the Federal Bering Sea and 
Aleutian Island Pacific cod jig sector. 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 1 of 77

Council Packet Page 39



Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 2 

 
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations  

Acronym or 
Abbreviation Meaning 

ABC Acceptable Biological Catch 
ADF&G Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
AFSC Alaska Fisheries Science Center 
AI Aleutian Island 
AIS Aleutian Island Subdistrict 
AKFIN Alaska Fisheries Information Network 
BS Bering Sea 
BSAI Bering Sea and Aleutian Islands 
CAS Catch Accounting System 
CDQ Community Development Quota Program 
CE Categorical Exclusion 
CFEC Commercial Fisheries Entry Commission 
COAR Commercial Operator’s Annual Report 
Council North Pacific Fishery Management 

Council 
CP Catcher/processor 
CV Catcher vessel 
DHS Dutch Harbor Subarea 
E.O. Executive Order 
EA Environmental Assessment 
EEZ Exclusive Economic Zone 
EFH Essential Fish Habitat 
ES Executive Summary 
FFP Federal Fisheries Permit 
FMA Fisheries Monitoring and Analysis 
FMP Fishery Management Plan 
FR Federal Register 
ft Foot or feet 
GHL Guideline harvest 
GOA Gulf of Alaska 
H&L Hook-and-line 
ICA Incidental catch allowance 
ITAC Initial total allowable catch 
IRFA Initial Regulatory Flexibility Analysis 
lb(s) Pound(s) 
LAPP Limited Access Privilege Program 
LLP License Limitation Program 
LOA Length overall 
m Meter or meters 
Mt Metric ton(s)  
Magnuson-
Stevens Act 

Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation 
and Management Act 

MMPA Marine Mammal Protection Act 
NEPA National Environmental Policy Act 

Acronym or 
Abbreviation Meaning 

nm Nautical miles 
NMFS National Marine Fishery Service 
NOAA National Oceanic and Atmospheric 

Administration 
NOA NOAA Administrative Order 
Observer 
Program 

North Pacific Groundfish and Halibut 
Observer Program 

OMB Office of Management and Budget 
PSC Prohibited species catch 
RFA Regulatory Flexibility Act 
RIR Regulatory Impact Review 
SAFE Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation  
SBA Small Business Act 
Secretary Secretary of Commerce 
TAC Total allowable catch 
U.S. United States 
USCG United States Coast Guard 
USFWS United States Fish and Wildlife Service 
VMS Vessel monitoring system 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 

  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 2 of 77

Council Packet Page 40



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 3 

Table of Contents  
 
Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................................... 7 

 Introduction  .......................................................................................................................................................... 11 
 History of this Action ............................................................................................................................................. 11 
 Purpose and Need ................................................................................................................................................ 12 

2. Description of the Alternatives .............................................................................................................................. 12 
 Alternative 1, No Action ........................................................................................................................................ 13 
 Alternative 2, Redefine the Current BSAI Pacific Cod Jig Sector .......................................................................... 13 

2.2.1. Suboption, B-season as jig fishery only .............................................................................................. 14 
3. Description of Fisheries ........................................................................................................................................ 14 

 Statutory Authority ................................................................................................................................................ 15 
 BSAI Pacific Cod Fishery Management ................................................................................................................ 15 
 Reallocations Among BSAI Pacific Cod Sectors ................................................................................................... 20 
 License Limitation Program................................................................................................................................... 21 
 State Management Measures ............................................................................................................................... 21 
 Impacted Sectors .................................................................................................................................................. 25 

3.6.1. BSAI Pacific Cod Less Than 60’ H&L or Pot CV Sector ...................................................................... 25 
3.6.2. BSAI Pacific Cod Jig Sector ................................................................................................................ 31 

 Product Composition and Flow of Pacific Cod ...................................................................................................... 33 
4. Analysis of Impacts ............................................................................................................................................... 34 

 Methods and Approach for Impact Analysis .......................................................................................................... 34 
 Alternative 1, Status Quo ...................................................................................................................................... 36 
 Alternative 2, Redefine the Current BSAI Pacific Jig Sector ................................................................................. 37 

4.3.1. Historical Participation ......................................................................................................................... 37 
4.3.2. Harvest Information ............................................................................................................................. 40 
4.3.3. Reallocation Considerations ............................................................................................................... 41 
4.3.4. Diversification and Revenue Information ............................................................................................. 44 
4.3.5. Additional Fishing Opportunities for H&L or pot CVs........................................................................... 52 
4.3.6. Suboption – B Season as Jig Only Fishery ......................................................................................... 52 

 Summary of Impacts on Fishing Activity ............................................................................................................... 54 
 Community Impacts .............................................................................................................................................. 54 

4.5.1. H&L or pot CVs Greater Than 56’ LOA ............................................................................................... 54 
4.5.2. H&L or Pot CVs Less Than or Equal to 56’ LOA ................................................................................. 59 
4.5.3. Jig Vessels .......................................................................................................................................... 63 
4.5.4. Impacts to Processors ......................................................................................................................... 66 

5. Management and Enforcement Considerations .................................................................................................... 68 
6. Affected Small Entities (Regulatory Flexibility Act Considerations) ....................................................................... 71 
7. Summation of the Alternatives with Respect to Net Benefit to the Nation ............................................................. 72 
8. Magnuson-Stevens Act and FMP Considerations ................................................................................................. 73 

 Magnuson-Stevens Act National Standards.......................................................................................................... 73 
 Section 303(a)(9) Fisheries Impact Statement ...................................................................................................... 74 
 Council’s Ecosystem Vision Statement ................................................................................................................. 75 

9. Preparers and Persons Consulted ........................................................................................................................ 76 
10. References  .......................................................................................................................................................... 77 
 
 

  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 3 of 77

Council Packet Page 41



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 4 

List of Tables  
Table 3-1  BSAI Pacific cod ABC, TAC, and ITAC from 2003 through 2013 and BS and AI Pacific cod ABC, 

TAC, and ITAC from 2014 through 2022 (amounts in mt) ...................................................................... 17 
Table 3-2   Percent of non-CDQ BSAI Pacific cod sector allocations by BSAI groundfish FMP amendment .......... 18 
Table 3-3 2022 BSAI Pacific cod non-CDQ sector allocations and seasonal allowances ....................................... 19 
Table 3-4 Aleutian Islands State-waters Pacific cod fishery guideline harvest level and harvest from 2006 

through 2021 .......................................................................................................................................... 23 
Table 3-5 Summary of Dutch Harbor Subarea State-waters Pacific cod guideline harvest fishery regulations ...... 24 
Table 3-6 Pacific cod harvest (lbs.) with pot gear in the State of Alaska DHS GHL Pacific cod fishery from 

2014 through 2021.................................................................................................................................. 25 
Table 3-7 Dutch Harbor Subdistrict State-waters Pacific cod jig fishery harvest, effort, value, and season 

dates, 2019 through 2021 ....................................................................................................................... 25 
Table 3-8 Count of vessels in the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector, the sector’s initial 

allocation (mt), reallocation amounts from other sectors (mt), and final allocation (mt) from 2008 
through 2021 .......................................................................................................................................... 28 

Table 3-9 Less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector BSAI Pacific cod ex-vessel price ($), BSAI Pacific cod gross 
ex-vessel revenue (millions $), BSAI Pacific cod gross first wholesale value (millions $) from 2008 
through 2020 .......................................................................................................................................... 28 

Table 3-10 Total number of less than 60’ H&L or pot CV delivery ports and total number of deliveries of 
targeted BSAI Pacific cod from 2008 through 2020 ................................................................................ 29 

Table 3-11 Halibut, crab, and salmon prohibited species catch by the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector while 
targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod from 2008 through 2021 .................................................................. 29 

Table 3-12 Vessels <60’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod with H&L or pot gear by community of vessel 
historic ownership address, 2008 - 2020 ................................................................................................ 30 

Table 3-13 Count of vessels in the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector, initial allocation (mt), final allocation (mt), and 
reallocation amounts (mt) to other BSAI Pacific cod sectors from 2008 through 2021 ........................... 32 

Table 3-14  BSAI Pacific cod jig sector ex-vessel price ($), BSAI Pacific cod gross ex-vessel revenue (millions 
$), BSAI Pacific cod gross first wholesale value (millions $) from 2008 through 2020 ............................ 32 

Table 4-1 Count of vessels that would have been eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector 
and the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector under option 1 and option 2 from 2008 
through 2021 .......................................................................................................................................... 39 

Table 4-2 Comparison of BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector final allocation (mt), the target 
landings (mt) of BSAI Pacific cod by H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA, and the jig 
sector’s reallocation amount (mt) from 2008 through 2021 ..................................................................... 43 

Table 4-3 Vessel count, gross ex-vessel revenue ($), and percent of gross ex-vessel revenue ($) by fishery 
from 2008 through 2020 for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA ........................................................ 48 

Table 4-4 Estimated range of potential gross ex-vessel revenue impacts for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ 
LOA under Alternative 2 from 2008 through 2020, (real 2020 $) ............................................................ 49 

Table 4-5 Estimated maximum potential revenue opportunity for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ 
LOA under Alternative 2 from 2008 through 2020, (real 2020 $) ............................................................ 50 

Table 4-6 Federal BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector and DHS Pacific cod pot fishery 
season dates from 2014 through 2021 ................................................................................................... 51 

Table 4-7 Count of BSAI Pacific cod deliveries, the average number of deliveries, and the percent of total 
deliveries made by vessels operating in the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig 
sectors in each jig sector trimester from 2008 through 2021 .................................................................. 53 

Table 4-8 Summary of impacts on fishing activity ................................................................................................... 54 
Table 4-9  Vessels greater than 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod with H&L or pot gear by 

community of vessel historic ownership address from 2008 through 2020 (number of vessels) ............ 56 
Table 4-10 Gross ex-vessel revenues for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific 

cod by community of vessel historic ownership address, 2008 through 2020 (thousands of real 
2020 dollars) ........................................................................................................................................... 57 

Table 4-11 Gross ex-vessel revenue diversification for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA targeting Federal 
BSAI Pacific cod by community of vessel historic ownership address, 2008 through 2020 (millions 
of real 2020 dollars) ................................................................................................................................ 57 

Table 4-12 Revenue diversification for communities with vessels greater than 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI 
Pacific cod by gross ex-vessel revenue, 2008 through 2020 (millions of 2020 real dollars) ................... 58 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 4 of 77

Council Packet Page 42



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 5 

Table 4-13  Vessels less than or equal to 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod with H&L or pot gear by 
community of vessel historic ownership address from 2008 through 2020 (number of vessels) ............ 60 

Table 4-14 Gross ex-vessel revenues for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI 
Pacific cod by community of vessel historic ownership address, 2008 through 2020 (thousands of 
real 2020 dollars) .................................................................................................................................... 61 

Table 4-15  Gross ex-vessel revenue diversification for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA targeting 
Federal BSAI Pacific cod by community of vessel historic ownership address, 2008 through 2020 
(millions of real 2020 dollars) .................................................................................................................. 61 

Table 4-16 Revenue diversification for communities with vessels less than or equal to 56’ LOA targeting 
Federal BSAI Pacific cod by gross ex-vessel revenue, 2008 through 2020 (millions of 2020 real 
dollars) .................................................................................................................................................... 62 

Table 4-17  Vessels targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod with jig gear by community of vessel historic ownership 
address, 2008 through 2020 ................................................................................................................... 64 

Table 4-18 Gross ex-vessel revenue diversification for jig vessels targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod by 
community of vessel historic ownership address, 2008 through 2020 (millions of real dollars) .............. 65 

Table 4-19 Revenue diversification for communities with vessels targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod with jig 
gear by gross ex-vessel revenue, 2008 through 2020 (millions of dollars, 2020 real dollars) ................. 65 

Table 4-20 Revenue diversification for processors receiving Federal BSAI Pacific cod from H&L or pot CVs 
greater than 56’ LOA, 2008 through 2020 (millions of 2020 real dollars) ................................................ 67 

Table 4-21  Revenue diversification for processors receiving Federal BSAI Pacific cod from H&L or pot CVs 
less than or equal to 56’ LOA, 2008 through 2020 (millions of 2020 real dollars) ................................... 67 

Table 5-1  Comparison of definitions of vessel length and ways to measure vessels across management 
jurisdictions ............................................................................................................................................. 71 

 

  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 5 of 77

Council Packet Page 43



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 6 

List of Figures  
Figure 2-1  Comparison of changes to the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors under 

Alternative 1 and Alternative 2 ................................................................................................................ 14 
Figure 3-1 Map of NMFS BSAI sub-areas for management ......................................................................................... 16 
Figure 4-1 BSAI Pacific cod landings (mt) for H&L and pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA compared to the less 

than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector's final allocation from 2008 through 2021 ............................................... 37 
Figure 4-2 Comparison of BSAI Pacific cod jig sector initial allocation (mt) and the target landings (mt) of jig, 

H&L, and pot vessels that would be eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector under 
option 1 and 2 from 2008 through 2021 .................................................................................................. 40 

Figure 4-3 Comparison of the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s total reallocaiton amount (mt) to all BSAI Pacific 
cod sectors and the reallocation amount (mt) to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector from 2008 
through 2021 .......................................................................................................................................... 43 

 

  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 6 of 77

Council Packet Page 44



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 7 

Executive Summary 
This Regulatory Impact Review (RIR) analyzes a proposed amendment to allow smaller hook-and-line 
(H&L) or pot catcher vessels (CVs) operating in the Federal Bering Sea (BS) Aleutian Island (AI) Pacific 
cod (Gadus macrophalus) less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector to harvest Pacific cod from the jig sector’s 
Federal BSAI Pacific cod allocation. The proposed amendment considers redefining the current Federal 
BSAI Pacific cod jig sector to include jig CVs and catcher processors (CPs) as well as H&L or pot CVs 
that are less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ length overall (LOA). The proposed amendment could 
provide additional opportunities for current fishery participants and potential new entrants with smaller 
H&L or pot CVs without negatively impacting vessels currently operating in the Federal BSAI Pacific 
cod jig sector. 

The RIR is structured to streamline the information required for an RIR and to organize it to be most 
easily understood by the reader. Chapters 1 and 2 contain a description of the purpose and need for the 
action, followed by a description of the history of the action and the alternatives. Chapter 3 contains the 
description of the fisheries including information on BSAI Pacific cod management at both the Federal 
and State levels as well as a description of the impacted sectors. Chapter 4 contains the impact analysis 
on the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors and a summary of potential 
community and processor impacts. Chapter 5 includes an assessment of impacts related to monitoring 
and enforcement. 

Purpose and Need 
The North Pacific Fishery Management Council (Council) is considering this action because the less than 
60’ H&L or pot CV sector has seen an increase in participation in recent years, and the capacity and 
efficiencies (e.g., a vessel’s power and width) of larger H&L or pot CVs within the sector could 
potentially constrain smaller vessels’ harvest of BSAI Pacific cod, despite having historically contributed 
to the catch history that established the Amendment 85 BSAI Pacific cod sector’s allocations1. The 
purpose of this action is to provide additional opportunities for smaller H&L and pot CVs by redefining 
the current BSAI Pacific cod jig sector to include these vessels. 

The Council adopted the following Purpose and Need statement on June 15, 2021. 

Increased participation in the <60 ft hook-and-line and pot catcher vessel Pacific cod sector by 
higher-capacity vessels over 57 ft LOA has negatively impacted smaller vessels in the sector 
through shortened seasons. These shortened seasons limit smaller vessels’ ability to compete 
within the sector as they are limited to fish in less productive waters near port due to their size. 
The jig sector allocation has not historically been fully utilized, particularly in the A and C 
seasons. Allowing these smaller catcher vessels using hook-and-line and pot gear to harvest 
Pacific cod from the jig sector allocation may provide additional opportunities for current fishery 
participants and potential new entrants with smaller catcher vessels without negatively impacting 
catcher vessels using jig gear. 

The scope of this action is limited to the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors, 
and it would not redefine any other Amendment 85 sector or their allocation. This action would require an 
amendment to the BSAI Groundfish fishery management plan (FMP). An Amendment is necessary to 
change the allocations for each sector, redefine the existing sectors, and/or create a new sector because the 
BSAI Pacific cod allocations were assigned as an amendment to the BSAI Groundfish FMP.  

 
1 Amendment 85 to the BSAI Groundfish Fishery Management Plan modified the BSAI non-CDQ Pacific cod TAC 
allocation and defined specific harvesting sectors.  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 7 of 77

Council Packet Page 45



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 8 

Alternatives 
The Council adopted the following alternatives for analysis in June 2021. 

Alternative 1: Status quo 

Alternative 2: Redefine the current BSAI Pacific cod jig sector to include H&L/pot CVs less than or 
equal to: 

Option 1: 55’ LOA 

Option 2: 56’ LOA 

Suboption: B-season fishery would remain jig gear only fishery. 

Comparison of Alternatives and Impacts 
Under Alternative 1, status quo, the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors, their 
allocation, and the hierarchy of reallocations of BSAI Pacific cod among all sectors currently set in 
Federal regulations at §679.20(a)(7)(iii) would remain unchanged. The less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector includes all CVs that are less than 60’ LOA using H&L or pot gear. The BSAI Pacific cod jig 
sector includes all vessels (CVs and catcher processors (CPs)) using jig gear. 

Alternative 2 would affect vessels fishing in Federal waters with a Federal Fisheries Permit (FFP) and a 
Limited License Permit (LLP) in the current BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot sector as well as 
the jig sector. Under Alternative 2, the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector would be redefined as the new BSAI 
Pacific cod small vessel sector which would include jig CVs and CPs as well as H&L or pot CVs less 
than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA (option 1 and 2, respectively). The BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ 
H&L or pot CV sector would be redefined to exclude H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to either 55’ or 
56’ LOA.  

Alternative 2 would allow all vessels using H&L, pot, and jig gear in the new BSAI Pacific cod small 
vessel sector to harvest BSAI Pacific cod from the jig sector’s 1.4 percent allocation. H&L or pot CVs in 
the redefined less than 60’ sector would harvest BSAI Pacific cod from the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector’s 2 percent allocation. Eligibility for either sector – the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector 
and the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector – would be based on a vessel’s length and gear 
type. This means a H&L or pot vessel could not opt into one sector or the other. 

The BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s 1.4 percent allocation of Federal BSAI Pacific cod is apportioned on a 
trimester basis (Jan 1—Apr 30; Apr 30 –Aug 31; Aug 31—Dec 31). The suboption proposes an option for 
analysis where jig CVs and CPs are the only gear-type allowed to fish during the B season (Apr 30 – Aug 
31). The Council’s rationale for including this suboption is that jig vessels have historically made the 
majority of their BSAI Pacific cod deliveries between April and September when the weather is safest for 
smaller vessels to operate.  

Allocation and reallocation impacts 
 
The less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector receives their entire allocation of BSAI Pacific cod TAC on 
January 1, and the sector typically receives a reallocation from the jig sector during the jig sector’s A 
season (between January and March) which extends their season to harvest BSAI Pacific cod. Under 
Alternative 2, option 1 and 2, it is anticipated that H&L or pot CVs in the new BSAI Pacific cod small 
vessel sector would have an opportunity to harvest more Pacific cod in the A season, and these small 
vessels could fully utilize the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s A season allowance. It is also possible that the 
new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector would not fully utilize the jig sector’s A season allowance, but 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 8 of 77

Council Packet Page 46



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 9 

these smaller H&L or pot CVs could fish at a slower pace and extend their fishing early in the year absent 
competition from larger H&L or pot CVs in the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. It would 
be uncertain if or when NMFS would be able to project whether any TAC would be available from the 
new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector to reallocate to the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector. Therefore, Alternative 2 (option 1 and option 2) could impact the historically common, if 
annually variable, reallocations of BSAI Pacific cod from the jig sector to the less than 60’ H&L or 
pot CV sector which would be redefined to exclude H&L or pot CVs less than either 55’ or 56’ 
LOA.  

Fishing effort impacts 
 
It is anticipated that Alternative 2 (option 1 or option 2) could impact the availability of historically 
common reallocations of BSAI Pacific cod from the jig sector (redefined as the new BSAI Pacific cod 
small vessel sector) to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector (redefined to exclude H&L or pot CVs less 
than either 55’ or 56’ LOA). While there would be fewer vessels participating in the redefined less than 
60’ H&L or pot CV sector because smaller H&L or pot CVs either 55’ or 56’ LOA would be excluded, 
historically, the relative contribution of the jig sector’s reallocation (mt) to the less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector’s final allocation has been greater than the landings (mt) of the smaller H&L or pot CVs that 
would be eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector. Changes in the projected amount of 
BSAI Pacific cod TAC that would be available for the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector 
could impact fishing effort. Specifically, H&L or pot CVs in the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector could fish at a faster pace as there would be less BSAI Pacific cod TAC available early in 
the year when these vessels target BSAI Pacific cod in the Federal fishery. This could have 
cumulative effects on these vessel’s safety, and it is more challenging for NMFS to conservatively 
manage a fishery with smaller quotas and fished at a faster pace.   

Dutch Harbor Subarea State waters fishery impacts 
 
The State of Alaska manages three guideline harvest limit (GHL) fisheries for Pacific cod within State 
waters (0 to 3 nautical miles (nm)) in the BSAI: the AI Subdistrict fishery and two that occur in a subarea 
of the BS – the Dutch Harbor Subdistrict (DHS) pot fishery and the DHS jig fishery. The DHS pot fishery 
opens seven days after the Federal BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector closes, and it is 
open to vessels less than or equal to 58’ LOA using pot gear with a limit of 60 pots per vessel. Under 
Alternative 2 (option 1 and option 2), the Alaska Board of Fisheries (BOF), with industry input, would 
need to address the trigger for opening the DHS pot fishery because the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector would be redefined and no longer exist as it currently does in regulations. The BOF would also 
need to determine what the new trigger should be – the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector closing 
date, the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector closing date, or some other trigger such as a hard 
start date.  

It is uncertain what action the BOF would take to open the DHS pot fishery. However, if the BOF chose 
to select one of the newly defined sectors’ closure date as the trigger, vessels that operate in that trigger 
sector would be able to choose to fish in the Federal BSAI Pacific cod fishery until it closed and then 
register to fish in the DHS pot fishery once it opened. However, vessels that do not operate in the sector 
that would trigger the DHS opening would likely need to decide whether they want to participate in 
Federal or State waters if both were open at the same time. Alternative 2 would not impact the timing 
of the DHS jig fishery because the fishery opens with a hard date of May 1. 

Economic impacts 
 
As stated above, it is anticipated that Alternative 2 would impact the historically common reallocations of 
BSAI Pacific cod from the jig sector (redefined as the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector) to the 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 9 of 77

Council Packet Page 47



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 10 

less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector (redefined to exclude H&L or pot CVs less than either 55’ or 56’ 
LOA). Annual reallocation amounts of BSAI Pacific cod from the jig sector to the less than 60’ H&L or 
pot CV sector have ranged from 1,500 mt to 3,200 mt, accounting for an average of 30 percent of the less 
than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector’s final allocation since 2008. Under Alternative 2, the estimated annual 
average gross ex-vessel revenue impact for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA is a $1.26 
million decrease in potential revenue (2008-2020). The estimated annual average gross ex-vessel 
revenue opportunity for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ is $1.08 million (2008-2020) (see 
Section 4.3.4).2 

Under current State regulations, each year the DHS pot fishery is set at 8 percent of the BS acceptable 
biological catch (ABC) with an annual 1 percent increase if 90 percent of the GHL is harvested until the 
GHL reaches 15 percent of the BS ABC. The 15 percent GHL will continue unless changed by the BOF. 
The 2022 DHS pot fishery was set at 11 percent of the BS ABC and has the potential to increase another 
4 percent. The DHS pot fishery is a significant opportunity for pot vessels less than or equal to 58’ LOA. 
Under Alternative 2 (option 1 and option 2), some portion of pot vessels could need to choose to 
participate in either the Federal or GHL fishery depending on whether their sector closed prior to the DHS 
pot fishery opening. While the revenue impacts of potentially changing the DHS pot fishery opening are 
uncertain, the annual average gross ex-vessel revenue pot CVs greater than 56’ earn from the DHS pot 
fishery is $6.67 million, accounting for 24 percent of these vessel’s total gross ex-vessel revenue across 
all fisheries (2014-2020). The annual average gross ex-vessel revenue pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ 
earn from the GHL fishery is $1.21 million, accounting for 20 percent of their total gross ex-vessel 
revenue across all fisheries (2014-2020). 

Suboption impacts 
 
The Council has included a suboption under Alternative 2 that would reserve the jig sector’s B season 
allowance (Apr 30 – Aug 31) for harvest by jig CVs and CPs only in the new BSAI Pacific cod small 
vessel sector. Jig vessels participating in the Federal BSAI Pacific cod fishery make the majority of their 
deliveries between April and September when the weather is safest for these vessels to operate, whereas 
the majority of Federal BSAI Pacific cod deliveries from the less than 60’ H&L or pot CVs are 
concentrated in January and the fall which is also when the fishery has been open. If H&L or pot CVs 
eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector were allowed to harvest BSAI Pacific cod 
during the jig sector’s B season, it is possible these vessels could constrain jig vessels during the B 
season when they have historically prosecuted the fishery. Because the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector has historically closed by the time the jig sector’s B season begins on April 30 and does not reopen 
until September 1 after the jig sector’s B season is closed, the suboption would not negatively impact 
H&L or pot CVs eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector. 

Community impacts 
 
The majority of vessels that have historically participated in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig 
sectors have a registered ownership address in an Alaska community. However, within the less than 60’ 
H&L or pot CV sector, there is variation in the reported owner address among the different vessel LOA 
categories. Kodiak has the largest number of reported vessel owners for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ 
LOA whereas Dutch Harbor/Unalaska has the largest number of reported owners for smaller H&L or pot 
CVs. Therefore, under Alternative 2, there could be a distributional impact at the community-level. 

 
2 Due to data confidentiality restrictions, the analysis aggregates revenue data for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal 
to 56’ LOA. 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 10 of 77

Council Packet Page 48



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 11 

Environmental impacts 
 
There are no anticipated impacts on the human environment under Alternative 2, because the action 
is unlikely to substantially change fishing location, timing, effort, authorized gear types, and harvest 
levels. These findings lead to a preliminary determination by the National Marine Fisheries Service 
(NMFS) to seek a Categorial Exclusion (CE) under National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 
(NOAA) Administrative Order (NOA) 216-6 (see Section 4.4 for a summary of impacts on fishing 
activity).  

 Introduction 
This RIR analyzes a proposed amendment to the BSAI Groundfish FMP to allow smaller H&L or pot 
CVs operating in the Federal BSAI Pacific cod (Gadus macrophalus) less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector 
to harvest Pacific cod from the jig sector’s Federal BSAI Pacific cod allocation. The proposed amendment 
considers redefining the current Federal BSAI Pacific cod jig sector to include jig CVs and CPs as well as 
H&L or pot CVs that are less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA. The proposed amendment could 
provide additional opportunities for current fishery participants and potential new entrants with smaller 
H&L or pot CVs without negatively impacting vessels currently operating in the Federal BSAI Pacific 
cod jig sector. 

The RIR provides an assessment of the impacts of a proposed action and its reasonable alternatives, as 
well as the benefits and costs of the alternatives, the distribution of impacts, and identification of the 
small entities that may be affected by the alternatives. This RIR addresses the statutory requirements of 
the Magnuson Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (MSA), the National Environmental 
Policy Act (NEPA), Presidential Executive Order 12866, and some of the requirements of the Regulatory 
Flexibility Act (RFA). An RIR is a standard document produced by the Council and the NMFS Alaska 
Region to provide the analytical background for decision-making.  

Alaska Region Office has made the preliminary determination that the proposed action does not result in 
substantial modifications of fishing location, timing, effort, authorized gear types, or harvest levels 
relative to the status quo and relative to what was analyzed in previous approved actions. Any pursuant 
regulatory changes would have no effect, individually or cumulatively on the human environment as 
defined in NAO 216-6. As such, NMFS foresees that this action would qualify for a Categorical 
Exclusion from further review under NEPA. For that reason, this document does not include an 
Environmental Assessment (EA)3. 

 History of this Action 
At the October 2019 Council meeting, the Council tasked staff with a discussion paper in response to the 
concerns expressed by some stakeholders in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector that described some 
challenges smaller H&L or pot CVs face, including increased participation within the less than 60’ H&L 
or pot CV sector and inter-sector competition from a subgroup of vessels typically 58’ LOA with 
increased capacity and efficiencies.  

“In addition to increased participation, the rise of ‘Super 8s4’ within the <60 vessel class 
contributes to growing disparities and unfair competition within the <60 vessel class 

 
3 The analysts have consulted with NMFS Alaska Region and preliminarily determined that none of the alternatives 
have the potential to have an effect individually or cumulatively on the human environment. This determination is 
subject to further review and public comment. If this determination is confirmed when a proposed rule is prepared, the 
proposed action will be categorically excluded from the need to prepare an EA. 
4 The Council does not have a formal definition for a ‘Super 8’ vessel, but the term indicates the vessel is at or below 
58’ LOA and has dimensions or attributes that are supersized relative to its length (CFEC 2015).4 Typically the bigger 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 11 of 77

Council Packet Page 49



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 12 

size. These disparities are rooted in non-traditional efficiency improvements within the 
Super 8 fleet (e.g., power, capacity, vessel width, etc.), and have detrimental effects on 
long-term participants and communities dependent on fixed gear Pacific cod fisheries.”5  

In October 2019, the Council tasked staff with evaluating “the potential impact of expanding the 
allowable participants to fish off of the jig sector allocation to small, fixed gear catcher vessels (e.g., 
<57’, trip limits up to 15,000 lbs., pot limits less than 25 pots)” to address the access challenges smaller 
vessels face while operating in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. 

At the June 2021 Council meeting, the Council received a presentation on the discussion paper tasked in 
October 2019. That paper and presentation provided the Council an opportunity to discuss and give 
direction on its preference for potential future work related to small vessel access opportunities in the 
BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. To address the unintended inter-sector 
competition, which may be potentially constraining smaller CV’s ability to harvest BSAI Pacific cod by 
the larger vessels with increased efficiencies, the Council adopted a purpose and need statement and a set 
of alternatives for this issue in June 2021. 

 Purpose and Need 
The Council is considering this action because the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector has seen an 
increase in participation in recent years, and the sector has become unintentionally marked by two vessel 
size categories—CVs typically 58’ LOA that have additional efficiencies (e.g., width and power) and 
smaller H&L or pot CVs typically less than or equal to 56’ LOA. The purpose of this action is to provide 
additional opportunities for smaller H&L and pot vessels by redefining the current BSAI Pacific cod jig 
sector to include these H&L or pot CVs without negatively impacting jig fishery participants. The BSAI 
Pacific cod jig sector has historically underutilized its 1.4 percent allocation of BSAI Pacific cod under 
Amendment 85, the majority of which has historically been reallocated to the less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector (see Table 3-8).  

Council adopted the following Purpose and Need statement on June 15, 2021. 

Increased participation in the <60 ft hook-and-line and pot catcher vessel Pacific cod sector by 
higher-capacity vessels over 57 ft LOA has negatively impacted smaller vessels in the sector through 
shortened seasons. These shortened seasons limit smaller vessels’ ability to compete within the 
sector as they are limited to fish in less productive waters near port due to their size. The jig sector 
allocation has not historically been fully utilized, particularly in the A and C seasons. Allowing these 
smaller catcher vessels using hook-and-line and pot gear to harvest Pacific cod from the jig sector 
allocation may provide additional opportunities for current fishery participants and potential new 
entrants with smaller catcher vessels without negatively impacting catcher vessels using jig gear. 

The scope of this action is limited to the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors. 
Alternative 2 would require an amendment to the BSAI Groundfish FMP. An Amendment is necessary to 
change the allocations for each sector, redefine the existing sectors, and/or create a new sector because the 
BSAI Pacific cod allocations were assigned as an amendment to the BSAI Groundfish FMP. This 
amendment would not redefine any other Amendment 85 sector or their allocations. 

2. Description of the Alternatives  

 
attributes benefit the fishing effectiveness of a Super 8 vessel, such as more expansive deck space that allows for 
more fishing pots and other gear onboard.  
5 Unalaska Native Fishermen’s Association. October 2019. Public Comment Letter.  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 12 of 77

Council Packet Page 50



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 13 

The Council adopted the following alternatives for analysis in June 2021. 

Alternative 1: Status quo 

Alternative 2: Redefine the current BSAI Pacific cod jig sector to include H&L/pot CVs less than or 
equal to: 

Option 1: 55’ LOA 

Option 2: 56‘LOA 

Suboption: B-season fishery would remain jig gear only fishery. 

 Alternative 1, No Action 
Amendment 85 to the BSAI Groundfish FMP modified the non-Community Development Quota (CDQ) 
Pacific cod allocations among nine defined sectors. Under Alternative 1, no action, every BSAI Pacific 
cod sector, their allocation, and the hierarchy of reallocations of BSAI Pacific cod among sectors set in 
Federal regulations at 50 CFR part 679 would remain unchanged. Therefore, under Alternative 1, the 
current BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors would remain as is. 

 Alternative 2, Redefine the Current BSAI Pacific Cod Jig Sector  
Alternative 2 would affect vessels fishing in Federal waters with a Federal Fisheries Permit (FFP) and a 
Limited License Permit (LLP) in the current BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot and jig sectors. 
Based on the June 2021 discussion paper exploring this action, and public comment received at the 
October 2019 and June 2021 Council meetings, the Council’s motion considers two different options for a 
vessel LOA limit to define eligibility for a new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector.6  Under Alternative 
2, the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector would be redefined as the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector 
which would include jig CVs and CPs as well as H&L or pot CVs that are less than or equal to: 

Option 1: 55’ LOA 

Option 2: 56’ LOA 

The current less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector would be redefined to exclude H&L or pot CVs less than 
either 55’ or 56’ LOA. Figure 2-1 below compares the proposed changes to each sector and the allocation 
under Alternative 2, option 1 and option 2.  

The BSAI Pacific cod jig sector has three seasonal allowances: Jan 1—Apr 30 (60%); Apr 30 –Aug 31 
(20%), and Aug 31—Dec 31 (20%), whereas the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector was excluded from 
the limitation of seasonal allocations under Amendment 85 and instead receives their entire allocation of 
BSAI Pacific cod on January 1. The Council’s rationale for this action at the June 2021 meeting clarified 
the Council’s intent that the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector would harvest BSAI Pacific cod 
from the jig sector’s 1.4 percent allocation, and that it would continue to be apportioned on a trimester 
basis. All CVs remaining in the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV would continue to access the 
sector’s 2 percent allocation of BSAI Pacific cod.  

 
6 Vessel owners must report the LOA to NMFS on their FFP and to the Alaska Commercial Fisheries Entry 
Commission (CFEC). 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 13 of 77

Council Packet Page 51



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 14 

 

Figure 2-1  Comparison of changes to the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors under 
Alternative 1 and Alternative 2 

2.2.1. Suboption, B-season as jig fishery only 

The suboption proposes an option for analysis where jig CVs and CPs would be the only gear-type 
allowed to fish during the B season (Apr 30 – Aug 31). The Council’s rationale for including this 
suboption is that jig vessels make the majority of their BSAI Pacific cod deliveries between April and 
September when the weather is safest for smaller vessels to operate. H&L and pot CVs typically 
prosecute other fisheries during the jig sector’s B season and their BSAI Pacific cod sector has not been 
open during the spring/summer months in recent years. 

3. Description of Fisheries 
This RIR examines the economic costs and benefits of a proposed regulatory amendment that would 
allow H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA currently operating in the Federal 
BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector to harvest Pacific cod from the jig sector’s Federal 
allocation of BSAI Pacific cod. The purpose of this action is to provide additional opportunities for 
current fishery participants and potential new entrants with smaller H&L or pot vessels without negatively 
impacting vessels using jig gear. 

The preparation of an RIR is required under Presidential Executive Order (E.O.) 12866 (58 FR 51735, 
October 4, 1993). The requirements for all regulatory actions specified in E.O. 12866 are summarized in 
the following Statement from the E.O.: 

In deciding whether and how to regulate, agencies should assess all costs and benefits of 
available regulatory alternatives, including the alternative of not regulating. Costs and 
benefits shall be understood to include both quantifiable measures (to the fullest extent 
that these can be usefully estimated) and qualitative measures of costs and benefits that 
are difficult to quantify, but nevertheless essential to consider. Further, in choosing 
among alternative regulatory approaches agencies should select those approaches that 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 14 of 77

Council Packet Page 52



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 15 

maximize net benefits (including potential economic, environmental, public health and 
safety, and other advantages; distributive impacts; and equity), unless a statute requires 
another regulatory approach. 

E.O. 12866 requires that the Office of Management and Budget review proposed regulatory programs that 
are considered to be “significant.” A “significant regulatory action” is one that is likely to: 

• Have an annual effect on the economy of $100 million or more or adversely affect in a material 
way the economy, a sector of the economy, productivity, competition, jobs, the environment, 
public health or safety, or State, local or tribal governments or communities; 

• Create a serious inconsistency or otherwise interfere with an action taken or planned by another 
agency; 

• Materially alter the budgetary impact of entitlements, grants, user fees, or loan programs or the 
rights and obligations of recipients thereof; or 

• Raise novel legal or policy issues arising out of legal mandates, the President’s priorities, or the 
principles set forth in E.O. 12866. 

 Statutory Authority 
Under the MSA (16 U.S.C. 1801, et seq.), the United States has exclusive fishery management authority 
over all marine fishery resources found within the exclusive economic zone (EEZ). The management of 
these marine resources is vested in the Secretary of Commerce (Secretary) and in the Regional Fishery 
Management Councils. In the Alaska Region, the Council has the responsibility for preparing fishery 
management plans (FMPs) and FMP amendments for the marine fisheries that require conservation and 
management, and for submitting its recommendations to the Secretary. Upon approval by the Secretary, 
NMFS is charged with carrying out the Federal mandates of the Department of Commerce with regard to 
marine and anadromous fish. 

The groundfish fisheries in the EEZ off Alaska are managed under the FMP for Groundfish of the Bering 
Sea and Aleutian Islands Management Area (BSAI FMP) and the FMP for Groundfish of the Gulf of 
Alaska (GOA FMP). The proposed action under consideration would amend the BSAI Groundfish FMP 
and Federal regulations at 50 CFR §679. Actions taken to amend FMPs or implement regulations 
governing these fisheries must meet the requirements of applicable Federal laws, regulations, and 
Executive Orders. 

 BSAI Pacific Cod Fishery Management 
BSAI Pacific cod harvest specifications establish an over-fishing level (OFL), ABC, and TAC for the 
Bering Sea subarea of the BSAI, and a separate OFL, ABC, and TAC for the Aleutian Islands subarea of 
the BSAI. Figure 3-1 shows the BSAI Pacific cod reporting areas.  

Before the Pacific cod TACs are established, the Council and NMFS consider social and economic 
factors, management uncertainty, as well as two factors relevant to BSAI Pacific cod: Pacific cod 
guideline harvest (GHL) fisheries that occur in the State-waters of the BSAI, and an overall 2 million mt 
optimum yield limit on the maximum amount of TAC that can be specified for all BSAI groundfish. 
Pacific cod TACs are specified at levels that account for the GHL fisheries so the combined harvest limits 
from GHL fisheries and the TACs do not exceed the ABCs specified for the BS or AI.  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 15 of 77

Council Packet Page 53



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 16 

 
Figure 3-1 Map of NMFS BSAI sub-areas for management 

Once separate BS and AI TACs are established, regulations at § 679.20(a)(7)(i) allocate 10.7 percent of 
the BS Pacific cod TAC, and 10.7 percent of the AI Pacific cod TAC, to the CDQ program for the 
exclusive harvest by Western Alaska CDQ groups. The remaining portion of BS and AI TACs, after 
deducting the 10.7 percent allocation for CDQ Program, is the initial total allowable catch (ITAC). For 
the BSAI Pacific cod H&L and pot gear sectors, the Regional Administrator will specify the amount of 
Pacific cod that NMFS estimates will be taken as incidental catch while fishing for groundfish other than 
Pacific cod by the H&L and pot gear sectors. This amount will be the incidental catch allowance (ICA) 
specified in the harvest specifications and will be deducted from the aggregate portion of Pacific cod TAC 
annually allocated to the H&L and pot gear sectors before the allocations are made to these sectors. Since 
Amendment 85 implementation this amount has been 400 to 500 mt. After the CDQ allocation is 
subtracted from the BS and AI TACs, NMFS combines the remaining BS and AI TACs into one BSAI 
non-CDQ TAC, which is available for harvest by nine non-CDQ fishery sectors. Table 3-1 shows the 
BSAI Pacific cod ABC, TAC, and ITAC from 2003 to 2013 and Bering Sea and Aleutian Island BSAI 
Pacific cod ABC, TAC, and ITAC 2014 to 2022 (amounts in mt).    

Regulations at § 679.20(a)(7)(ii)(A) define the nine Pacific cod non-CDQ fishery sectors in the BSAI and 
specify the percentage allocated to each. The non-CDQ fishery sectors are defined by a combination of 
gear type, operation type, and vessel size categories. Through the annual harvest specifications process, 
NMFS allocates an amount of the combined BSAI non-CDQ TAC to each of the nine non-CDQ fishery 
sectors.  

The nine non-CDQ fishery sectors, and the percentage of the combined BSAI non-CDQ TAC allocated to 
each sector, are shown in Table 3-2 by amendment since 1994. Beginning in 1994, Amendment 24 to the 
BSAI groundfish FMP established a TAC for BSAI non-CDQ, which was fully distributed among three 
gear sectors: H&L, pot, trawl, and jig gear. The allocations for each sector were set under the FMP and 
reflected percentages of sector harvest between 1991 to 1993. Those allocations were later changed in 
1997 with Amendment 46 of the FMP and shifted the majority of the TAC from trawl to H&L and pot 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 16 of 77

Council Packet Page 54



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 17 

gear. Amendment 46 also bisected trawl apportionment between CVs and CPs and authorized NMFS to 
reallocate any portion of the Pacific cod TAC that was projected to remain unused among the various 
sectors if necessary. Subsequent apportionment changes (BSAI Amendments 64, 67, and 77) have 
resulted in the BSAI Pacific cod TAC being divided among nine harvesting sectors. Amendment 85 
modified the BSAI non-CDQ Pacific cod TAC allocation and defined specific harvesting sectors. The 
existing overall sector allocations have been in place for fourteen years under Amendment 85. 

Table 3-1  BSAI Pacific cod ABC, TAC, and ITAC from 2003 through 2013 and BS and AI Pacific cod ABC, 
TAC, and ITAC from 2014 through 2022 (amounts in mt) 

Year BSAI BS* AI** 

ABC TAC ITAC ABC TAC ITAC ABC TAC ITAC 

2003 223,000 207,500 191,938             

2004 223,000 215,500 199,338             

2005 206,000 206,000 190,550             

2006 194,000 194,000 174,067             

2007 176,000 170,720 157,916     N/A     

2008 176,000 170,720 152,453             

2009 182,000 176,540 157,650             

2010 174,000 168,780 150,721             

2011 235,000 227,950 203,559             

2012 314,000 261,000 233,073             

2013 307,000 260,000 232,180             

2014       255,000 246,897 220,479 15,100 6,997 6,248 

2015       255,000 240,000 214,320 17,600 9,422 8,414 

2016       255,000 238,680 213,141 17,600 12,839 11,465 

2017   N/A   239,000 223,704 199,768 21,500 15,695 14,016 

2018       201,000 188,136 168,005 21,500 15,695 14,016 

2019       181,000 166,475 148,662 20,600 14,214 12,693 

2020       137,000 124,625 111,290 20,600 14,214 12,693 

2021       123,805 111,380 499,462 20,600 13,756 12,320 

2022    153,383 136,466 121,864 20,600 13,796 12,320 

Source: NMFS Final Specifications 
*The BS Pacific cod TAC accounts for the GHL in State waters of the BS, which is 11 percent of the BS ABC as of 2022. 
**The AI Pacific cod TAC accounts for the GHL in State waters of the AI, which would be 39 percent of the AI ABC as of 2022, 
except the AI GHL may not exceed 15 million pounds (6,804 mt). 

 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 17 of 77

Council Packet Page 55



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 18 

Table 3-2   Percent of non-CDQ BSAI Pacific cod sector allocations by BSAI groundfish FMP amendment 

Sector Amend 
24 

1994 

Amend
46 

1997 

Amend
64 

2000 

Amend 
77 

2004 

Amend
85 

2008 

Jig 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.4 

H&L/Pot CV 
<60’ LOA 

44.0 51.0 

0.7 0.7 2.0 

H&L CV ≥60’ 
LOA 0.2 0.2 0.2 

H&L CP 40.8 40.8 48.7 

Pot CV ≥60’ 
LOA 

9.3 
7.6 8.4 

Pot CP 1.7 1.5 

AFA trawl CP 

54.0 
23.5 23.5 23.5 

2.3 

Non-AFA trawl 
CP 

13.4 

Trawl CV 23.5 23.5 23.5 22.1 

 
Seasonal allowances of BSAI non-CDQ Pacific cod allocations are managed at the BSAI level. Because 
there are no non-CDQ sector allocations specific to each area, there are no gear specific seasonal 
allowances by area. An allocation to a non-CDQ fishery sector may be harvested in either the BS or the 
AI, subject to the non-CDQ Pacific cod TAC specified for the BS or the AI. If the non-CDQ Pacific cod 
TAC is or will be reached in either the BS or AI, NMFS will prohibit directed fishing for Pacific cod in 
that subarea for all non-CDQ fishery sectors. The other area will remain open to directed fishing for all 
sectors as long as Pacific cod TAC is available in that area and the sector has Pacific cod available from 
their BSAI allocation.  

While the overall guideline for the BSAI Pacific cod fishery continues to be a 70:30 percent seasonal 
split, the seasonal allowances vary by gear type taking into account changes to the season dates from the 
Steller sea lion protection measures implemented in 2015. Any unused portion of the seasonal allowance 
from any sector except the jig sector is rolled over to that sector’s next season during the current fishing 
year unless the Regional Administrator determines that sector will be unable to harvest its allocation. 
Unused jig TAC from any season will be reallocated to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector and any 
projected unused portion of the C season jig TAC must be reallocated on or near September 1 (50 CFR 
679.20(a)(7)(iv)(C)).     

NMFS manages each of the non-CDQ fishery sectors to ensure harvest of Pacific cod does not exceed the 
overall annual allocation made to each of the non-CDQ fishery sectors. NMFS monitors harvests that 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 18 of 77

Council Packet Page 56



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 19 

occur while vessels are directed fishing for Pacific cod (specifically targeting and retaining Pacific cod 
above specific threshold levels) and harvests that occur while vessels are directed fishing in other 
fisheries and incidentally catching Pacific cod (e.g., the incidental catch of Pacific cod in the pollock 
directed fishery or IFQ fishery). For the non-CDQ fishery sectors, NMFS carefully tracks both directed 
and incidental catch of Pacific cod. NMFS takes appropriate management measures, such as closing 
directed fishing for a non-CDQ fishery sector, to ensure that total directed fishing and incidental fishing 
harvests do not exceed that sector’s allocation. 

Table 3-3 2022 BSAI Pacific cod non-CDQ sector allocations and seasonal allowances  

Sector BSAI Sector 
Allocation (mt) 

BSAI Seasons and allowance (mt) 

A             B                    C 
H&L/Pot CV < 60’ 

LOA 2,671 No seasonal allowances 

H&L CV ≥ 60’ LOA 267 

Jan 1-June 10 
(51%) 

 
136 

June 10 -Dec 31 
(49%) 

 
131 

n/a 

H&L CP 65,027 
Jan 1-June 10 

(51%) 
 

33,164 

June 10 -Dec 31 
(49%) 

 
31,863 

n/a 

Pot CV ≥ 60’ LOA 11,216 

Jan 1-June 10 
(51%)  

 
5,720 

Sept 1 -Dec 31 
(49%) 

 
5,496 

n/a 

Pot CP 2,003 

Jan 1-June 10 
(51%)  

 
1,021 

Sept 1 -Dec 31 
(49%) 

 
981 

n/a 

Jig 1,879 

Jan 1- Apr 30 
(60%) 

 
1,127 

Apr 30-Aug 31 
(20%) 

 
376 

Aug 31- Dec 31 
(20%) 

 
376 

AFA Trawl CP 3,086 

Jan 20-April 1 
(75%) 

 
2,315 

April 1-June 10 
(25%) 

772 

June 10- Nov 1 
(0%) 

 
0 

Amendment 80 17,981 
Jan 20-April 1 

(75%) 
 

13,485 

April 1-June 10 
(25%) 

 
4,495 

June 10- 
December 31 

(0%) 
 

0 

Trawl CV 29,655 

Jan 20-April 1 
(74%) 

 
21,944 

April 1-June 10 
(11%) 

 
3,262 

June 10-Nov 1 
(15%) 

 
4,448 

Source: NMFS Final 2022 Sector Allocations and Seasonal Allowances of the BSAI Pacific Cod TAC; 
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2022-03-02/pdf/2022-
04292.pdf?utm_campaign=subscription+mailing+list&utm_source=federalregister.gov&utm_medium=email  

  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 19 of 77

Council Packet Page 57



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 20 

  Reallocations Among BSAI Pacific Cod Sectors  
Decisions to reallocate BSAI Pacific cod TAC are based on the hierarchy set in Federal regulations at 
§679.20(a)(7)(iii). Reallocation decisions take into account the capability of a sector to harvest both their 
initial Pacific cod allocation and any reallocations they may receive. Any reallocation of Pacific cod 
requires publication in the Federal Register before it is effective. This process generally takes about a 
week. 

In the BSAI, most sector’s A season allocations are fully harvested, and if not, any remaining A season 
allowance rolls over to the next season for that sector. Therefore, reallocations of A season TAC are 
rare. One exception is the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector where any projected unused portion of the A 
season allowance is required to be reallocated to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. The less than 
60’ H&L or pot CV sector does not have seasonal allowances under Steller sea lion protection 
measures. Instead, this sector’s annual allocation is available on January 1, and they have historically 
relied on reallocations from other sectors to have fishing reopen later in the year once their annual 
allocation has been harvested. NMFS has historically reallocated most of the jig sector’s A-season 
allowance to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector (typically between January and March). The less 
than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector has received seasonal reallocations from the BSAI Pacific cod jig, 
greater than or equal to 60’ H&L CV, greater than or equal to 60’ pot CV, and trawl sectors. 

NMFS tries to reallocate projected amounts of unharvested Pacific cod to sectors that may be able to 
harvest these amounts; however, the decision to reallocate these amounts are complex and factor in 
many considerations. The primary consideration is not to reallocate Pacific cod from a sector that may 
have the capacity to catch their allocation. This means NMFS must first determine a sector’s remaining 
Pacific cod allocation and the capacity for the sector to catch the remaining amount. This requires 
communication with vessel operators and processors. If any vessel operator or processor indicates that 
they will remain active or become active in the fishery before the end of the year, NMFS will likely be 
more conservative in leaving amounts of Pacific cod available for that sector. As a result, Pacific cod 
sometimes remains uncaught at the end of the year because these vessels either do not participate or 
their actual catch rates are insufficient to catch a sector’s remaining Pacific cod.  

For example, in the fall, some sectors fishing effort may decrease or stop for several reasons including 
(but not limited to) poor weather, low catch rates, directed fishing closures due to attainment of 
prohibited species catch limits, low Pacific cod prices, high fuel prices, vessel breakdowns or 
maintenance, or closure of directed fishing for all non-CDQ Pacific cod sectors in the BS subarea or AI 
subarea. These factors can be difficult to predict when NMFS considers whether to make Pacific cod 
reallocations. NMFS will also consider that catch data may change over time. To prevent exceeding 
TAC or ABC, NMFS typically leaves small amounts of TAC as a buffer to account for changes in catch 
data, which may occur for a variety of reasons. Also, in recent years until 2022, the BSAI Pacific cod 
TAC has decreased; therefore, less Pacific cod TAC is remaining for the sectors that have historically 
been provided reallocated Pacific cod. As a result, NMFS must be more conservative in completing 
reallocations.  

In October 2021, the Council selected, as a preferred alternative, to create a BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV 
limited access privilege program (NPFMC 2021). The preferred alternative would allocate quota shares 
to groundfish LLP licenses based on the harvest of qualifying trawl CV BSAI Pacific cod catch. As part 
of the preferred alternative, only A and B season quota share would be allocated to cooperatives leaving 
the 15 percent C season allowance as a limited access trawl CV fishery for any vessel assigned to an 
eligible groundfish LLP license with applicable area endorsements. The C season limited access trawl 
CV fishery would be managed as it is currently by NMFS, including management of incidental catches 
of Pacific cod in other directed fisheries. Remaining trawl CV C season, A season and B season ICAs 
that NMFS projects to go unused, and any remaining cooperative quota after the B season would be 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 20 of 77

Council Packet Page 58



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 21 

subject to reallocation to other sectors under current reallocation rules. As a result of leaving the C 
season as a limited access fishery for the trawl CV sector, reallocation of Pacific cod TAC to other 
sectors that rely on Pacific cod reallocations would likely continue. Typically, the reallocation from the 
BSAI Pacific cod jig sector, but also the trawl CV sector, allows the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector 
to remain open during the fall.  

 License Limitation Program  
Since 2000, a Federal LLP license is required for vessels participating in directed fishing for LLP 
groundfish species.7 LLP groundfish species are target species and “other species” specified annually 
pursuant to Federal regulations at 679.20(a)(2). Vessels in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector need 
a non-trawl LLP to participate in the Federal fisheries, but they are exempt from the Pacific cod 
endorsement on their LLP because they are less than 60’ (see 679.4(k)(9)(iv)(B)). In 2021, 26 vessels 
participated in the less than 60’ H&L or pot sector with both an FFP and LLP.8 Vessels fishing in the 
BSAI Pacific cod jig sector do not need an LLP license in the BSAI if they are less than 60’ LOA and 
use no more than five jig machines, one line per machine, and 15 hooks per line. There are no AI or BS 
jig LLPs. 

Historically, the LLPs have not generally been applicable in State waters (inside 3 nm), but in 2012 
NMFS implemented regulations to limit the access of Federally permitted pot and H&L CPs in the Pacific 
cod parallel fishery9 for the BS and AI (76 FR 73513) by requiring a Federally permitted pot or H&L CP 
to have the appropriate LLP endorsements to participate in the parallel fishery. In 2021 these regulations 
were extended to include CV pot, H&L, and any trawl vessels. Federally permitted vessels with no LLP 
may participate in the state-managed GHL fishery, subject to vessel length restrictions, but may not fish 
in state-waters (the parallel fishery) while the Federal season is open. Vessels that are not Federally 
permitted (do not have an FFP) are not required to hold an endorsed LLP to participate in the parallel 
fishery but are subject to State regulations. A vessel may surrender its FFP and fish exclusively in State 
waters, but this is limited to once in each 3-year FFP cycle so that a vessel may not frequently surrender 
an FFP and later reapply for an FFP multiple times within each 3-year period. This limits the ability for a 
vessel to move in and out of Federal requirements (85 FR 78038). 

 State Management Measures 
The State manages three GHL fisheries for Pacific cod within State waters in the BSAI. There is one 
GHL fishery for Pacific cod in the AI, the AI Subdistrict fishery. There are two that occur in a subarea of 
the BS, the DHS pot fishery and the DHS jig fishery.  

The State-managed AI fishery was established by the BOF in 2006. From 2006 through 2015, the AI 
GHL was 3 percent of the Federal BSAI Pacific cod ABC. In December 2015, the Alaska Board of 
Fisheries (BOF) changed the AI GHL calculations to better align with the split of the Federal BSAI 
Pacific cod stock into separate BS and AI stocks. Starting in 2016, the AI GHL was 27 percent of the AI 
ABC. The AI State Pacific cod management plan includes annual “step-up” provisions that increase the 
amount of the GHL fishery if at least 90 percent of the previous year’s GHL is harvested. If the GHL 

 
7 There are a few exceptions for LLP requirements in the BSAI.  This includes vessels that do not exceed 32’ LOA; 
vessels that are at least 32’  LOA but that do not exceed 46’ LOA that are registered with their CDQ group to harvest 
CDQ groundfish; vessels that do not exceed 60’ LOA and are using jig gear (but no more than 5 jig machines, one 
line per machine, and 15 hooks per line); and certain vessels constructed for and used exclusively in the CDQ 
fisheries. 
8 LLP draws from the NMFS RAM division LLP database and was sourced through Alaska Fisheries Information 
Network (AKFIN). 
9 The BSAI Pacific cod parallel fishery occurs when the State opens State waters while the Federal BSAI Pacific cod 
fishery is open and any harvest that occurs in State waters is deducted from Federal TAC. 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 21 of 77

Council Packet Page 59



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 22 

fishery continues to be nearly fully harvested it can increase annually by 4 percent up to a maximum of 39 
percent of the AI ABC or to a maximum of 6,804 mt (15 million lbs.), whichever is less. The 2020 and 
2021 AI GHL were capped at 15 million pounds (6,804 mt).  

Allowable gear in the AI GHL fisheries includes trawl, longline, pot, and jig gear. Allowable vessel size 
varies by gear sector and time of year. The majority of the AI GHL has been harvested by vessels using 
trawl and pot gear. Table 3-4 summarizes the State AI GHL participation, catch, and value for the years 
2006 through 2021 Additional information on the AI GHL fishery can be found in the AI Pacific Cod 
Harvest Set-Aside RIR that addressed issues with Amendment 113 (NPFMC 2018). 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 22 of 77

Council Packet Page 60



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 23 

Table 3-4 Aleutian Islands State-waters Pacific cod fishery guideline harvest level and harvest from 2006 
through 2021 

Year Season Initial 
GHLa 

 Harvesta Vessels  Landings Average price 
per poundb 

Fishery 
valuec 

2006 A season 4,071  3,857 26  68 $0.23 $1.30 
 B season 1,745 d 160 5  19 $0.38 $1.40 
 TOTAL 5,815  4,017 30 e 87 $0.31 $2.70 
2007 A season 3,693  3,733 27  97 $0.45 $3.60 
 B season 1,583 f 1,546 12  106 $0.52 $1.70 
 TOTAL 5,276  5,279 39 e 203 $0.49 $5.30 
2008 A season 3,696  3,392 30  116 $0.63 $4.50 
 B season 1,584 g 1,924 18  77 $0.57 $1.80 
 TOTAL 5,280  5,316 45 e 193 $0.61 $6.30 
2009 A season 3,822  2,512 22  50 NA NA 
 B season 1,638 g CF 5  47 CF CF 
 TOTAL 5,460  CF 27  97 CF CF 
2010 A season 3,654  3,610 16  84 $0.25 $1.60 
 B season 1,566 g 375 3  4 $0.32 $1.10 
 TOTAL 5,220  3,985 16 e 88 $0.29 $2.70 
2011 A season 4,935  CF 3  4 CF CF 
 B season 2,115 g CF 4  16 CF CF 
 TOTAL 7,050  270 6 e 20 CF CF 
2012 A season 6,594  5,199 21  201 $0.31 $3.60 
 B season 2,826 g 432 7  25 CF CF 
 TOTAL 9,420  5,598 26 e 226 CF CF 
2013 A season 6,447  CF 12  CF CF CF 
 B season 2,763 g CF 1  CF CF CF 
 TOTAL 9,210  4,792 13  151 CF CF 
2014 A season 5,672  CF 8  133 CF CF 
 B season 2,431 g 0 0  0 $0.00 $0.00 
 TOTAL 8,103  CF 8  133 CF CF 
2015 A season 5,725  CF 2  CF CF CF 
 B season 2,453 g 0 0  0 $0.00 $0.00 
 TOTAL 8,178  CF 2  CF CF CF 
2016  4,752 h CF 6  39 CF CF 
2017  5,805 h CF 3  84 CF CF 
2018  5,805 h  CF 13  132 CF CF 
2019  6,386 h 6,198 18  155 $0.38 $5.08 
2020  6,804 h 6,762 15  187 $0.35 $5.12 
2021  6,804 h 6,703 13  170 $0.38 $5.44 

Source: ADF&G 
Note: CF = Confidential 
 a In metric tons  
b Price per pound of landed weight.  
c Fishery value based on landed weight, in millions of dollars.  
d ADF&G made 3.5 million pounds of the GHL available to NMFS effective on September 1.  
e Some vessels participated in both seasons.  
f Overage from the A season was deducted from the B season GHL. Initial GHL shown. 
g A season GHL was not fully harvested, remaining A season GHL rolled over into B season GHL; initial GHL shown.  
h Regulation changed to only one season for Aleutian Island Subdistrict state-waters Pacific cod. 
 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 23 of 77

Council Packet Page 61



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 24 

In October 2013, the Alaska Board of Fisheries (BOF) created a DHS State-waters Pacific cod fishery 
management plan for the Bering Sea, and the DHS fishery was first opened to pot fishing in 2014.  The 
DHS fishery is open to vessels less than or equal to 58’ LOA using pot gear with a limit of 60 pots per 
vessel. The DHS fishery season opens seven days after the federal BSAI less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector’s closure and may close and re-open as needed to coordinate with Federal fishery openings. A 
summary of the regulations is provided in Table 3-5.10   

Table 3-5 Summary of Dutch Harbor Subarea State-waters Pacific cod guideline harvest fishery 
regulations 

Area DHS state-waters opens DHS state-waters 
closes 

Gear Vessel length 

Dutch 
Harbor 
Subarea 
GHL pot 
gear 
fishery 

• The DHS state-waters 
Pacific cod season will 
open by emergency order 
7 days after closure of the 
initial Federal BSAI 
Pacific cod season for the 
< 60’ H&L and pot gear 
CV sector. 

• The DHS State-waters 
fishery can reopen if 
GHL Pacific cod vessels 
are available when the 
Federal BSAI Pacific 
cod 
< 60’ H&L /pot gear 
CV sector closes after 
harvesting any 
reallocation. 

• The DHS is defined as 
waters between 162.30 
and 170 west longitude. 

• When the GHL is 
taken or at the 
regulatory season 
closure date 
(December 31), 
whichever comes 
first. 

• If the Federal 
BSAI Pacific cod < 
60’ H&L/pot gear 
CV sector receives 
a reallocation of 
Federal TAC and 
is reopened, the 
DHS state- waters 
Pacific cod season 
may close. 

• Pot gear vessels using 
60 or fewer pots unless 
the Commissioner 
modifies regulations 
after October 1. 

• DHS is an exclusive 
registration area for 
Pacific cod and 
participants must 
purchase buoy tags and 
attach a tag to each pot 
prior to fishing. 

Less than or 
equal to 58’ 
LOA, unless 
modified by 
ADF&G news 
release after 
October 1. 

Dutch 
Harbor 
Subarea 
GHL jig 
gear 
fishery 

• May 1 opens a 100,000 
lb. fishery. 

• When the GHL is 
taken or at the 
regulatory season 
closure date 
(December 31) 
whichever occurs 
first. 

• Jig gear with a limit of 
5 jigging machines. 

• The limit on the number 
of jigging machines may 
be lifted by the 
commissioner any time 
after October 1, to allow 
the fleet to harvest the 
GHL. 

Less than or 
equal to 58’ 
LOA 

Source: http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR18-05.pdf 
 
Under current State regulations, each year the DHS fishery is set at 8 percent of the BS ABC with an 
annual 1 percent increase if 90 percent of the GHL is harvested until the GHL reaches 15 percent of the 
BS ABC. The 15 percent GHL will continue unless changed by the BOF. The 2022 DHS fishery was set 
at 11 percent of the BS ABC. The GHL amount and reported harvest from 2014 to 2021 for this fishery 

 
10 In 2014 and 2015, the DHS fishery occurred in the area between 164 degrees and 167 degrees west longitude. 
The area was expanded east and west to between 164 degrees and 170 degrees west longitude prior to the 2016 
season and again expanded westward prior to the 2019 season to 162.30 degrees west longitude. At the BOF 
October 2018 meeting it again expanded the area to include waters between 162.30 degrees and 170 degrees west 
longitude. 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 24 of 77

Council Packet Page 62



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 25 

are shown in Table 3-6. All landings from the DHS pot fishery are delivered to shoreside plants and 
inshore floating processors because the fishery is prosecuted by pot vessels that are less than or equal to 
58’ LOA. Thirty-seven pot gear vessels participated in the fishery in 2019, 40 pot gear vessels in 2020, 
and 29 pot gear vessels in 2021. 

Table 3-6 Pacific cod harvest (lbs.) with pot gear in the State of Alaska DHS GHL Pacific cod fishery from 
2014 through 2021 

Year GHL Harvest % harvested 
Pounds mt Pounds  mt 

2014 17,863,874 8,103 17,666,510 8,013 98.90% 
2015 18,029,404 8,178 17,636,103 8,000 97.80% 
2016 35,979,072 16,320 35,519,920 16,112 98.70% 
2017 33,721,562 15,296 33,247,414 15,081 98.60% 
2018 28,360,000 12,864 29,055,603 13,180 102.50% 
2019 31,922,600   14,480 32,345,033   14,672 101.30% 
2020 30,927,000 14,028 30,928,649 14,029 100.00% 
2021 27,292,000 12,380 27,585,848 12,513 101.00% 

Source ADF&G 

The BOF created a second BS GHL fishery which began in 2019 and allocates 100,000 lb. or roughly 45 
mt. to jig vessels. The fishery was not opened to jig gear until 2019 because the Federal jig season 
typically occurs year-round, so there has historically been no benefit to having a separate jig gear GHL 
state-waters fishery. The DHS jig gear fishery is not a super-exclusive fishery, so persons may register 
and fish that fishery and other State fisheries for Pacific cod. As noted in Table 3-7, one vessel has 
participated in the fishery on an annual basis, so harvest information is confidential for the DHS jig 
fishery; however, the GHL was achieved in 2019. 

Table 3-7 Dutch Harbor Subdistrict State-waters Pacific cod jig fishery harvest, effort, value, and season 
dates, 2019 through 2021 

Year GHL 
(lbs.) 

Harvest 
(lbs.) Vessels Landings 

Average 
price per 

pound 
Fishery 
value 

Season dates Season 
duration 
(days) Opened Closed 

2019 100,000 CF 1 5 CF CF 5/1/2019 6/6/2019 37 
2020 100,000 CF 1 4 CF CF 5/1/2020 12/31/2020 245 
2021 100,000 CF 1 3 CF CF 5/1/2021 12/31/2021 245 

Source ADF&G 

  Impacted Sectors 
3.6.1. BSAI Pacific Cod Less Than 60’ H&L or Pot CV Sector 

The less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector includes all CVs that are less than 60’ LOA using H&L or pot 
gear, but the typical length of vessels that participate in this sector ranges from 28’ to 58’ LOA. Since 
2000, a Federal LLP license has been required for vessels participating in directed fishing for LLP 
groundfish species, unless exempt (see Section 3.4). Vessels in this sector need a non-trawl LLP to 
participate in the Federal fisheries, but they are exempt from the Pacific cod endorsement on their LLP, 
see § 679.4(k)(9)(iv)(B). Currently, an LLP holder can switch from H&L or pot gear to legal jig gear and 
prosecute the jig sector’s allocation if their vessel was configured in such a way to use all the gear types.  

From 2008 through 2021, the number of vessels participating in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector 
has ranged from a low of 21 in 2014 to high of 41 in 2020. The annual average level of participation in 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 25 of 77

Council Packet Page 63



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 26 

the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector is 27 vessels. The sector has had a 2 percent 
allocation of BSAI Pacific cod since Amendment 85 was implemented in 2008, and they receive their 
entire allocation on January 1 each year because CVs less than 60’ are not subject to the seasonal 
restrictions that apply to other vessels. The amount of harvested Federal BSAI Pacific cod has ranged 
from a low of 4,469 mt in 2009 to a high of 12,448 mt in 2014. There has been a gradual shortening of the 
initial fishing period when the sector harvests its initial allocation as the number of days this sector needs 
to harvest its initial allocation has been reduced from nearly 75 to as little as 12 days. In 2021, the sector 
closed on January 26 and had 26 vessels participate. 

The sector routinely harvests their entire initial allocation in addition to a significant portion of BSAI 
Pacific cod reallocated from other sectors. Reallocation amounts to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector have ranged from a low of 1,297 mt in 200911 to high of 7,500 mt in 2014. On average, the less 
than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector has harvested 214 percent of its initial allocation since 2008. The less than 
60’ H&L or pot CV sector has historically received reallocations from the BSAI Pacific cod jig, greater 
than or equal to 60’ H&L CV, greater than or equal to 60’ pot CV, and trawl sectors. However, the jig 
sector has consistently reallocated Pacific cod to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector since 2008. On 
average, reallocations from the jig sector have accounted for 30 percent of the less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector’s final allocation (Table 3-8).  

The less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector receives a reallocation from the jig sector early in the year which 
extends their season to harvest Pacific cod. In the past, NMFS was able to reallocate more BSAI Pacific 
cod TAC to the less than 60’ H&L or pot sector in the spring but this has not occurred in recent years due 
to the increased effort in the BSAI Pacific cod fisheries, coinciding with a decrease in overall allocations 
for all BSAI Pacific cod sectors. Regulations require another reallocation from the jig sector to the less 
than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector on or around September 1 if unused TAC is projected in the jig sector, 
and NMFS has historically been able to open the sector on September 1.  

H&L or pot CVs participating in the sector primarily focus on halibut, groundfish, and salmon using a 
mix of gear types. The length of these vessels allows them to participate in State of Alaska salmon 
fisheries which usually requires vessels to be no longer than 58’ (however, vessels must be 32’ or less to 
participate in Bristol Bay salmon drift gillnet fishery). From 2008 through 2020, the total gross ex-vessel 
revenue for all fisheries for vessels participating in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector has ranged 
from $21.30 million in 2009 to $41.65 million in 2019.12 The gross ex-vessel revenue for Federal BSAI 
Pacific cod has ranged from $3.34 million in 2009 to $8.66 in 2019, and the annual average amount of 
gross ex-vessel revenue for this fishery is $6.76 million during the same time period. However, the IFQ 
fishery has contributed the largest percent of total gross ex-vessel revenue for the sector at 32 percent, 
followed by the Federal BSAI Pacific cod and GHL Pacific cod fisheries at 21 and 20 percent 
respectively (on average). Other fishing activities by the vessel size category include salmon and GOA 
Pacific cod, which in recent years has diminished due to the decline in the GOA Pacific cod biomass and 
the resulting limitations on the GOA Pacific cod fishery.  

Fishing activity in the AI and DHS GHL fisheries by vessels operating in the BSAI Pacific cod less than 
60’ H&L or pot CV sector has increased significantly, both in terms of the number of vessels and the 
amount of GHL Pacific cod that is harvested. Since 2014, the majority of the Pacific cod harvested in 
BSAI GHL fisheries is taken in the DHS pot fishery. Prior to 2014, fishing activity occurred in the AI 
GHL fishery because it was the only GHL fishery in the BSAI. The number of less than 60’ H&L or pot 

 
11 1,297 mt is derived from the 1,600 mt reallocation from the jig sector minus the reallocation of 303 mt from the less 
than 60’ H&L or pot sector to other sectors. 
12 Source: ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; small_boat_div(12-6-21) 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 26 of 77

Council Packet Page 64



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 27 

CVs that also participate in the AI and DHS GHL fisheries has ranged from a low of zero participating 
vessels in 2010 to 35 in 2020, harvesting between 3 mt in 2011 to 14,655 mt in 2018.13  

Provided in Table 3-9 are data on the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector’s ex-vessel price (2020 real $) 
for BSAI Pacific cod, gross ex-vessel revenue for BSAI Pacific cod, and the gross first wholesale value of 
BSAI Pacific cod from 2008 through 2020. The price for BSAI Pacific cod has ranged from a high of 
$.60 in 2008 to a low of $.27 in 2009 and 2015; the average price for BSAI Pacific cod during this time 
period is $.35. Gross first wholesale value has ranged from $5 million in 2009 to $19 million in 2014 and 
2018. 

Table 3-10 shows the total deliveries of Federal BSAI Pacific cod for the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector as well as the total number of ports within the bounds of confidentiality restrictions. The number of 
ports the sector has delivered BSAI Pacific cod to has ranged from a low three in 2014, 2016, and 2017 to 
a high of seven in 2019. Of the delivery ports, Dutch Harbor/Unalaska has routinely received the most 
deliveries from the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector during the analyzed period. 

Table 3-11 provides data on the annual halibut mortality, and red king crab, bairdi, C. opilio, Chinook 
salmon PSC, and non-Chinook salmon PSC for the sector while targeting BSAI Pacific cod from 2008 to 
2021. The pot CVs in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector do not have PSC limits for halibut, crab, or 
salmon. The H&L CVs in this sector, however, share a halibut PSC limit with the greater than or equal to 
60’ H&L CVs. The BSAI H&L CV Pacific cod fishery has never reached the halibut PSC limit for this 
sector. Halibut mortality for the H&L vessels operating in the sector ranges from a low of one mt to a 
high of 7 mt in 2014.  

Table 3-12 provides a count, by community of ownership address and year from 2008 through 2020, for 
vessels participating in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector for all Alaska communities as well as 
Washington and other states (primarily Oregon and California) with any vessels active in the sector. The 
less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector is a geographically diverse fleet; however, 71 vessels (76 percent) 
that participated in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector have a registered ownership address in an 
Alaska community. 

 
13 Source: NMFS Alaska Region Catch Accounting System, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_BLEND_CA; 
sector_landings_tgt_SMPC(5-3-22). 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 27 of 77

Council Packet Page 65



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 28  

Table 3-8 Count of vessels in the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector, the sector’s initial allocation (mt), reallocation amounts from 
other sectors (mt), and final allocation (mt) from 2008 through 2021 

Year 

Vessel 
count for 
target 
fishery 

Initial allocation 
(mt) 

Final allocation 
(mt) 

Final allocation as 
a % of initial 
allocation 

Reallocation (mt) 
from jig sector 

Reallocation (mt) 
from other sectors  

Jig reallocation as a 
percent of final 
allocation  

2008 31 3,033 5,210 172% 2,024 153 39% 
2009 28 3,137 4,434 141% 1,600 -303 36% 
2010 23 2,998 5,509 184% 1,760 751 32% 
2011 22 4,055 9,005 222% 1,970 2,980 22% 
2012 24 4,645 8,880 191% 2,800 1,435 32% 
2013 27 4,627 9,177 198% 3,200 1,350 35% 
2014 21 4,518 12,018 266% 3,073 4,427 26% 
2015 25 4,438 10,630 240% 3,018 3,174 28% 
2016 22 4,476 10,674 238% 3,050 3,148 28% 
2017 24 4,259 9,271 218% 2,886 2,126 31% 
2018 29 3,627 8,748 241% 2,400 2,721 24% 
2019 36 3,214 9,800 305% 1,765 4,486 18% 
2020 41 2,766 4,967 180% 1,927 274 39% 
2021 26 2,222  4,444 200%  1,500  222 34%  

Source: NOAA Fisheries Alaska Region, BSAI Pacific cod reallocations (1995–present) report at 
 https://media.fisheries.noaa.gov/dam-migration/bsai-pcod-reallocation-1995-present.pdf 
NMFS Alaska Region Catch Accounting System, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_BLEND_CA; sector_landings_tgt(11-19-21) 

Table 3-9 Less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector BSAI Pacific cod ex-vessel price ($), BSAI Pacific cod gross ex-vessel revenue (millions $), BSAI 
Pacific cod gross first wholesale value (millions $) from 2008 through 2020 

Year 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Ex-vessel 
price ($ 
per lbs.) 

0.60 0.27 0.29 0.33 0.35 0.28 0.28 0.27 0.28 0.31 0.41 0.44 0.40 

Gross ex-
vessel 
revenue 
(millions $) 

7 3 4 6 7 6 8 6 6 7 8 9 4 

Gross first 
wholesale 
value 

11 5 8 14 14 13 19 14 16 17 19 15 7 

Source: ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; sector_landings_rev(2-18-22) 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 28 of 77

Council Packet Page 66



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 29  

Table 3-10 Total number of less than 60’ H&L or pot CV delivery ports and total number of deliveries of targeted BSAI Pacific cod from 2008 through 
2020 

  2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Number of 
ports 5 5 5 6 4 5 3 4 3 3 5 7 5 
Total deliveries 278 274 203 255 291 293 * 350 * * 279 332 219 

Source: ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; small_boat_proc_div(2-5-22) and small_boat_monthlylandings(2-15-22) 

Table 3-11 Halibut, crab, and salmon prohibited species catch by the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector while targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod from 
2008 through 2021 

Species 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total 
Halibut 
Mortality (mt) 

5 3 2 2 2 4 7 3 1 1 5 2 1 1 30 
 

Red King crab 9,063 957 407 1,535 1,126 18,543 31,626 51,730 457 5,405 45,383 6,515 3,569 52,471 218,361 
C. Bairdi 340,701 151,108 66,444 69,719 30,199 47,632 178,562 127,075 32,396 90,979 28,825 15,025 9,464 2,794 632,668 
C. Opilio PSC 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 47 0 47 
Other C. 
Opilio 

144,745 60,900 38,443 38,443 5,237 3,353 21,198 23,831 1,603 17,573 1,476 1,145 6,090 5,981 125,929 

Chinook 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 
Non-Chinook 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 5 

Source: AKFIN October 2021; sector_PSC(10-1-21)

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 29 of 77

Council Packet Page 67



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 30  

Table 3-12 Vessels <60’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod with H&L or pot gear by community of vessel historic ownership address, 2008 - 2020 

Region Community 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Annual Average 

2009-2020 (#) 
Annual Average 

2009-2020 (%) 
Unique Vessels 

2009-2020 (#) 
Al

as
ka

 

Dutch Harbor/Unalaska 7 6 6 6 5 6 6 5 3 3 3 3 4 4.8 17.90% 14 
Anchor Point 2 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.4 1.42% 2 
Homer 3 2 1 1 2 2 2 3 4 4 2 5 7 2.9 10.80% 16 
Kodiak/Port Lions 7 3 5 5 5 5 4 4 4 5 9 9 8 5.6 20.74% 18 

Homer/Kodiak/Anchor Point 12 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 8 9 11 14 15 8.9 32.95% 36 
Adak 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 0.85% 2 
Cordova 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.28% 1 
Delta Junction 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0.1 0.28% 1 
Douglas 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 0.57% 2 
False Pass 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.1 0.28% 1 
Girdwood 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0.3 1.14% 2 
Haines 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.1 0.28% 1 
Juneau 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 0.6 2.27% 4 
Kenai 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 0.85% 1 
Ketchikan 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.28% 1 
King Cove 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0.2 0.57% 2 
King Salmon 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.28% 1 
Klawock 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 0.57% 1 
Mekoryuk 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.28% 1 
Nikolaevsk 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 0.85% 2 
Nome 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0.1 0.28% 1 
Petersburg 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 2 3 2 3 2 4 1.5 5.40% 6 
Sand Point 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0.2 0.85% 2 
Seward 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0.7 2.56% 1 
Sitka 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0.2 0.57% 2 
Soldotna 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.1 0.28% 1 
Wasilla 0 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1.6 5.97% 2 
Willow 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.28% 1 

Other AK  4 8 6 3 4 6 5 8 7 6 7 12 13 6.8 25.28% 37 
Alaska 23 21 19 15 16 19 17 20 18 18 21 29 32 20.6 76.14% 71 

W
A 

Bellingham 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 0.85% 1 
Dear Park 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0.2 0.85% 1 
Elma 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.28% 1 
Friday Harbor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.1 0.28% 1 
Montesano 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.28% 1 
Mount Vernon 0 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0.8 2.84% 2 
Seattle 4 2 2 5 4 4 3 3 2 3 2 2 3 3.0 11.08% 13 

Washington 6 4 5 6 6 5 4 4 2 3 4 4 5 4.5 16.48% 16  

Other States 2 2 0 0 2 2 1 1 2 3 4 3 4 2.0 7.39% 12  

Grand Total 31 27 24 21 24 26 22 25 22 24 29 36 41 27.1 100.00% 91 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 30 of 77

Council Packet Page 68



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 31 

3.6.2. BSAI Pacific Cod Jig Sector 

The BSAI Pacific cod jig sector includes all vessels (CVs and CPs) using jig gear. Vessels in this sector 
do not need an LLP license in the BSAI if they are less than 60’ LOA and are using no more than five jig 
machines, one line per machine, and 15 hooks per line. Note that all vessels less than or equal to 32’ LOA 
operating in the BS and AI are not subject to LLP requirements.  

The number of jig vessels participating in the sector from 2008 through 2021 has varied, ranging from a 
low of zero participating vessels in 2021 to a high of 15 participating vessels in 2008. The annual average 
level of participation is four vessels. Since 2008, the jig sector has harvested 16 percent of its initial 
allocation (on average). The three years where a higher percent of the initial allocation was utilized were 
2010 at 17 percent, 2011 at 18 percent, and 2012 at 14 percent (Table 3-13). Due to the jig sector’s 
relatively low utilization of its initial allocation, a significant portion has been reallocated to the less than 
60 H&L or pot CV sector early in the year as required by Amendment 85 regulations.  

From 2008 through 2020, the annual average total gross ex-vessel revenue for all fisheries for jig vessels 
is $448,077, and the annual average gross ex-vessel revenue for jig vessels participating in the Federal 
BSAI Pacific cod fishery is $98,541 during the same time period. However, Sate-waters GHL Pacific cod 
has contributed the largest percent of gross ex-vessel revenue for jig vessels at 24 percent, followed by the 
Federal BSAI Pacific cod fishery at 22 percent and IFQ fisheries at 19 percent from 2008 through 2020 
(on average). Other fishing activities by the jig sector include GOA Pacific cod and salmon.14   

Provided in Table 3-14 are data on the jig sector’s ex-vessel price (2020 real $) for BSAI Pacific cod, 
gross ex-vessel revenue for BSAI Pacific cod, and the gross first wholesale value of BSAI Pacific cod 
from 2008 through 2020. The price for BSAI Pacific cod has ranged from a low of $.21 in 2013 to a high 
of $.52 in 2008; the average price for BSAI Pacific cod for the jig sector is $.33 during the same time 
period.  

Overall, the jig sector has had a relatively low level of participation in the BSAI Pacific cod fishery and 
the majority of this sector’s initial allocation—approximately 90 percent – has been reallocated to other 
BSAI Pacific cod sectors (except for 2010 through 2012 where a higher percent of the sector’s initial 
allocation was utilized).  

 
14 Source: ADFG Fish Tickets, data compiled by AFKIN in Comprehensive_FT small_boat_div (2-8-22). Due to data 
confidentiality restrictions, the analysis does not display quantitative diversification data for the BSAI Pacific cod jig 
sector. 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 31 of 77

Council Packet Page 69



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 32  

Table 3-13 Count of vessels in the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector, initial allocation (mt), final allocation (mt), and reallocation amounts (mt) to other BSAI 
Pacific cod sectors from 2008 through 2021 

Year 
Vessel 
count  Initial allocation (mt) Final allocation (mt) Reallocations (mt) Final allocation as a % of 

initial allocation 

2008 15 2,134 180 -2,104 8% 
2009 3 2,207 25 -2,182 1% 
2010 7 2,110 350 -1,760 17% 
2011 11 2,850 510 -2,340 18% 
2012 4 3,263 463 -2,800 14% 
2013 6 3,251 51 -3,200 2% 
2014 2 3,174 101 -3,073 3% 
2015 4 3,118 100 -3,018 3% 
2016 2 3,144 94 -3,050 3% 
2017 1 2,993 13 -2,980 0% 
2018 1 2,549 149 -2,400 6% 
2019 2 2,259 159 -2,100 7% 
2020 3 1,945 18 -1,927 1% 
2021 0 1,565 65 -1,500 4% 

Source: NOAA Fisheries Alaska Region, BSAI Pacific cod reallocations (1995–present) report at 
 https://media.fisheries.noaa.gov/dam-migration/bsai-pcod-reallocation-1995-present.pdf  
NMFS Alaska Region Catch Accounting System, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_BLEND_CA; sector_landings_tgt(11-19-21) 
 
Table 3-14  BSAI Pacific cod jig sector ex-vessel price ($), BSAI Pacific cod gross ex-vessel revenue (millions $), BSAI Pacific cod gross first 

wholesale value (millions $) from 2008 through 2020 

Year 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Ex-vessel 
price ($ per 
lbs.) 

0.52 * 0.28 0.34 0.28 0.21 * 0.27 * * * * * 

Gross ex-
vessel 
revenue ($) 202,302 * 209,779 375,083 51,706 6,752 * 16,691 * * * * * 

Gross first 
wholesale 
value 373,203 * 501,447 847,728 135,494 20,526 * 38,902 * * * * * 

Source: ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; sector_landings_rev(2-18-22) 

  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 32 of 77

Council Packet Page 70



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 33 

 Product Composition and Flow of Pacific Cod 
The following section provides information on the production composition and flow of Pacific cod, and it 
largely draws from the 2019 Wholesale Market Profiles for Alaska Groundfish and Crab Fisheries (AFSC 
2019) and the 2020 Economic Status of the Groundfish Fisheries of Alaska (NMFS 2022).  

Pacific cod is a whitefish found in the coastal Pacific Ocean from Alaska to California with the largest 
concentrations found in the GOA and the Bering Sea. In 2017, Alaska’s Pacific cod accounted for 18 
percent of the total global cod harvest. Pacific cod are highly valued for their mild, white flesh and are 
primarily processed into fillet and head and gutted (H&G) products. Alaska's Pacific cod harvest is 
primarily processed as H&G and is largely purchased by China, Japan, and Europe for further processing 
including the production of salt cod. Other final cod products include fillet blocks, individually frozen 
fillets, or fish sticks which are either individually quick-frozen or processed into shatterpack – layered 
frozen fillets that separate individually when hit against a hard surface—or layer pack. There is a 
significant shore-based production of Alaska’s Pacific cod fillets. Single-frozen Alaska cod fillets are a 
high-value product destined primarily for domestic markets. The final markets include upscale dining 
establishments, institutional food service, quick-service restaurants, retail fish markets, grocery stores, 
and overseas markets (AFSC 2019).  

H&L or pot vessels that operate in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector do not process Pacific cod at-
sea, instead delivering to floating or shore-based processors. Pacific cod caught by this sector is processed 
into fillets that are either shatterpack or individually quick frozen. In the past, vessels operating in this 
sector had access to fresh markets where product was packaged whole and fresh before being air freighted 
to Korea (H&L/pot fisherman, personal communication).  

In 2017, Alaska processors produced 136,990 mt of Pacific cod products, valued at $510.2 million. 
Production volume in 2017 was the lowest since 2010, which mirrors trends of declining TAC for both 
the GOA and BSAI. Despite lower volumes, 2017 production value rose to a 12-year high of $510 million 
due to an exceptionally strong market. Price increases are generally understood to be the result of strong 
demand combined with a reduction in Pacific and Atlantic cod harvest volume, as well as a reduction in 
the haddock quota in the Barents Sea. In 2017, Alaska Pacific cod H&G product accounted for 72 percent 
of production volume (98,489 mt) in 2017, and 67 percent of first wholesale value ($341 million). Fillets 
accounted for 12 percent by wholesale volume (16,538 mt) and 25 percent of first wholesale value ($127 
million). Other products (e.g., roe, milt, fish meal) collectively made-up 16 percent of wholesale volume 
with 21,963 mt valued at $42.5 million (AFSC 2019). 

The ex-vessel prices for H&G Pacific cod caught and processed by H&L and pot gear vessels have been 
consistently higher than the prices received by trawl vessels (NMFS 2022, 48). According to an industry 
representative, this price difference occurs because fish caught by H&L gear can be bled while still alive, 
which results in a better color fish, and there is less skin damage and scale loss than if they are caught in 
nets. An industry representative also confirmed that it is common for BSAI Pacific cod jig operations to 
bleed cod while still alive, resulting in a high-quality product.   

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 33 of 77

Council Packet Page 71



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 34 

4. Analysis of Impacts 
 Methods and Approach for Impact Analysis 

The impact analysis in this document is designed to meet the requirements of E.O. 12866, which 
necessitates an RIR to evaluate the costs and benefits of the alternatives including both quantifiable and 
qualitative considerations. Additionally, the analysis should provide information for decision makers “to 
maximize net benefits (including potential economic, environment, public health and safety, and other 
advantages; distributive impacts; and equity), unless a statute requires another regulatory approach.”   

The analysis is supported by recent fisheries data, analyses, and reference documents with the goal of 
using the best scientific information available (National Standard 2) to inform the Council’s decision-
making. Chapter 4 contains the analysis of economic and social impacts comparing the No Action 
Alternative 1 to the Action Alternative 2. Secondary data include detailed information on the dynamics of 
the BSAI Pacific cod fishery, market, and communities that are associated with the impacted sectors by 
way of harvesting or processing. In particular, the description of fisheries (Chapter 3) and the Analysis of 
Impacts (Chapter 4) draw from: 

Annual Community Engagement and Participation Overview (ACEPO) (Wise et al., 2021). 

ACEPO is an annual report that provides an overview of communities that are substantially involved with 
harvesting or processing groundfish or crab in Alaska. https://www.npfmc.org/wp-
content/PDFdocuments/Publications/ACEPO_ESSR_FY21.pdf  

Amendment 85 (72 FR 50788, September 2007; effective January 1, 2008). 

Amendment 85 created the existing sector allocations for non-Community Development Quota (CDQ) 
program BSAI Pacific cod. (In 2014 the BSAI Pacific cod stock was split into separate BS and AI stocks 
for the purposes of setting OFL and ABC, but sector allocations continue to be determined based on the 
summed total of BS and AI TACs, after deduction of 10.7% for CDQ allocation. Sector allocations may 
be fished in either the BS or AI, subject only to the sector’s overall harvest limit.) Amendment 85 also 
established NMFS’s ability to make in-season TAC reallocations (rollovers) between sectors. 

BSAI Pacific cod Allocation Review (NPFMC 2019).  

The BSAI Pacific cod allocation review analyzed the BSAI Pacific cod allocations established under 
Amendment 85 to ensure the optimal yield is being achieved under current conditions. The review can be 
found here: https://www.npfmc.org/wp-
content/PDFdocuments/catch_shares/Pcod/BSAIPcodAllocationReview2019.pdf  

Endangered Species Act Section 7 Biological Opinion: Authorization of the Alaska groundfish 
fisheries under the proposed revised Stellar Sea Lion Protection Measures (NMFS 2014).  

The Endangered Species Act Section 7 Consultation Biological Opinion considered the action proposed 
by NMFS Alaska Region Sustainable Fisheries Division (SFD) to modify the federal groundfish fisheries 
and State of Alaska parallel groundfish fisheries for Atka mackerel, Pacific cod, and pollock in the 
Aleutian Islands subarea. This consultation also considers proposed research to better understand the 
potential effects of these fisheries on Stellar sea lions and on the efficacy of conserving prey in areas 
closed to fishing. The Biological Opinion can be found here: 
https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/17196  

Local Knowledge, Traditional Knowledge, and Subsistence Search Engine. 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 34 of 77

Council Packet Page 72



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 35 

When preparing this analysis, staff used the Local Knowledge, Traditional Knowledge, and Subsistence 
(LKTKS) search engine developed by the LKTKS Taskforce to look for action-specific sources of 
information containing LK and TK. The search engine contains scientific articles in peer-reviewed 
journals, white papers, archival references, and other sources of information related to LK, TK, the social 
science of LK and TK, and subsistence information. No results were returned specific to LK from the 
affected BSAI Pacific cod sectors or TK related to BSAI Pacific cod more broadly. Some results were 
returned for subsistence which provided important contextual information but the sources were not widely 
used in the analysis, because the areas of academic study were not relevant to the communities that are 
engaged in or dependent on the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors (see 
Section 4.5). Additionally, because the proposed action alternative (Alternative 2) would redefine two 
current commercial BSAI Pacific cod sectors, there are no anticipated direct or indirect impacts on the 
subsistence harvest, sharing or use of BSAI Pacific cod. The search engine can be found here: 
https://www.npfmc.org/lktks_information/  

Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation (SAFE) Report for the Groundfish Fisheries of the Gulf 
of Alaska and Bering Sea/Aleutian Islands Area: Economic Status of the Groundfish Fisheries off 
Alaska (NMFS 2020).  

The Economic SAFE report contains economic data and information about the Federal groundfish 
fisheries in the Gulf of Alaska and the BSAI. This report is published annually as an appendix to the 
Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation reports to provide data on catch, discards, prohibited species 
catch, ex-vessel and first-wholesale production and value. The 2020 Economic SAFE is available here: 
https://meetings.npfmc.org/CommentReview/DownloadFile?p=bc83c1f0-2cc5-49a4-850c-
ee822082b6be.pdf&fileName=D7%20Groundfish%20Economic%20SAFE.pdf  

Wholesale Market Profiles for Alaska Groundfish and Crab Fisheries (AFSC 2019).  

This report evaluates a series of comprehensive wholesale market profiles for Federally managed 
groundfish and crab species caught in Alaska commercial fisheries. The report is available here: 
http://www.mcdowellgroup.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/wholesale-market-profiles-for-alaska-
groundfish-and-crab-fisheries-noaa.pdf.  

For this analysis, the reference information, tables, and figures largely use quantitative harvest, 
harvesting vessel, value, and processor activity from 2008 through 2021. 2008 through 2021 is time 
period in which the current BSAI Pacific cod allocations under Amendment 85 have been 
implemented. These fishery data were obtained through the Alaska Fishery Information Network 
(AKFIN). AKFIN has access to a variety of data sources including the catch accounting system 
(CAS) data which is the best available estimate of total catch in the groundfish fisheries off Alaska. 
In 2003, NMFS changed the methodologies used to determine catch estimates from the NMFS 
blend database (1995 through 2002) to the CAS (2003 through present). Currently, the CAS relies 
on data derived from a mixture of production and observer/electronic monitoring reports as the 
basis of the total catch estimates.  

AKFIN also has access to Commercial Fisheries Entry Commission (CFEC) Fish Ticket data, and 
Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADFG) Commercial Operators Annual Report (COAR) 
data, from which AKFIN can supply catch and discard records, as well as estimates of gross ex-
vessel and first wholesale revenues. eLandings, which houses Fish Ticket data, was implemented in 
2009. Prior to 2009, paper Fish Tickets were used. Paper Fish Tickets did not obtain consistent 
reporting for the management program codes which is how AKFIN determines participation in 
Federal fisheries.  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 35 of 77

Council Packet Page 73



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 36 

The analysis uses vessel LOA data reported to the CFEC because it is considered the most up to date data 
source for length. A vessel’s length is typically modified when it changes ownership or when it needs 
modifications. It is important to note it is possible that the reported United States Coast Guard (USCG) 
Documented Length would be different for vessels operating in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. 
However, the United States Coast Guard (USCG) does not measure vessels on an annual basis and in 
some instances may not have measured a vessel for an extended period (see Chapter 5 for further analysis 
on LOA considerations). 

Effort was made to provide the most relevant fisheries data while adhering to confidentiality constraints. 
The BSAI Pacific cod jig sector has had a relatively low level of participation in recent years, and the 
majority of information for the jig sector (i.e., landings, revenue, port delivery, etc.) is confidential. 
Additionally, there are five unique H&L or pot CVs that are 56’ LOA that have participated in the Federal 
BSAI Pacific cod fishery (2008-2021). On average, two vessels that are 56’ LOA have participated in the 
BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector each year. For this reason, data are often 
aggregated so that H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ (option 2) are analyzed in the new BSAI 
Pacific cod small vessel sector to provide the best available information for all H&L or pot CVs less than 
or equal to 56’ within the bounds of confidentiality.  

  Alternative 1, Status Quo  
Under Alternative 1, no action, the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors, their 
allocation, and the hierarchy of reallocations of BSAI Pacific cod among all sectors currently set in 
Federal regulations at §679.20(a)(7)(iii) would remain unchanged as described in Chapter 3 and the 
corresponding subsections of this RIR.  

Figure 4-1 reports the Federal BSAI Pacific cod landings (mt) for H&L and pot CVs greater than 56’ 
LOA compared to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector’s final allocation (mt) from 2008 through 
2021. The annual amount (mt) of Federal BSAI Pacific cod harvested by H&L or pot CVs greater than 
56’ LOA has ranged from a low of 3,208 mt in 2021 to a high of 9,329 mt in 2014. H&L or pot CVs 
greater than 56’ LOA have harvested 83 percent of the sector’s final allocation on average from 2008 
through 2021. Smaller vessels operating in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector could be constrained 
by the larger H&L or pot CVs that have historically harvested the majority of the sector’s final allocation. 
However, the most recent five years for which data are available (2017-2021) show H&L or pot CVs 
greater than 56’ LOA have harvested 79 percent of the sector’s final allocation on average. As such, it 
does not appear that H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ are harvesting a larger portion of the 
sector’s final allocation over time.  

Under the status quo, there are several factors likely contributing to a more competitive fishery for the 
less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. As described in Chapter 3, the sector receives their entire allocation 
on January 1 each year because CVs less than 60’ are not subject to the seasonal restrictions that apply to 
other vessels, and vessels that participate in the sector compete for their share of the allocated TAC on an 
annual basis. All BSAI Pacific cod sector’s allocation of BSAI Pacific cod TAC fluctuates with 
abundance, and the amount of BSAI Pacific cod TAC that is available has declined every year since 2012, 
until 2022 (for reference, see Table 3-1). The less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector has routinely harvested 
their entire allocation of BSAI Pacific cod in addition to reallocations from other sectors including the 
BSAI Pacific cod jig, greater than or equal to 60’ H&L, greater than or equal to 60’ pot CV, and trawl 
sectors; although it is the jig sector that has consistently contributed reallocated Pacific cod. At the same 
time, fishing activity in the BSAI Pacific cod less 60’ H&L or pot CV sector has increased and there has 
been a gradual shortening of this sector’s season since 2008.  

Under Alternative 1, there are no anticipated impacts of the status quo on the BSAI Pacific cod jig 
sector or H&L and pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA. A potential impact of Alternative 1 for H&L or pot 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 36 of 77

Council Packet Page 74



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 37 

CVs less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA is that they would continue to compete with larger 
vessels in their sector that have additional capacity and efficiencies. However, the overall declining BSAI 
Pacific cod TAC in recent years (except for 2022), increased fishing activity, and a relative shortening of 
the fishing season suggest the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector is becoming more competitive 
regardless of the vessel’s length.  

 

Figure 4-1 BSAI Pacific cod landings (mt) for H&L and pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA compared to the less 
than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector's final allocation from 2008 through 2021 

Source: NMFS Alaska Region Catch Accounting System, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_BLEND_CA; 
sector_landings_tgt(11-19-21) 

 Alternative 2, Redefine the Current BSAI Pacific Jig Sector 
Alternative 2 would redefine the Federal BSAI Pacific cod jig and less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sectors. 
The BSAI Pacific cod jig sector would be redefined as the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector 
which would include H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA (option 1 and 2, 
respectively) and jig CVs and CPs. The current less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector would be redefined to 
exclude H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA.  

Alternative 2 would allow the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector to harvest BSAI Pacific cod from 
the jig sector’s 1.4 percent allocation. The redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector would harvest 
BSAI Pacific cod from the current less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector’s 2 percent allocation. Eligibility 
for either sector – the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector or the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector– would be based on a vessel’s length and gear type, meaning a H&L or pot vessel could not 
opt into one sector or another. Alternative 2 does not impact the definition or allocation for any other 
BSAI Pacific cod sector.   

Federally permitted H&L or pot CVs eligible for a new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector or the 
redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector would still be required to have a Federal LLP license under 
Alternative 2. Vessels in the less than 60’ H&L or pot sector need a non-trawl LLP to participate in the 
Federal fisheries (unless exempt), but they are exempt from the Pacific cod endorsement on their LLP, see 
§ 679.4(k)(9)(iv)(B). 

4.3.1. Historical Participation  

Since 2008, 33 unique vessels have participated in the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector. The jig sector has had 
a relatively low level of participation in the fishery in recent years: zero jig vessel participated in the 
Federal fishery in 2021, three vessels participated in 2020, and two vessels in 2019 (see Table 3-13 

4,
18

8

4,
13

0

52
19

7,
48

0

8,
12

9

8,
39

6

9,
32

9

8,
41

5

8,
94

4

8,
12

2

7,
00

5

6,
82

2

3,
62

5

3,
20

85,
21

0

4,
43

4

5,
50

9

9,
00

5

8,
88

0

9,
17

7

12
,0

18

10
,6

30

10
,6

74

9,
27

1

8,
74

8

9,
80

0

4,
96

7

4,
44

4

2 0 0 8 2 0 0 9 2 0 1 0 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 2 2 0 1 3 2 0 1 4 2 0 1 5 2 0 1 6 2 0 1 7 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 1

BSAI Pacific cod landings (mt) H&L  or pot CV greater than 56' LOA

Less than 60' H&L  or pot CV sector final allocation (mt)

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 37 of 77

Council Packet Page 75



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 38 

above). There is one jig vessel that has regularly participated (nine out of fourteen years from 2008 
through 2021) in the Federal BSAI Pacific cod fishery and would be most impacted by Alternative 2.   

Since 2008, 94 unique vessels have participated in the Federal BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector. Of these 94 vessels, 61 are greater than 56’ LOA, five are equal to 56’ LOA, and 28 are less 
than 55’ LOA. However, the majority of vessels that participate in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector are 58’ LOA as there are 57 unique vessels that are 58’ LOA that have participated in this sector 
since 2008.  

Redefining the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors would impact the potential number of 
participants for both sectors. Table 4-1 uses historical data to depict the count of vessels that would have 
been in the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector and the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector from 2008 through 2021 under option 1 and option 2, had these sectors existed. This shows the 
potential level of participation the Council and NMFS could expect in these sectors. Under option 1, the 
BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector would have had an average of nine vessels (H&L, pot, and jig gear) 
participating from 2008 through 2021. The average number of vessels in the BSAI Pacific cod small 
vessel sector increases to 12 under option 2. The slight variation in participation between the options is 
because there are five vessels that are 56’ LOA that have participated in the Federal BSAI Pacific cod 
fishery since 2008 and the average level of participation for this LOA is two vessels. 

 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 38 of 77

Council Packet Page 76



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 39  

 

Table 4-1 Count of vessels that would have been eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector and the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector under option 1 and option 2 from 2008 through 2021 

 
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Annual 
Average 
Count 

Option 1 

Small vessel 
sector  
(jig + ≤ 55’ 
H&L /pot 
CV) 

22 12 11 17 10 13 7 8 4 2 4 7 10 2 9 

Redefined 
<60' sector 
(≥56’ H&L 
/pot CV) 

21 19 19 16 18 20 16 21 20 22 26 31 34 24 22 

Option 2 

Small vessel 
sector (jig + 
≤ 56’ 
H&L/pot CV) 

24 15 13 18 11 15 9 11 7 5 7 11 13 5 12 

Redefined 
<60' sector 
(≥57’ 
H&L/pot CV) 

19 16 17 15 17 18 14 18 17 19 23 27 31 21 19 

Source: NMFS Alaska Region Catch Accounting System, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_BLEND_CA; sector_landings_tgt(11-19-21)

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 39 of 77

Council Packet Page 77



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 40 

4.3.2. Harvest Information 

Figure 4-2 compares the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s initial allocation and the targeted landings of 
Federal BSAI Pacific cod of vessels (H&L, pot, and jig) that would be eligible for the new BSAI Pacific 
cod small vessel sector under option 1 and 2 (amounts are mt). Due to confidentiality restrictions the 
landings amount (mt) cannot be displayed. These historical catch accounting data show there would have 
been enough TAC in the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s 1.4 percent allocation to support the new 
BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector in every year from 2008 through 2021 under option 1 and 2.  

It is the Council’s intent that under Alternative 2 the new BSAI small vessel sector would have TAC 
apportioned on a trimester basis (Jan 1—Apr 30 (60%); Apr 30 –Aug 31 (20%), and Aug 31—Dec 31 
(20%)).15 It is not possible to quantitatively display the historical BSAI Pacific cod landings (mt) data for 
vessels that would be eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector due to confidentiality 
restrictions. However, it is generally anticipated there would be enough BSAI Pacific cod apportioned in 
each trimester to support a new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector under option 1 and option 2. In the 
most recent five years for which data are available (2017-2021), there would have been enough BSAI 
Pacific cod apportioned in each trimester to support a new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector under 
option 1 and every trimester except for the 2019 C season under option 2.  

 
Figure 4-2 Comparison of BSAI Pacific cod jig sector initial allocation (mt) and the target landings (mt) of 

jig, H&L, and pot vessels that would be eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector 
under option 1 and 2 from 2008 through 2021 

Source: NMFS Alaska Region Catch Accounting System, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_BLEND_CA; 
sector_landings_tgt(11-19-21) 
  

 
15 Changing the jig sector’s seasonal allocation of BSAI Pacific cod TAC would require a Section 7 Consultation for 
Stellar sea lions because that management decision would change the way TAC is issued seasonally. Seasonal 
apportionments for BSAI Pacific cod fisheries were the result of the Steller sea lion mitigation measures that aim to 
keep important prey species from being harvested in a condensed time when females might need ready access to 
prey during pup rearing, since longer foraging trips would lead to less provisioning of pups on the rookeries. The jig 
sector is primarily a nearshore fishery that occur closer to the rookeries. 

2 0 0 8 2 0 0 9 2 0 1 0 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 2 2 0 1 3 2 0 1 4 2 0 1 5 2 0 1 6 2 0 1 7 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 1

BSAI Pacific cod jig sector initial allocation (mt)

BSAI Pacific cod landings (mt) under option 1 (jig + ≤ 55’ H&L/pot CV)

BSAI Pacific cod landings (mt) under option 2 (jig + ≤ 56’ H&L/pot CV)

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 40 of 77

Council Packet Page 78



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 41 

4.3.3. Reallocation Considerations 

NMFS typically reallocates projected unused BSAI Pacific cod jig TAC to the less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector between January and March to ensure this sector does not experience a disruption of fishing 
between their initial allocation and the reallocation. NMFS tries to reallocate projected amounts of 
unharvested Pacific cod to sectors that may be able to harvest these amounts, but NMFS tries not to 
reallocate Pacific cod from a sector that may have the capacity to catch their allocation. To evaluate a 
sector’s capacity, NMFS must first determine a sector’s remaining Pacific cod allocation and whether the 
sector could harvest the remaining amount. Making these determinations about capacity requires 
communication with vessel operators and processors. If any vessel operator or processor indicates that 
they will remain active or become active in the fishery before the end of the season or the year, NMFS 
will likely be more conservative in leaving amounts of Pacific cod available for that sector.  

Under Alternative 2, it is uncertain if or when NMFS would know whether any TAC would be available 
from the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector to reallocate to the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector. Under Alternative 2, option 1 and 2, it is anticipated that smaller H&L or pot CVs eligible for 
the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector would have an opportunity to harvest more Pacific cod in 
the A season and these vessels could fully utilize the jig sector’s A season allowance. It is also possible 
that the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector would not fully utilize the jig sector’s A season 
allowance, but because smaller H&L or pot CVs could extend their fishing season early in the year, it 
would be uncertain when NMFS would be able to project whether any TAC would be available from the 
new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector to reallocate to the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector.  

In a scenario where there was enough BSAI Pacific cod remaining in the new BSAI Pacific cod small 
vessel sector that could be reallocated to the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector, NMFS might 
not have enough information to confidently make that reallocation until March or April. There is no 
recent history where the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector has been open continuously from January 1 
– April 30. It is unclear whether the larger H&L or pot CVs in the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector would be available to fish BSAI Pacific cod at that time or if there would be enough BSAI Pacific 
cod to reallocate to allow for a re-opening. If there was only a small amount to reallocate, and the 
redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector was already closed, it is possible that the fishery could not 
be re-opened even if vessels were available to participate due to the small amount of BSAI Pacific cod 
that would be available.  However, if a small amount of Pacific cod was available to reallocate while the 
redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector was still open, the small amount could rollover into the 
larger allocation and the sector could continue to fish. 

Under Alternative 2, the Council would need to consider whether an unused portion of a seasonal 
allowance in the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector would be reallocated to the redefined less than 
60’ H&L or pot CV sector or whether it would rollover to the small vessel sector’s next fishing season. 
The current regulations at 679.20(a)(7)(iv)(B) and (C) allow any unused portion of the seasonal allowance 
from any sector except the jig sector to be rolled over to that sector’s next season during the current 
fishing year unless the Regional Administrator determines that sector would be unable to harvest its 
allocation. For the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector, the Regional Administrator will reallocate any projected 
unused portion of a seasonal allowance to the less than 60’ H&L or pot vessel sector. Any unused C 
seasonal allowance of Pacific cod must be reallocated to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector on or 
near September 1. If the Council were to choose to rollover an unused portion of a seasonal allowance in 
the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector, NMFS does not anticipate any issues with the unused 
portion of a seasonal allowance in the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector being rolled over to the 
next fishing season. However, in a year where the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector would not 
have the capacity to harvest the allocation, it is possible that the timing of a reallocation to the larger H&L 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 41 of 77

Council Packet Page 79



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 42 

or pot vessels in the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector would not occur at a time when they 
would be able to fish it.  

A significant portion of BSAI Pacific cod from the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s initial allocation has 
historically been reallocated from the jig sector to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector on an annual 
basis. Figure 4-3 compares the total amount (mt) of BSAI Pacific cod that has been reallocated from the 
jig sector to all BSAI Pacific cod sectors and the amount (mt) that has historically been reallocated to the 
less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector (2008 through 2021). The amount of BSAI Pacific cod jig sector 
TAC that has historically been reallocated to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector has ranged from a 
low of 1,500 mt to 3,200 mt. In nine out of fourteen years, 100 percent of the BSAI Pacific cod jig 
sector’s reallocation has been reallocated to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. From 2008 through 
2021, 95 percent of the BSAI Pacific cod jig’s initial allocation that has been reallocated to the less than 
60’ H&L or pot CV sector (on average).  

Historically common patterns of annual reallocations from the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector to the less than 
60’ H&L or pot CV sector, which has occurred every year since 2008, are likely to be impacted under 
Alternative 2. This would represent a change in historical patterns of use between sectors as seen over the 
2008-2021 period, which could result in some inefficiencies as more BSAI Pacific cod is harvested by 
smaller H&L or pot CVs relative to the more efficient larger H&L or pot vessels. While there would be 
fewer vessels participating in the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector under Alternative 2, 
because vessels less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA would be excluded, the relative contribution 
of the jig sector’s reallocation (mt) is greater than the landings (mt) of the smaller H&L or pot CVs in all 
but one year (2019) from 2008 through 2021 (see Table 4-2). Larger H&L or pot CVs that remain in the 
less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector could fish at a faster pace as there would be less BSAI Pacific cod 
TAC available early in the year when these vessels target BSAI Pacific cod in the Federal fishery. This 
could have cumulative effects on these vessel’s safety, and it is more challenging for NMFS to 
conservatively manage a fishery with smaller quotas and fished at a faster pace.   

Therefore, under Alternative 2, there are potential incidental allocative effects that would impact 
H&L or pot CVs that would remain in the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector under 
option 1 and option 2. These incidental allocative effects could occur under option 1 and option 2 and 
are more likely to occur under option 2 because 56’ H&L or pot CVs would be eligible for the new BSAI 
Pacific cod small vessel sector. These effects could occur: a) if a new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel 
sector harvests the entire 1.4 percent allocation, a scenario that is more likely to occur under option 2; b) a 
scenario where the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector does not harvest all of its initial allocation 
but there is either too little TAC to reallocate to the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector or the 
reallocation would occur at a time in the year when vessels are not able to fish; c) the overall BSAI 
Pacific cod biomass declines resulting in a reduction of the available BSAI Pacific cod TAC (a scenario 
which would impact all Amendment 85 sectors); d) more vessels participate in either the new BSAI 
Pacific cod small vessel sector or the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector over time. 

  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 42 of 77

Council Packet Page 80



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 43 

 
Figure 4-3 Comparison of the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s total reallocation amount (mt) to all BSAI Pacific 

cod sectors and the reallocation amount (mt) to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector from 
2008 through 2021  

Source: NOAA Fisheries Alaska Region, BSAI Pacific cod reallocations (1995–present) report 
at https://media.fisheries.noaa.gov/dam-migration/bsai-pcod-reallocation-1995-present.pdf 
 
Table 4-2 Comparison of BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector final allocation (mt), the 

target landings (mt) of BSAI Pacific cod by H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA, and 
the jig sector’s reallocation amount (mt) from 2008 through 2021 

Year BSAI Pacific cod 
<60' H&L/pot CV 

sector final 
allocation (mt) 

≤56' H&L/ pot 
CV BSAI Pacific 
cod landings (mt) 

BSAI Pacific cod 
jig reallocation 

(mt) to <60' 
H&L/pot CV 

sector 

2008 5,210 926 2,024 

2009 4,434 519 1,600 

2010 5,509 299 1,760 

2011 9,005 546 1,970 

2012 8,880 748 2,800 

2013 9,177 1,083 3,200 

2014 12,018 3,119 3,073 

2015 10,630 1,629 3,018 

2016 10,674 1,357 3,050 

2017 9,271 1,828 2,886 

2018 8,748 1,553 2,400 

2019 9,800 2,049 1,765 

2020 4,967 1,193 1,927 

2021 4,444 692 1,500 

Source: ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT

2,
10

4

2,
18

2

1,
76

0

2,
34

0 2,
80

0 3,
20

0

3,
07

3

3,
01

8

3,
05

0

2,
98

0

2,
40

0

2,
10

0

1,
92

7

1,
50

02,
02

4

1,
60

0

1,
76

0

1,
97

0

2,
80

0 3,
20

0

3,
07

3

3,
01

8

3,
05

0

2,
88

6

2,
40

0

1,
76

5

1,
92

7

15
00

2 0 0 8 2 0 0 9 2 0 1 0 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 2 2 0 1 3 2 0 1 4 2 0 1 5 2 0 1 6 2 0 1 7 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 1

BSAI Pacific cod jig sector total  reallocation amount (mt)

BSAI Pacific cod jig sector reallocation amount (mt) to the less than 60' H&L or pot CV sector

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 43 of 77

Council Packet Page 81



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 44 

4.3.4. Diversification and Revenue Information   

There is uncertainty about the magnitude of the incidental allocative effects that could occur under 
Alternative 2. To provide more clarity about the fishing activities of the H&L or pot CVs that could be 
impacted under Alternative 2, the following sections provide revenue diversification data for H&L or pot 
CVs greater than 56’, as well as an estimate of the potential revenue impacts for H&L or pot CVs greater 
than 56’ LOA and for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA. Due to data confidentiality 
restrictions, the analysis groups all H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA (i.e., option 1 and 2) 
together. 

4.3.4.1. H&L or pot CVs Greater Than 56’ LOA 

Table 4-3 reports revenue diversification data for the larger H&L or pot CVs that would remain in the 
redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. From 2008 through 2020, H&L or pot CV’s greater than 
56’ LOA total gross ex-vessel revenue for all fisheries has ranged from a low of $17.57 million in 2009 to 
a high of $33.49 million in 2019. The annual average total gross ex-vessel revenue from all fisheries for 
H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA is $26.61 million. The gross ex-vessel revenue for Federal BSAI 
Pacific cod for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA has ranged from a low of $2.95 million in 2009 to 
a high of $6.93 in 2012. The annual average gross ex-vessel revenue from Federal BSAI Pacific cod for 
these vessels is $5.63 million during the same time period. On average, the IFQ fisheries have contributed 
the largest portion of total gross ex-vessel revenue for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA at 29 
percent, followed by the Federal BSAI Pacific cod and GHL fisheries (21 and 20 percent, respectively). 
At the vessel level, Federal BSAI Pacific cod has accounted for 50 percent or more of the total gross ex-
vessel revenue for 19 of these vessels, and for 90 percent or more of the total gross ex-vessel revenue for 
six of these vessels (on average). Other fishing activities by H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ include 
salmon, CDQ, and the GOA Pacific cod, which in recent years has diminished significantly due to the 
decline in the GOA Pacific cod biomass and the resulting limitations on the GOA Pacific cod directed 
fishing. 

Table 4-4 provides data on the gross ex-vessel revenue H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ have earned 
from the Federal BSAI Pacific cod fishery in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector, and an estimate of 
the revenue these vessels received from the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s reallocation to the less than 60’ 
H&L or pot CV sector. An important caveat to this data is that NMFS cannot track the landings that are 
derived from a sector’s initial allocation or subsequent reallocations. Therefore, it is not possible to 
precisely estimate the potential revenue impact for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ or the potential 
revenue opportunity for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ under Alternative 2.  

In a scenario described above where NMFS could not maintain the historically common patterns of 
reallocations from the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector, the 
incidental allocative effects would negatively impact H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ that remain in the 
redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. Annual jig reallocations to the less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector have ranged from 1,600 mt to 3,200 mt, accounting for an average of 30 percent of the sector’s 
final allocation (2008-2020). The maximum estimated revenue impact for H&L or pot CVs greater than 
56’ LOA assumes the amount of BSAI Pacific cod reallocated from the jig sector to the less than 60’ 
H&L or pot CV sector has been fully utilized in every year, and that it has been fully utilized by H&L or 
pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA. This approach provides the upper bound of the potential revenue impact 
for these vessels. Based on these assumptions, the maximum estimated revenue derived from the BSAI 
Pacific cod jig sector’s reallocation for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ ranges from $1.06 million to 
$2.58 million (2020 real $). The estimated maximum annual average gross ex-vessel revenue impact for 
H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA is $1.66 million.  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 44 of 77

Council Packet Page 82



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 45 

This is likely an over-estimate because H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA do not utilize 100 percent 
of the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector’s final allocation. From 2008 through 2020, H&L or pot CVs 
greater than 56’ LOA have utilized approximately 85 percent of their sector’s final allocation (on 
average). When accounting for the portion of the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV’s allocation that is 
harvested by vessels greater than 56’ LOA, the estimated annual average gross ex-vessel revenue impact 
for these vessels is $1.41 million. However, these impacts are expected to be partially mitigated by the 
ability of H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA to fully utilize the current less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector’s 2 percent allocation without competition from smaller vessels that would be excluded from the 
redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. When the BSAI Pacific cod landings (mt) from H&L or 
pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA and the associated gross ex-vessel revenue are also considered, the 
estimated annual average gross ex-vessel revenue impact for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ 
LOA is a decrease of $1.26 million, which is 22 percent of these vessel’s annual average total gross 
ex-vessel revenue for Federal BSAI Pacific cod (on average). It does not appear H&L or pot CVs 
greater than 56’ would be able to easily compensate for the anticipated loss of historically common 
reallocations of BSAI Pacific cod from the jig sector. 

4.3.4.2.  H&L or pot CVs Less Than or Equal to 56’ LOA 

From 2008 through 2020, the total gross ex-vessel revenue for all fisheries for H&L or pot CVs less than 
or equal to 56’ LOA has ranged from $2.67 million in 2013 to $8.16 million in 2019. The IFQ fishery 
contributed the largest source of gross ex-vessel revenue for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’, 
ranging from approximately $596,502 in 2008 to $5.15 million in 2011. On average, the IFQ fishery has 
accounted for approximately 52 percent of the total gross ex-vessel revenue for H&L or pot CVs less than 
or equal to 56’ LOA from 2008 through 2020, followed by the Federal BSAI Pacific cod and GHL 
fisheries at 22 and 16 percent, respectively. At the vessel level, Federal BSAI Pacific cod accounts for 50 
percent of the total gross ex-vessel revenue for five H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA and 
there is one 56’ vessel that depends on the Federal BSAI Pacific cod fishery for the majority of its gross 
ex-vessel revenue during the same time period. Other primary fishing activities by these smaller H&L or 
pot CVs include salmon, CDQ, and the GOA Pacific cod, although these fisheries have contributed, on 
average, 2 to 3 percent of these vessel’s total gross ex-vessel revenues since 2008. 

Table 4-5 provides data on the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s initial allocation (mt), H&L or pot CVs less 
than or equal to 56’ BSAI Pacific cod landings (mt), and the H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ 
gross ex-vessel revenue from Federal BSAI Pacific cod from 2008 through 2020 to estimate the potential 
maximum additional revenue opportunity for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA under 
Alternative 2. The estimated maximum additional revenue opportunity for H&L or pot CVs less than 56’ 
LOA assumes these vessels could fully utilize the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s 1.4 percent allocation. 
This approach provides the upper bound of the estimated potential revenue opportunity. 

The BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s initial allocation has ranged from a low of 1,945 mt in 2020 to a high of 
3,263 mt in 2012. The Federal BSAI Pacific cod landings of less than or equal to 56’ H&L or pot CVs has 
ranged from a low of 299 mt in 2010 to a high of 3,119 mt in 2014. Based on the above assumption, the 
estimated maximum additional revenue opportunity for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA 
under Alternative 2 ranges from $38,455 to $1.97 million (2020 real $). The estimated maximum annual 
average additional revenue opportunity for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA is $1.87 
million. A more accurate estimate considers historical levels of participation from BSAI Pacific cod jig 
sector vessels and their associated revenue from the fishery. While revenue information for jig vessels 
cannot be quantitatively displayed due to confidentiality restrictions, when the historical participation of 
BSAI Pacific cod jig sector vessels is accounted for, the annual average additional revenue 
opportunity for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA is $1.08 million under Alternative 2.  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 45 of 77

Council Packet Page 83



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 46 

However, there is uncertainty about the actual annual additional revenue opportunity for smaller H&L or 
pot CVs that would be eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector. It is uncertain whether 
H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ and jig vessels have the capacity to fully utilize the BSAI 
Pacific cod jig sector’s initial allocation in the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector (see Figure 4-2). 
Because there is no history of smaller H&L or pot CVs fishing behavior in a new BSAI Pacific cod 
sector, staff cannot accurately predict fishing effort. Additionally, the Council is considering a suboption 
(analyzed in Section 4.3.6 below) that would reserve BSAI Pacific cod TAC apportioned in the new BSAI 
Pacific cod small vessel sector’s B season for harvest by jig vessels only. The B season allowance would 
be 20 percent of the sector’s initial allocation. Historical participation in the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector 
has varied, and it is not possible to accurately predict what the future effort of jig vessels would be in the 
B season. Finally, under Alternative 2, the Council would need to consider whether unused BSAI Pacific 
cod TAC in the new small vessel sector would be reallocated to the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector or whether unused TAC would be rolled over to the next fishing season. If the Council were to 
choose not to rollover unused BSAI Pacific cod TAC in the new small vessel sector to the next fishing 
season, that would impact the potential revenue opportunity for smaller H&L or pot CVs.  

4.3.4.3. DHS State-waters Pot Fishery   

The DHS pot fishery opens seven days after the Federal BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ HAL or pot CV 
sector closes and is open to vessels less than or equal to 58’ LOA using pot gear with a limit of 60 pots 
per vessel. Under Alternative 2 (option 1 and option 2), the BOF would need to address the trigger for 
opening the DHS pot fishery because the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector would be redefined and no 
longer exist as it currently does in Federal regulations under Alternative 2. The BOF, with industry input, 
would also need to determine what the new trigger should be – the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel 
sector closing date, the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector closing date, or some other trigger 
such as a hard start date. If the BOF chose to select one of the newly defined sectors’ closure date as the 
trigger, vessels that operate in that trigger sector would be able to choose to fish in the Federal BSAI 
Pacific cod fishery until it closed and then fish in the DHS pot fishery once it opened. However, vessels 
that do not operate in the trigger sector would likely need to decide whether they want to 
participate in Federal or State waters if both were open at the same time. Alternative 2 would not 
impact the DHS State waters jig fishery because the fishery opens with a hard date of May 1. 

The BOF, with industry input, set regulations to open the DHS pot fishery seven days after the Federal 
BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector closes because pot vessels would be available to 
fish in the DHS registration area. This management approach also provides pot vessels the opportunity to 
fully harvest the Federal BSAI Pacific cod fishery before starting the DHS pot fishery. The DHS fishery 
is a significant opportunity for pot vessels less than or equal to 58’ LOA. From 2014 through 2021, an 
average of 15 pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA and an average of three pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ 
LOA have participated in the DHS fishery. The annual average gross ex-vessel revenue pot CVs greater 
than 56’ earn from the DHS fishery is $6.67 million, accounting for 24 percent of these vessel’s total 
gross ex-vessel revenue across all fisheries (2014-2020). The annual average gross ex-vessel revenue pot 
CVs less than or equal to 56’ earn from the DHS GHL fishery is $1.21 million, accounting for 20 percent 
of their total gross ex-vessel revenue across all fisheries (2014-2020)16. 

It is uncertain what action the BOF would take to open the DHS pot fishery. However, if the BOF 
selected the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector as the trigger to open the DHS fishery, pot 
vessels operating in the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector could fish in the Federal fishery until 
the DHS GHL fishery opened and then register to participate in the State-waters DHS fishery. This could 
potentially leave an uncertain amount of Federal BSAI Pacific cod under-utilized in the A season by the 

 
16 Source: ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; 
Small_boat_SMPC_breakout(4-11-22) 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 46 of 77

Council Packet Page 84



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 47 

new small vessel sector. Conversely, if the BOF selected the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector as 
the trigger to open the DHS fishery, it is possible the GHL fishery would open later, and the larger pot 
vessels may not be available to fish the DHS pot fishery as smaller H&L or pot CVs in the new BSAI 
Pacific cod small vessel sector would have an opportunity to extend their fishing within jig sector’s A 
season. Table 4-6 reports the Federal BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector and DHS pot 
fishery season dates from 2014 through 2021 to provide a snapshot of the timing of these fisheries.  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 47 of 77

Council Packet Page 85



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 48  

Table 4-3 Vessel count, gross ex-vessel revenue ($), and percent of gross ex-vessel revenue ($) by fishery from 2008 through 2020 for H&L or pot 
CVs greater than 56’ LOA 

Year 

BSAI Pacific cod GHL Pacific cod GOA Pacific cod IFQ fisheries Salmon CDQ Total 
value ($) 

Vessel 
count 

Gross ex-
vessel 

value ($) 

% 
of 

total 

Vessel 
count 

Gross ex-
vessel 

value ($) 

% 
of 

total 

Vessel 
count 

Gross ex-
vessel 

value ($) 

% 
of 

total 

Vessel 
count 

Gross ex-
vessel 

value ($) 

% 
of 

total 

Vessel 
count 

Gross ex-
vessel 

value ($) 

% 
of 

total 

Vessel 
count 

Gross ex-
vessel 

value ($) 

% of 
total 

 

2008 18 6,652,103 25% 13 1,598,941 6% 16 3,041,654 11% 12 3,644,207 14% 2 * * - - - 26,791,656 

2009 16 2,951,989 17% 8 * * 10 1,948,069 11% 11 7,203,094 41% 7 3,651,725 21% 1 * * 17,569,699 

2010 16 3,955,016 17% 8 * * 11 2,601,820 11% 12 11,169,561 48% 7 2,733,884 12% 2 * * 23,392,164 

2011 15 6,338,559 21% 7 * * 8 3,932,847 13% 10 13,799,181 46% 7 1,778,063 6% 2 * * 30,295,572 

2012 16 6,928,330 25% 12 3,198,012 11% 8 2,403,238 9% 10 9,231,334 33% 6 * * 6 * * 28,269,447 

2013 18 5,821,985 22% 12 2,643,318 10% 8 1,468,727 5% 12 7,533,364 28% 8 5,042,784 19% 4 4,234,619 11% 26,724,236 

2014 14 6,285,723 28% 12 5,749,381 25% 3 * * 8 5,340,776 24% 6 1,464,020 6% 4 * * 22,622,962 

2015 18 5,482,695 23% 16 5,631,474 24% 9 1,103,953 5% 8 6,096,401 26% 10 2,664,981 11% 4 1,715,421 6% 23,622,694 

2016 17 6,153,445 25% 17 8,292,268 33% 7 1,195,910 5% 8 5,618,679 22% 8 1,639,997 7% 5 1,475,928 7% 25,035,079 

2017 19 5,796,555 22% 18 8,240,006 31% 7 928,049 3% 10 6,997,985 26% 7 2,494,797 9% 5 1,661,174 7% 26,872,592 

2018 23 6,844,833 22% 22 12,091,330 38% 6 393,217 1% 10 7,610,074 24% 8 1,824,899 6% 4 1,986,501 6% 31,453,035 

2019 27 6,588,011 20% 25 11,443,296 34% 3 * * 12 7,360,138 22% 12 4,119,508 12% 4 * * 33,490,524 

2020 31 3,415,791 12% 30 11,052,170 37% 7 14,880 0% 20 7,584,741 26% 11 1,500,632 5% 3 2,511,254 8% 29,481,311 

Source: ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; Small_boat_div (2-8-22) 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 48 of 77

Council Packet Page 86



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 49  

Table 4-4 Estimated range of potential gross ex-vessel revenue impacts for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA under Alternative 2 from 2008 
through 2020, (real 2020 $) 

Source: ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; Small_boat_div(2-8-22) 

  

Year 

<60' H&L/ 
pot CV 

sector final 
allocation 

(mt) 

<60' 
H&L/ 

pot CV 
landings 

(mt) 

>56’ 
H&L/ 

pot CV 
landings 

(mt) 

≤56' 
H&L/ 

pot CV 
landings 

(mt) 

BSAI 
Pacific 

cod jig re- 
allocation 

(mt) 

>56’ 
H&L/ 

pot CV 
landings 
as a % 
of total  

≤56' 
H&L/ 

pot CV 
landings 
as a % 
of total  

Jig re- 
allocation 
as a % of 

<60’ H&L/ 
pot CV 

sector final 
allocation  

<60' H&L/ 
pot CV sector 
BSAI Pacific 
cod gross ex-

vessel 
revenue ($) 

>56’ 
H&L/pot 
CV BSAI 

Pacific cod 
gross ex 
vessel 

revenue ($)  

≤56' H&L 
or pot CV 

BSAI 
Pacific cod 
gross ex-

vessel 
revenue ($) 

Maximum 
estimated revenue 

impact for >56’ 
H&L/ pot CV 
based on full 

utilization of jig 
reallocation ($) 

Estimated 
revenue impact 

for >56’ 
H&L/pot CV 

based on 
proportionate 

utilization of jig 
reallocation ($) 

Adjusted 
estimated 
revenue 

impact for 
>56' H&L/ pot 
CV based on 
proportionate 
utilization of 

jig reallocation 
and excluding 
≤56' H&L/pot 

CVs ($) 
2008 5,210 5,144 4,188 926 2,024 82% 18% 39% 8,165,746 6,652,103 1,513,643 2,584,233 2,116,302 1,948,699 
2009 4,434 4,649 4,130 519 1,600 89% 11% 36% 3,344,577 2,951,989 392,588 1,065,219 946,302 918,289 
2010 5,509 5,518 5,219 299 1,760 95% 5% 32% 4,193,203 3,955,016 238,187 1,263,537 1,195,071 1,186,288 
2011 9,005 8,026 7,480 546 1,970 93% 7% 22% 6,807,924 6,338,559 469,366 1,386,669 1,292,336 1,267,391 
2012 8,880 8,877 8,129 748 2,800 92% 8% 32% 7,604,752 6,928,330 676,422 2,184,608 2,000,528 1,961,502 
2013 9,177 9,479 8,396 1,083 3,200 89% 11% 35% 6,582,389 5,821,985 760,404 2,030,113 1,798,168 1,741,584 
2014 12,018 12,448 9,329 3,119 3,073 75% 25% 26% 8,466,496 6,285,723 2,180,773 1,607,258 1,204,540 797,840 
2015 10,630 10,043 8,415 1,629 3,018 84% 16% 28% 6,592,653 5,482,695 1,109,959 1,556,610 1,304,280 1,175,357 
2016 10,674 10,301 8,944 1,357 3,050 87% 13% 29% 7,081,239 6,153,445 927,793 1,758,291 1,526,664 1,439,365 
2017 9,271 9,950 8,122 1,828 2,886 82% 18% 31% 7,115,258 5,796,555  1,318,703 1,804,428 1,472,922 1,306,068 
2018 8,748 8,558 7,005 1,553 2,400 82% 18% 27% 8,325,620 6,844,833 1,480,787 1,877,869 1,537,097 1,342,103 
2019 9,800 8,872 6,822 2,049 1,765 77% 23% 18% 8,656,204 6,588,011 2,068,193 1,186,514 912,353 520,728 
2020 4,967 4,817 3,625 1,193 1,927 75% 25% 39% 4,502,222 3,415,791 1,086,431 1,325,192 997,264 832,582 
Total 108,323 106,652 89,804 16,849 31,473 - - - 87,438,285 73,215,036 14,223,249 21,630,547 18,303,826 16,437,797 
Av. 8,333 8,204 6,908 1,296 2,421 85% 15% 30% 6,726,021 5,631,925 1,094,096 1,663,888 1,407,987 1,264,446 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 49 of 77

Council Packet Page 87



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 50  

Table 4-5 Estimated maximum potential revenue opportunity for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA under Alternative 2 from 2008 through 
2020, (real 2020 $) 

Year BSAI Pacific 
cod jig sector 

initial allocation 
(mt) 

≤56’ H&L/pot CVs 
Federal BSAI Pacific 

cod landings (mt) 

≤56’ H&L/pot CVs 
BSAI Pacific cod 

landings (mt) as a % 
of the jig sector initial 

allocation 

≤56’ H&L/ pot CVs 
BSAI Pacific cod 

gross ex-vessel 
revenue ($) 

Estimated maximum 
potential revenue 

opportunity for ≤56’ 
H&L/ pot CVs ($) 

Estimated total 
revenue for ≤56’ 

H&L/ pot CVs ($) 

2008 2,134 926 43% 1,513,643 1,974,600 3,488,242 

2009 2,207 519 24% 392,588 1,276,853 1,669,440 

2010 2,110 299 14% 238,187 1,442,658 1,680,844 

2011 2,850 546 19% 469,367 1,980,617 2,449,982 

2012 3,263 748 23% 676,422 2,274,333 2,950,755 

2013 3,251 1,083 33% 760,404 1,522,212 2,282,616 

2014 3,174 3,119 98% 2,180,773 38,455 2,219,228 

2015 3,118 1,629 52% 1,109,959 1,014,566 2,124,524 

2016 3,144 1,357 43% 927,793 1,221,788 2,149,581 

2017 2,993 1,828 61% 1,318,703 840,421 2,159,124 

2018 2,549 1,553 61% 1,480,787 949,686 2,430,472 

2019 2,259 2,049 91% 2,068,193 211,967 2,280,160 

2020 1,945 1,193 61% 1,086,431 684,825 1,771,256 

Total 34,997 16,849 - 14,223,250 15,432,982 29,656,225 

Average 2,692 1,296 48% 1,094,096 1,187,152 2,281,248 
Source: ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; Small_boat_div(2-8-22) 

  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 50 of 77

Council Packet Page 88



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 51  

Table 4-6 Federal BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector and DHS Pacific cod pot fishery season dates from 2014 through 2021 

Year <60’ H&L/pot CV sector 
open 

<60’ H&L/pot CV sector 
closed 

DHS GHL pot fishery 
open 

DHS GHL pot fishery 
closed 

2014 January 1 February 4 February 11 September 1 
2015 January 1 February 2 February 9 March 31 
2016 January 1 February 5 February 12 April 22 
2017 January 1 February 2 February 9 April 8 
2018 January 1 January 23 January 30 March 1 
2019 January 1 January 12 January 19 February 24 
2020 January 1 January 19 January 26 March 12 
2021 January 1 January 26 February 2 March 25 

Source: ADF&G; DHS Season Dates_NPFMCpaper_4.11.22 and SeasonDatesIBs_cod_pollock_TLAS_PSC 

 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 51 of 77

Council Packet Page 89



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 52 

4.3.5. Additional Fishing Opportunities for H&L or pot CVs 

The Council is considering this action to provide additional opportunities for current fishery participants 
and potential new entrants with H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA without 
negatively impacting vessels that currently operate in the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector. Overall, it is 
uncertain whether Alternative 2 would provide additional opportunities to H&L or pot CVs that would be 
eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector under option 1 or option 2.   

Figure 4-2 above compares the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s initial allocation to the BSAI Pacific cod 
landings of the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector under option 1 and option 2 (2008 through 
2021). These catch accounting data show the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector’s 1.4 percent allocation would 
have had enough TAC to support a new small vessel sector in every year from 2008 through 2021 under 
option 1 and 2. This suggests a new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector could provide additional fishing 
opportunities for H&L or pot CVs as it is anticipated there would be enough TAC available to support 
their historical level of BSAI Pacific cod harvest. However, it is important to note that the number of 
participating vessels could increase over time, and it is uncertain what the future fishing effort of smaller 
H&L or pot CVs would be in the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector absent the competition of 
larger vessels with additional efficiencies.  

Under option 1, there are five vessels 56’ LOA and have historically participated in the less than 60’ H&L 
or pot CV sector that would be in the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. Excluding H&L or 
pot CVs less than or equal to 55’ from the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector could create an 
opportunity for 56’ vessels to harvest more of the 2 percent cod BSAI Pacific cod allocation. However, 
these 56’ vessels do not have the same efficiencies as larger vessels typically 58’ LOA and could be at a 
disadvantage compared to the larger vessels in the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. 

Small H&L vessels eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector could see additional fishing 
opportunities under Alternative 2, option 1 and option 2. In a scenario where the GHL pot fishery in the 
DHS and the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector were to be open concurrently, smaller H&L 
vessels would have the opportunity to continue fishing in the Federal fishery early in the year while small 
pot vessels could continue fishing in the redefined small vessel sector in Federal waters or switch over to 
the pot fishery in the DHS. 

Alternative 2, option 1 and option 2, could adversely impact current fishery participants with H&L or pot 
CVs greater than 56’ LOA. The historically common pattern of annual reallocations from the BSAI 
Pacific cod jig sector to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector, which has occurred in every year since 
2008, would likely change under Alternative 2, option 1 and option 2. Any reduction in the over BSAI 
Pacific cod TAC that is available to H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA could reduce the fishing 
opportunity for current participants and could potentially disincentivize future entrants with larger vessels 
from entering the fishery.  

4.3.6. Suboption – B Season as Jig Only Fishery 

Under Alternative 2, the Council is considering a suboption for analysis that would reserve BSAI Pacific 
cod TAC apportioned in the B season for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector for jig CVs and 
CPs only. Vessels participating in the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector primarily fish between April and 
September when the weather is safest for smaller vessels to operate. The deliveries of vessels operating in 
the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector, regardless of their size, are concentrated in January and the fall 
(September to December), which is also when these fisheries have been open. 

Table 4-7 reports the count of BSAI Pacific cod deliveries, the average number of deliveries, and the 
percent of total deliveries made in the jig sector’s seasons from 2008 through 2021 by vessels operating in 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 52 of 77

Council Packet Page 90



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 53 

the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors. From 2008 through 2021, the BSAI 
Pacific cod jig sector made 430 deliveries of Federal BSAI Pacific cod, of which 373 (87 percent) 
occurred during the B season. From 2008 through 2021, the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector made 
3,993 deliveries of Federal BSAI Pacific cod, of which 2,618 (66 percent) occurred in the jig sector’s A 
season. If H&L or pot CVs eligible for the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector under 
Alternative 2 were allowed to harvest BSAI Pacific cod during the B season, it is possible these 
vessels could constrain jig vessels, particularly if there were to be an increase in the number of 
participating H&L or pot vessels over time or if there were to be less BSAI Pacific cod available for the 
new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector to harvest.  

Three percent of the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector’s deliveries were made in the jig sector’s B 
season from 2008 through 2021. Vessels operating in the less than 60’ H&L or pot sector participate in 
salmon, IFQ, and other important fisheries during the jig sector’s B season, and the sector has not been 
open during the jig B season since 2011. Some small H&L CVs have made landings in the jig sector’s B 
season in State-waters inside 3 nm during the spring/summer months even though the Federal fishery for 
the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector has closed. The State of Alaska does not differentiate between 
processing sectors (CPs and CVs) and the H&L CP sector in the BSAI is open year-round. That means a 
H&L CV of any size could participate in the parallel fishery after the Federal season closed. However, 
NMFS does not anticipate this fishing behavior to increase because of the Council’s 2019 action that 
precluded Federal H&L, pot and trawl gear vessels from participating in the BSAI Pacific cod parallel 
fisheries unless they have an LLP license with the correct LLP endorsements and a designated FFP. This 
action also required Federally permitted or licensed vessels that fish in the parallel fishery to adhere to 
Federal sector and seasonal BSAI Pacific cod closures and would restrict those vessels from surrendering 
and later reapplying for the FFP within a specified time period.17  

Because the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector is typically closed by the time the jig sector’s B season 
begins on April 30 and does not reopen until September 1 after the B season is closed, there are no 
anticipated impacts of including the suboption which largely mirrors the historical fishing activity 
of both affected sectors.  

Table 4-7 Count of BSAI Pacific cod deliveries, the average number of deliveries, and the percent of total 
deliveries made by vessels operating in the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig 
sectors in each jig sector trimester from 2008 through 2021 

 
Season Count of 

deliveries 
Average number of 

deliveries 
% of total 
deliveries 

Jig  A (Jan 1 - Apr 30) 14 1 3% 
 B (Apr 30 – Aug 31) 373 27 87% 
 C (Aug 31 - Dec 31) 43 3 10% 

<60' H&L /pot  A (Jan 1 - Apr 30) 2,618 187 66% 
 B (Apr 30 – Aug 31) 113 8 3% 
 C (Aug 31 - Dec 31) 1,261 90 31% 

Source: NMFS Alaska Region Catch Accounting System, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_BLEND_CA; 
small_boat_monthlylandings (2-15-22) 

 
17 The Council action for parallel fisheries can be found at 85 FR 78038, Dec 3, 2020. 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 53 of 77

Council Packet Page 91



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 54 

 Summary of Impacts on Fishing Activity  
Table 4-8 provides a summary of expected impacts of this proposed action on fishing activity.  

Table 4-8 Summary of impacts on fishing activity 

Category Option 1 Option 2 without 
suboption 

Option 2 with 
suboption 

Fishing Location Not likely to change fishing location. This is outside of the scope of the 
action.   

Timing and Effort Minimally modify timing for new vessels in redefined 
BSAI Pacific cod jig sector (Section 4.3.2 and 4.3.3). 
May also minimally modify effort for the redefined less 
than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector because the 
reallocations are likely to change (Section 4.3.3).  

No anticipated 
impacts, may 
closely mirror 
historical fishing 
activity of both 
sectors 
(Section4.3.6). 

Authorized Gear Types No changes to authorized gear types. H&L, pot, and jig gear are authorized 
under the BSAI groundfish FMP. Additionally, Federal BSAI Pacific cod 
sectors are defined by gear type, operation type, and vessel size categories 
(Section 3.2 and 3.6).  

Harvest Levels No changes to harvest levels or sector allocation structure. The BSAI 
Pacific cod TAC is set in accordance with the Pacific cod biomass (Section 
3.2).  

 Community Impacts  
The following sections characterize the communities that are engaged in or dependent on the BSAI 
Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors, and they largely rely on quantitative fishery 
information, within the bounds of confidentiality restrictions, that could be impacted by Alternative 2. 
This information helps to identify patterns of engagement in and dependency on the Federal BSAI Pacific 
cod fishery based on the distribution of vessels in the sectors most likely to be affected by Alternative 2 
across communities. Given that Alternative 2 would impact two commercial BSAI Pacific cod sectors, 
there are no anticipated direct or indirect impacts on the subsistence harvest, sharing or use of BSAI 
Pacific cod (Reedy & Maschner 2014). As such, there are no stand-alone discussions of the BSAI Pacific 
cod subsistence fisheries provided in the fishing communities analysis. 

4.5.1. H&L or pot CVs Greater Than 56’ LOA  

Table 4-9 provides a count, by community of ownership address and year (2008-2020), of H&L or pot 
CVs greater than 56’ LOA for all Alaska communities as well as Washington and other states (primarily 
Oregon and California) with any vessels active in the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sector during this time. There are 59 unique vessels greater than 56’ LOA that have participated in the 
Federal BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector (2008 through 2020), of which 43 (73 
percent) have a reported ownership address in an Alaska community. Kodiak has the highest number of 
unique H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA with a registered ownership address at 15 followed 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 54 of 77

Council Packet Page 92



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 55 

by Homer at nine. All communities across Kodiak Island18 are engaged in commercial fisheries, but the 
majority of commercial vessels, including the less than 60’H&L or pot CV sector, and seafood processing 
plants are in Kodiak City. Commercial fishing, seafood processing, and commercial fishing support 
services are the major industries contributing to the local economy. Commercially significant groundfish 
species harvested in the Kodiak area include Pacific cod, sablefish, lingcod, skates, black rockfish, and 
pollock (Wise et al., 2021). 

Table 4-10 reports the gross ex-vessel revenues for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ from the Federal 
BSAI Pacific cod fishery by community of the vessel’s historical ownership address (2008-2020, 2020 
real $). H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA with a registered ownership address in an Alaska 
community generated approximately $4.1 million in annual average gross ex-vessel revenue from the 
Federal BSAI Pacific cod fishery, which is approximately 21 percent of all gross ex-vessel revenues for 
those vessels in the same time period (Table 4-11).  

During the same time period, the Homer/Kodiak/Anchor Point “community fleet” (all commercial fishing 
vessels with a registered ownership address participating in any area, gear, and species fisheries) annually 
averaged approximately $222 million in gross ex-vessel revenue for all commercial fisheries, of which 
BSAI Pacific cod caught by H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA accounted for approximately 1.2 
percent ($2.6 million) of the total combined revenue of the Homer/Kodiak/Anchor Point community fleet 
(Table 4-12). 

 

 
18 Kodiak Island has been inhabited for thousands of years by Alaska Native populations, many of which are Alutiiq. 
The Alutiiq culture relies on the harvesting of fish, marine vertebrates, and marine mammals. Salmon caught in both 
salt and fresh water have been extremely important resources and Alutiiq peoples have traditionally hunted whales 
(Himes-Cornell et al., 2013). 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 55 of 77

Council Packet Page 93



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 56  

Table 4-9  Vessels greater than 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod with H&L or pot gear by community of vessel historic ownership address 
from 2008 through 2020 (number of vessels) 

 

Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; smallboat_SIA_lessthan60_breakouts (5-12-22) 

 

Region Community 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Annual 
Average 

2008-
2020 

(number) 

Annual 
Average 

2008-
2020 

(percent) 

Unique 
Vessels 

2008-2020 
(number) 

Al
as

ka
 

Dutch 
Harbor/Unalaska 1 1 0 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 1.1 5.62% 3 

Anchor Point 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 1.20% 1 
Homer 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 3 4 3 1 3 3 2.1 10.84% 9 
Kodiak 5 2 5 4 5 5 4 4 4 5 9 9 8 5.3 27.71% 15 

Homer/Kodiak/Anchor 
Point 7 4 7 5 7 7 6 7 8 8 10 12 11 7.6 39.76% 25 

Cordova 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.40% 1 
Girdwood 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0.3 1.61% 1 
Haines 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.1 0.40% 1 
Juneau 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 0.5 2.41% 3 
Kenai 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 1.20% 1 
Ketchikan 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.40% 1 
King Cove 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0.2 0.80% 2 
Klawock 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 0.80% 1 
Nikolaevsk 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.40% 1 
Petersburg 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 2 2 1 2 1 3 1.1 5.62% 5 
Sand Point 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0.2 1.20% 2 
Seward 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0.7 3.61% 1 
Sitka 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.40% 1 
Wasilla 0 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1.6 8.43% 2 

Other AK  3 5 4 2 3 6 4 7 6 5 6 8 10 5.3 27.71% 23 
Alaska 11 10 11 9 11 14 11 15 15 14 17 21 23 14.0 73.09% 43 

 Washington 5 4 5 6 6 4 3 3 1 2 3 3 4 3.8 19.68% 14 
 Other States 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 3 3 4 1.4 7.23% 9 
 Grand Total 18 16 16 15 17 18 14 18 17 19 23 27 31 19.2 100.00% 59 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 56 of 77

Council Packet Page 94



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 57  

Table 4-10 Gross ex-vessel revenues for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod by community of vessel historic 
ownership address, 2008 through 2020 (thousands of real 2020 dollars) 

  2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Annual 
Average 

gross ex-
vessel 

revenue 
($ 

thousands) 

Annual 
Average 
gross ex-

vessel 
revenue 
(percent) 

Dutch/Unalaska * * * * * * * * * * * * * $142 3.1% 
Homer/Kodiak/Anchor Point $3,643 $839 $1,988 $3,856 $3,427 $3,422 $2,562 $1,994 $2,446 $2,280 $2,419 $2,923 $1,708 $2,578 42.6% 
Other Alaska * * * * * * * * * * * * * $1,404 30.4% 

Alaska  $4,058 $1,299 $2,478 $4,665 $5,411 $5,268 $4,723 $4,379 * $4,482 $4,575 $4,309 $2,684 $4,123 76.0% 
Other States $2,594 $1,653 $1,477 $1,674 $1,517 $554 $1,563 $1,103 * $1,315 $2,270 $2,279 $732 $1,509 24.0% 

Grand Total $6,652 $2,952 $3,955 $6,339 $6,928 $5,822 $6,286 $5,483 $6,153 $5,797 $6,845 $6,588 $3,416 $5,632 100.0% 
Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; smallboat_SIA_lessthan60_breakouts (5-12-22) 
 
 
Table 4-11 Gross ex-vessel revenue diversification for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod by community of 

vessel historic ownership address, 2008 through 2020 (millions of real 2020 dollars) 

Geography 
Annual Average 

Number of Vessels 

Annual Average 
Gross Ex-vessel 

Revenue from 
Federal BSAI 

Pacific od Only 
(millions 2020 

real $) 

 Annual Average 
Gross Ex-vessel 

Revenue Revenues 
from All Area, Gear, 

and Species 
Fisheries  

(millions 2020 real $) 

Federal BSAI Pacific 
cod Ex-Vessel Value 

as a Percentage of 
Total Ex-Vessel 
Gross Revenue 
Annual Average  

Dutch/Unalaska 1.1 $0.1 $0.8 18.3% 
Homer/Kodiak/Anchor Point 7.7 $2.6 $11.4 22.5% 
Other Alaska 5.5 $1.4 $7.6 18.5% 

Alaska  14.3 
$4.1 $19.8 20.8% 

Other States 5 $1.5 $6.9 22.0% 
Grand Total 19.3 $5.6 $26.7 21.1% 
Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; 
smallboat_SIA_lessthan60_breakouts (5-12-22) 
      

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 57 of 77

Council Packet Page 95



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 58  

Table 4-12 Revenue diversification for communities with vessels greater than 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod by gross ex-vessel revenue, 
2008 through 2020 (millions of 2020 real dollars) 

Geography 
Annual Average Number 

of Vessels 

Annual Average Number 
of All Commercial Fishing 

Vessels in those Same 
Communities  

Annual Average Gross Ex-
vessel Revenue from 

Federal BSAI Pacific cod 
<60' H&L/Pot Only (millions 

2020 real $) 

Annual Average Gross Ex-
vessel Revenue from All 

Areas, Gears, and Species 
Fisheries for the 

Community Fleet (millions 
2020 real $) 

Ex-Vessel Gross Revenue 
as a Percentage of Total 

Community Ex-Vessel 
Gross Revenue Annual 

Average 

Dutch/Unalaska 1.1 14.2 $0.1 $4.0 3.5% 
Homer/Kodiak/Anchor Point 7.6 649.3 $2.6 $221.6 1.2% 
Other Alaska 5.3 2,000.2 $1.4 $369.2 0.4% 

Alaska  14.3 2,663.7 $4.1 $594.8 0.7% 

Other States 5.2 480.9 $1.5 $655.7 0.2% 

Grand Total 19.5 3,144.7 $5.6 $1,250.5 0.5% 
Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; smallboat_SIA_lessthan60_breakouts (5-12-22) 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 58 of 77

Council Packet Page 96



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 59 

4.5.2. H&L or Pot CVs Less Than or Equal to 56’ LOA  

Table 4-13 provides a count, by community of ownership address and year (2008-2020), of H&L or pot 
CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA for all Alaska communities as well as Washington and other states 
(primarily Oregon and California) with any vessels active in the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or 
pot CV sector during this time. Data confidentiality constraints limit the amount of revenue information 
that can be provided for vessels in the less than or equal to 56’ LOA size category on a community or 
aggregated community-level.  

There are 32 unique vessels less than or equal to 56’ LOA that have targeted Federal BSAI Pacific cod in 
the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector (2008-2020), of which 28 (83 percent) have a reported ownership 
address in an Alaska community. Dutch Harbor/Unalaska has the largest number of unique vessels 
with a registered ownership address at 11 followed by Homer at seven. Dutch Harbor/Unalaska’s19  
economy is based on commercial fishing, fish processing, and fleet service, such as maintenance, trade, 
repairs, fuel and transportation. Onshore and offshore processors provide some local employment; 
however, non-resident workers are usually present during peak seasons, particularly during the pollock A 
season. Commercially significant species harvested by vessels with a registered ownership address in 
Dutch Harbor/Unalaska include Pacific cod, halibut, and salmon (Wise et al., 2021).  

Table 4-14 reports the gross ex-vessel revenues for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ from the 
Federal BSAI Pacific cod fishery by community of vessel historical ownership address (2008-2020, 2020 
real $). H&L or pot CVs that are less than or equal to 56’ LOA with an Alaska community ownership 
address generated approximately $737,000 in annual average gross ex-vessel revenues from the Federal 
BSAI Pacific cod fishery, which is 19.5 percent of all gross ex-vessel revenues for those vessels in the 
same time period (Table 4-15). 

During the same time period, the Dutch Harbor/Unalaska community fleet (all commercial fishing vessels 
with a registered ownership address participating in any area, gear, and species fisheries) annually 
averaged approximately $4 million in gross ex-vessel revenue for all commercial fisheries, of which 
Federal BSAI Pacific cod caught in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector accounted for approximately 
10 percent ($400,000) of the total combined revenue for the Dutch Harbor/Unalaska community fleet 
(Table 4-16). 

Overall, these data suggest that, while the majority of vessels operating in the less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV sector have a reported ownership address in an Alaska community, there is variation for reported 
owner address among the different vessel LOA categories. Most notably, Kodiak has the largest number 
of reported vessel owners for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA whereas Dutch Harbor/Unalaska has 
the largest number of reported owners for smaller H&L or pot CVs. Therefore, under Alternative 2, it is 
anticipated there could be a distributional impact at the community-level.  

 
19 Unalaska Island has been inhabited for thousands of years by Alaska Natives, primarily the Unangan. Subsistence 
activities are important to the Unangan peoples and to many long-term, non-Native residents of Dutch 
Harbor/Unalaska. According to a survey conducted by AFSC in 2011, community leaders reported that more 
important subsistence marine or aquatic resources to residents are sockeye salmon, halibut, coho salmon, and crab 
(Himes-Cornell et al., 2013).  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 59 of 77

Council Packet Page 97



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 60  

Table 4-13  Vessels less than or equal to 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod with H&L or pot gear by community of vessel historic ownership 
address from 2008 through 2020 (number of vessels)  

Region Community 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Annual 
Average 

2008-
2020 

(number) 

Annual 
Average 

2008-
2020 

(percent) 

Unique 
Vessels 

2008-
2020 

(number) 

Al
as

ka
 

Dutch 
Harbor/Unalaska 6 5 4 4 4 5 5 4 2 2 2 2 2 3.6 46.08% 11 

Anchor Point 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 1.96% 1 
Homer 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 4 0.8 10.78% 7 
Kodiak/Port Lions 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.3 3.92% 3 

Homer/Kodiak/Anchor 
Point 4 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 4 1.2 15.69% 11 

Adak 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 2.94% 2 
Delta Junction 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0.1 0.98% 1 
Douglas 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 1.96% 2 
False Pass 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.1 0.98% 1 
Juneau 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 1.96% 1 
King Salmon 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.98% 1 
Mekoryuk 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.98% 1 
Nikolaevsk 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 1.96% 1 
Nome 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0.1 0.98% 1 
Petersburg 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 0.4 4.90% 1 
Sitka 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0.1 0.98% 1 
Soldotna 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.1 0.98% 1 
Willow 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.98% 1 

Other AK  1 4 2 2 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 4 3 1.7 21.57% 14 
Alaska 11 12 6 7 5 6 5 5 3 4 4 8 9 6.5 83.33% 28 

 Washington 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0.7 8.82% 2 
 Other States 0 0 0 0 2 2 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 0.6 7.84% 4 
 Grand Total 12 12 6 7 7 9 7 7 5 5 6 9 10 7.8 100.00% 32 

Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; smallboat_SIA_lessthan60_breakouts (5-12-22) 
  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 60 of 77

Council Packet Page 98



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 61  

Table 4-14 Gross ex-vessel revenues for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod by community of vessel 
historic ownership address, 2008 through 2020 (thousands of real 2020 dollars) 

  2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Annual 
Average 

($ 
thousands) 

Annual 
Average 

(percent) 
Dutch/Unalaska * * * * * * * * * * * * * $401 36.8% 
Homer/Kodiak/ 
Anchor Point $921 $11 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 * * * $618 

$171 10.2% 

Other Alaska * $69 * * * * * * * * * $737 $116 $165 16.7% 
Alaska  * $393 $238 $469 * $561 * * * * * * * $737 63.7% 
Other States * $0 $0 $0 * $200 * * * * * * * $357 36.3% 
Grand Total $1,514 $393 $238 $469 $676 $760 $2,181 $1,110 $928 $1,319 $1,481 $2,068 $1,086 $1,094 100.0% 

Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; smallboat_SIA_lessthan60_breakouts (5-12-22) 
 

Table 4-15  Gross ex-vessel revenue diversification for H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod by community 
of vessel historic ownership address, 2008 through 2020 (millions of real 2020 dollars) 

Geography 
Annual Average Number of 

Vessels 

Annual Average Ex-Vessel 
Gross Revenues from Federal 

BSAI Pacific cod Only (millions 
2020 real $) 

 Annual Average Total Ex-Vessel 
Gross Revenues from All Area, 

Gear, and Species Fisheries 

Annual Average Federal BSAI 
Pacific cod Ex-Vessel Value as a 

Percentage of Total Ex-Vessel 
Gross Revenue  

Dutch/Unalaska 3.6 $0.4 $1.9 21.2% 
Homer/Kodiak/Anchor Point 1.2 $0.2 $0.7 22.8% 
Other Alaska 1.7 $0.2 $1.1 14.6% 

Alaska  6.5 $0.7 $3.8 19.5% 
Other States 1.3 $0.4 $1.7 21.6% 
Grand Total 7.8 $1.1 $5.4 20.2% 

Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; smallboat_SIA_lessthan60_breakouts (5-12-22) 
 

 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 61 of 77

Council Packet Page 99



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 62  

Table 4-16 Revenue diversification for communities with vessels less than or equal to 56’ LOA targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod by gross ex-vessel 
revenue, 2008 through 2020 (millions of 2020 real dollars) 

Geography 
Annual Average Number 

of Vessels 

Annual Average Number 
of All Commercial Fishing 

Vessels in those Same 
Communities 

Annual Average Ex-Vessel 
Gross Revenues from 

Federal BSAI Pacific cod 
<60' H&L/Pot Only (millions 

2020 real $) 

Annual Average Total Ex-
Vessel Gross Revenues 

from All Areas, Gears, and 
Species Fisheries for the 

Community Fleet (millions 
2020 real $) 

Ex-Vessel Gross Revenue 
as a Percentage of Total 

Community Ex-Vessel 
Gross Revenue Annual 

Average 

Dutch/Unalaska 3.6 14.7 $0.4 $4.0 9.7% 
Homer/Kodiak/Anchor Point 1.2 642.6 $0.1 $221.6 0.0% 
Other Alaska 1.7 1,043.5 $0.2 $166.1 0.1% 

Alaska  6.5 1,700.8 $0.7 $391.7 0.2% 

Other States 1.3 244.3 $0.4 $566.0 0.1% 

Grand Total 7.8 1,945.2 $1.1 $957.7 0.1% 
Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; smallboat_SIA_lessthan60_breakouts (5-12-22) 
 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 62 of 77

Council Packet Page 100



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 63 

4.5.3. Jig Vessels 

It is anticipated that BSAI Pacific cod jig sector vessels would be impacted under Alternative 2 (option 1 
and option 2) as H&L or pot CVs either less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA would be eligible for 
a new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector. However, the potential impacts would be most acute in a 
scenario where the jig sector’s B season would not be a jig only fishery (the suboption) as the B season is 
when these vessels have historically made the majority of their BSAI Pacific cod deliveries since 2008 
(see Table 4-7 for reference). Data confidentiality constraints limit the amount of revenue information 
that can be provided for jig vessels on a community or aggregated community-level. 

Table 4-17 provides a count, by community of ownership address and year (2008-2020), of BSAI Pacific 
cod jig sector vessels for Alaska communities as well as other states. There are 33 jig vessels that have 
participated in the Federal BSAI Pacific cod target fishery from 2008 through 2020. Of these 33 BSAI 
Pacific cod jig vessels, 27 (87 percent) have a registered ownership address in an Alaska community. 
Akutan, Dutch Harbor/Unalaska, and Kodiak have each had four unique vessels participate in the 
BSAI Pacific cod jig sector during the analyzed time period. However, jig vessels with Akutan as a 
reported ownership address have not participated in the Federal BSAI Pacific cod jig sector since 2014. 
Additionally, in more recent years, there is one jig vessel with a reported owner address of Homer that 
regularly participates in the Federal BSAI Pacific cod jig fishery. Homer20 is located on the north shore of 
Kachemak Bay on the southwestern edge of the Kenai Peninsula, and its economy relies on commercial 
fishing, sport fishing and hunting, and ecotourism. Commercially significant species harvested by vessels 
with a registered ownership address in Homer include salmon, halibut, Pacific cod, sablefish, and crab 
(Wise et al., 2021). 

Table 4-18 reports the gross ex-vessel revenue diversification for jig vessels by the community of the 
vessel’s historical ownership address (2008-2020). Vessels with an Alaska community ownership address 
participating in the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector over 2008-2020 generated approximately $79,000 in 
annual average gross ex-vessel revenue, which is approximately 21 percent of all gross ex-vessel 
revenues for those vessels in the same period. From 2008 through 2020, the Homer/Kodiak community 
fleet (all commercial fishing vessels participating in any area, gear, and species fisheries) annually 
averaged approximately $218 million in gross ex-vessel revenue for all commercial fisheries, of which 
BSAI Pacific cod caught in the jig sector accounted for approximately .02 percent ($50,000) of the total 
combined revenue of the Homer/Kodiak fleet (Table 4-19). 

  

 
20 The Homer area is the traditional homelands of the Dena’ina Peoples. Subsistence activities are important to 
Alaska Native and many long-term, non-Native residents of Homer, particularly marine mammals, salmon, halibut and 
crab (Fall et al., 2018). 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 63 of 77

Council Packet Page 101



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 64  

Table 4-17  Vessels targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod with jig gear by community of vessel historic ownership address, 2008 through 2020 

 

Region Community 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Annual 
Average 

2008-2020 
(number) 

Annual 
Average 

2008-2020 
(percent) 

Unique 
Vessels 

2008-2020 
(number) 

Al
as

ka
 

Akutan 2 2 3 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.8 18.03% 4 
Dutch Harbor/Unalaska 2 0 1 1 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0.5 11.48% 4 

Akutan/Dutch Harbor/Unalaska 4 2 4 2 2 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 1.4 29.51% 8 
Homer 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0.6 13.11% 2 
Kodiak 1 0 2 3 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0.6 13.11% 4 

Homer/Kodiak/Anchor Point 1 0 2 4 1 0 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1.2 26.23% 6 
Adak 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0.2 4.92% 2 
Anchorage 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 4.92% 3 
Chefornak 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 1.64% 1 
Juneau 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 1.64% 1 
Mekoryuk 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 1.64% 1 
Newtok 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 1.64% 1 
Port Lions 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.5 9.84% 3 
Sand Point 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 3.28% 2 
Toksook Bay 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 1.64% 1 

Other AK  6 1 0 3 1 5 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 1.5 31.15% 14 
Alaska 11 3 6 9 4 6 2 3 2 1 1 2 3 4.1 86.89% 27 

 Other States 4 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0.6 13.11% 7 

 Grand Total 15 3 7 11 4 6 2 4 2 1 1 2 3 4.7 100.00% 33 
Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; smallboat_SIA_jig_breakouts (5-12-22) 

  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 64 of 77

Council Packet Page 102



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 65  

Table 4-18 Gross ex-vessel revenue diversification for jig vessels targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod by community of vessel historic ownership 
address, 2008 through 2020 (millions of real dollars)  

Geography 
Annual Average Number of 

Vessels 

Annual Average Ex-Vessel 
Gross Revenues from Federal 

BSAI Pacific cod Only (millions 
2020 real $) 

 Annual Average Total Ex-Vessel 
Gross Revenues from All Area, 

Gear, and Species Fisheries 
(millions 2020 real $) 

Federal BSAI Pacific cod Ex-
Vessel Value as a Percentage of 
Total Ex-Vessel Gross Revenue 

Annual Average  
Akutan/Dutch/Unalaska 1.4 $0.009 $0.050 17.5% 
Homer/Kodiak 1.2 $0.050 $0.148 33.8% 
Other Alaska 1.5 $0.021 $0.182 11.4% 

Alaska  4.1 $0.079 $0.379 20.9% 
Other States 0.6 $0.020 $0.069 29.2% 
Grand Total 4.7 $0.099 $0.448 22.2% 

Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; smallboat_SIA_jig(5-12-22) 

Table 4-19 Revenue diversification for communities with vessels targeting Federal BSAI Pacific cod with jig gear by gross ex-vessel revenue, 2008 
through 2020 (millions of dollars, 2020 real dollars) 

Geography 
Annual Average Number 

of Vessels 

Annual Average Number 
of All Commercial Fishing 

Vessels in those Same 
Communities 

Annual Average Ex-Vessel 
Gross Revenues from 

Federal BSAI Pacific cod jig 
gear (millions 2020 real $) 

Annual Average Total Ex-
Vessel Gross Revenues 

from All Areas, Gears, and 
Species Fisheries for the 

Community Fleet (millions 
2020 real $) 

Ex-Vessel Gross Revenue 
as a Percentage of Total 

Community Ex-Vessel 
Gross Revenue Annual 

Average 

Akutan/Dutch/Unalaska 1.4 17.8 $0.009 $4.178 0.21% 
Homer/Kodiak 1.2 623.7 $0.050 $218.037 0.02% 
Other Alaska 1.5 551.5 $0.021 $132.689 0.02% 

Alaska  4.1 1,193.0 $0.079 $354.905 0.02% 

Other States 0.6 55.5 $0.020 $36.182 0.06% 

Grand Total 4.7 1,248.5 $0.099 $391.087 0.03% 
Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; smallboat_SIA_jig(5-12-22)

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 65 of 77

Council Packet Page 103



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 66 

4.5.4. Impacts to Processors  

H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ and less than or equal to 56’ LOA make the majority of their deliveries 
shoreside in Dutch Harbor/Unalaska (2008 through 2020). The annual average number of shoreside 
processors in Dutch Harbor/Unalaska receiving BSAI Pacific cod from H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ 
and less than or equal to 56’ H&L or pot CVs is 3 and 2.8, respectively. Floating processors (Washington) 
are the second largest component of processors for H&L or pot CVs. The annual average number of 
floating processors (Washington) for H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA is 2.2 and 1.5 for H&L or 
pot CVs less than 56’ LOA. Due to confidentiality restrictions, it is not possible to report the processing 
activities and the associated revenue for BSAI Pacific cod jig sector vessels. However, processors in 
Dutch Harbor/Unalaska, Adak, and Akutan have accepted BSAI Pacific cod from jig sector vessel during 
the 2008-2020 time period.  

From 2008 through 2020, processors in Dutch Harbor/Unalaska/Akutan accepting deliveries of Federal 
BSAI Pacific cod from H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA annually averaged $268 million in gross 
ex-vessel revenues for all commercially processed species (all areas, gear, and species), of which BSAI 
Pacific cod delivered by these vessels accounts for approximately 1.4 percent ($3.8 million) of the total 
combined revenue (Table 4-20). Processors in Dutch Harbor/Unalaska/Akutan accepting deliveries of 
Federal BSAI Pacific cod from H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA annually averaged $236.5 
million in gross ex-vessel revenues for all commercially processed species (all areas, gear, and species), 
of which BSAI Pacific cod delivered by these vessels accounts for approximately .3 percent ($800,000) of 
the total combined revenue (Table 4-21). 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 66 of 77

Council Packet Page 104



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 67  

Table 4-20 Revenue diversification for processors receiving Federal BSAI Pacific cod from H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA, 2008 through 2020 
(millions of 2020 real dollars) 

Geography 

Annual 
Average 

Number of 
Processors 

Annual Average Ex-Vessel Gross 
Revenues from Federal Open Access 

Pacific cod <57' Hook and Line/Pot Only  

 Annual Average Total Ex-Vessel Gross 
Revenues from All Area, Gear, and Species 

Fisheries  

Federal BSAI Pacific cod Ex-Vessel Value as 
a Percentage of Total Ex-Vessel Gross 

Revenue Annual Average 

Dutch/Unalaska/Akutan 4.0 $3.8 $267.9 1.4% 
Other Alaska/ Floating 

Processors 3.3 $1.2 $70.7 1.6% 

Grand Total 7.3 $5.0 $338.6 1.5% 
Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; small_boat_proc_SIA(5-12-22) 

Table 4-21  Revenue diversification for processors receiving Federal BSAI Pacific cod from H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA, 2008 
through 2020 (millions of 2020 real dollars) 

Geography 

Annual 
Average 

Number of 
Processors 

Annual Average Ex-Vessel Gross 
Revenues from Federal Open Access 

Pacific cod <57' Hook and Line/Pot Only  

 Annual Average Total Ex-Vessel Gross 
Revenues from All Area, Gear, and Species 

Fisheries  

Federal BSAI Pacific cod Ex-Vessel Value as 
a Percentage of Total Ex-Vessel Gross 

Revenue Annual Average 

Dutch/Unalaska/Akutan 3.7 $0.8 $236.5 0.3% 
Other Alaska/ Floating 

Processors 2.1 $0.3 $31.7 0.8% 

Grand Total 5.8 $1.1 $268.2 0.4% 
Source:  ADFG/CFEC Fish Tickets, data compiled by AKFIN in Comprehensive_FT; small_boat_proc_SIA(5-12-22) 

 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 67 of 77

Council Packet Page 105



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 68 

 

5. Management and Enforcement Considerations 
This section discusses monitoring and enforcement considerations for the action alternative, Alternative 2. 
For a detailed explanation of the BSAI Pacific cod fisheries and impacts, see Chapters 3 and 4. 

Changes to in-season management and allocations  

Under Alternative 2, the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector that would exclude H&L or pot 
CVs less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA would continue to receive the entirety of their BSAI 
Pacific cod allocation on January 1. The redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector could receive 
reallocations from any projected unused jig and H&L or pot CV Pacific cod A season allocation. Under 
the status quo (Alternative 1), reallocations from the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector to the less than 60’ H&L 
or pot CV sector usually occurs prior to the end of the A season to allow the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV 
sectors to have an extended fishing season. NMFS is able to make these determinations based on data 
from past years and assesses the current year’s participation to project unused jig sector A season 
allowance.  

The hierarchy of the Pacific cod reallocation among non-CDQ sectors for CVs can be found at 50 CFR 
679.20(a)(7)(iii)(A). The Council may want to consider how the redefined sectors under Alternative 2 
would fit in with the current reallocation hierarchy.  

If the Council selects Alternative 2, and recommends maintaining the current allocation hierarchy, that 
would require the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector’s remaining seasonal allowance to be 
reallocated to the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. NMFS may not be able to reallocate 
from the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sectors’ A season allocation until closer to the end of March 
because it is closer to the regulatory closure of April 30. The addition of H&L or pot CVs less than or 
equal to 55’ or 56’ LOA (option 1 or option 2) to the current jig sector (forming the new BSAI Pacific 
cod small vessel sector) may not allow NMFS to project the unused A season allocation until the end of 
the season, or the full A season allocation may be caught and a reallocation would not be possible. At the 
late to end of the A season, the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV may not be able to participate in 
the Pacific cod fishery as the fishery participants may choose to move to other fisheries. 

Under Alternative 2, the Council could decide to remove the current regulation that requires the jig 
sectors’ remaining seasonal allowance to be reallocated to the redefined 60’ H&L or pot CV sector (50 
CFR 679.20(a)(7)(iv)(C) and instead allow it to rollover to the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector 
B season (option 1 and 2) or the jig sector B season only (Suboption). The Council could maintain the 
current regulation to require the new small vessel sectors’ remaining A season allowance to be reallocated 
to what would be the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector even though the sector may not 
participate in the BSAI Pacific cod fishery until September 1st when the sector relies on reallocations from 
other BSAI Pacific cod sectors to reopen the fishery. 

If the Council selects Alternative 2 and the BOF reconsiders the trigger for opening the DHS GHL 
fishery, it will be more difficult to track Federal and GHL landings of BSAI Pacific cod. NMFS would 
rely on the vessel reporting the correct statistical area on the fish ticket. It is anticipated that the BOF will 
choose to close the parallel fishery to pot gear while the GHL fishery is occurring, therefore any pot 
landings reported in State waters would be attributed to the GHL fishery and anything in Federal waters 
would be attributed to the Federal BSAI Pacific cod fishery. However, there could be instances where 
catch is attributed to the incorrect fishery due to vessel’s misreporting of statistical areas, and it is not 
uncommon for there to be reporting inaccuracies.  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 68 of 77

Council Packet Page 106



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 69 

Vessels that participate in the Federal BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector with an FFP 
are required to have VMS transmitting (50 CFR 679.28(f)(6)) so fishery managers and OLE could track 
whether a vessel was inside or outside of State waters. The GHL fisheries are closely managed by the 
State and a vessel must be registered to participate. Once registered, that vessel would not be allowed to 
fish in Federal waters until they un-registered for the State fishery. It is anticipated that the State would 
notice any stat area misreporting relatively quickly.  

Observer Coverage  

Current observer coverage requirements for CVs that participate in the current less than 60’ H&L or pot 
CV and jig sectors are defined in regulations at 50 CFR 679.51(a): 

• Partial coverage for CVs designated on an FFP including CVs deploying H&L, pot, and jig gear;  
• Full coverage for CVs while using H&L gear when groundfish CDQ fishing except for CVs less 

than or equal to 46 ft LOA which are in the partial coverage category. 

For the partial coverage category there are three pools of coverage: no-selection pool, observer trip-
selection pool, and EM selection pool. The observer trip-selection pool includes vessels in the partial 
coverage category that are greater than 40’ LOA and are fishing H&L or pot gear. The no-selection pool 
includes vessels less than 40’ LOA and vessels fishing with jig gear. Each year NMFS develops an 
Annual Deployment Plan in consultation with the Council to describe how observer coverage and 
electronic monitoring will be assigned to vessels and processors in the partial observer coverage category 
for the upcoming year. Coverage levels in the partial coverage category can be adjusted if needed, 
however, the action alternatives considered by the Council would likely have a minimal impact on 
selection rates and deployment. There would be no changes to current observer coverage 
requirements as defined in regulations.   

Enforcement Concerns 

The BSAI Pacific cod fisheries are a complex management system for OLE officials who are tasked with 
enforcing regulations and understanding the nuances between sectors and management jurisdictions. 
Chapter 3 provides an overview of BSAI Pacific cod management for Federal and State fisheries 
including the interplay of management requirements. OLE works with fishery participants across State 
and Federal fisheries, USCG, and the Observer Program to coordinate management, apply regulations, 
and ensure accurate reporting.  

One of the common challenges experienced by OLE and USCG enforcement officials and fishery 
participants is the growth period after implementation of new regulations and programs. Another 
challenge is ensuring compliance for participants in Federal and State fisheries and management areas. 
For example, VMS and the status of fisheries are tools used by enforcement to determine where vessels 
are fishing and which areas and fisheries are open or closed. However, regulations for the BSAI Pacific 
cod fisheries are intricate and extensive. As more regulations are added, there are cumulative impacts that 
directly affect compliance and clarity for enforcement and fishery participants.  Alternative 2 would add 
another layer to an already complex management structure and require added coordination with other 
agencies such as the State and USCG to ensure compliance for the redefined and newly defined sectors.  

Additional Considerations 

In June 2021, the Council developed alternatives for analysis based on vessel LOA. As described in 
Section 4.1 of the analysis, LOA as reported to the CFEC is used in this analysis because it is likely the 
best source of data for length. The data is collected when vessel owners report the length to NMFS on 
their FFP and to the CFEC. For compliance with regulations, OLE periodically boards vessels dockside 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 69 of 77

Council Packet Page 107



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 70 

and measures LOA. During these boardings, OLE often finds discrepancies between the length reported 
and the LOA measured during the boarding, especially for smaller vessels. Given this information, 
analysts advise the Council to consider the following caveats regarding the LOA data: 

• There are different definitions of length and different ways to measure vessels across 
management jurisdictions. For example, fishery participants might report the USCG registered 
length to CFEC instead of using the definition of LOA at 50 CFR 679.2.  

• Vessel owners in both Federal and State fisheries may modify their vessel without submitting 
new survey information to NMFS or CFEC to amend the size of their vessel on their permits.  

• When a vessel owner amends the vessel length, the owner must submit a current vessel survey to 
both agencies to update the FFP and CFEC permits. However, vessel owners do not always make 
the change to both permits.  

Therefore, while LOA is likely the best data source, there are still potentially significant data quality 
issues and reporting lags. NMFS relies on this length data for management of Federal fisheries and 
accurate reporting aids compliance. Under Alternative 2, if a length qualifier is used, this may be an 
incentive for vessel owners to update the length reported on their permits for inclusion or alter the vessel 
size to be included in a preferred sector. For example, it is possible that smaller H&L or pot CVs might 
prefer to compete in a sector with more TAC available and could choose to extend the length of their 
vessel to be eligible for the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. Conversely, a larger H&L or 
pot vessel that does not have additional efficiencies could shorten their LOA to be eligible for the new 
BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector.   

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 70 of 77

Council Packet Page 108



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 71 

Table 5-1  Comparison of definitions of vessel length and ways to measure vessels across management 
jurisdictions 

Federal regulations 679.2 Definitions 

Length overall (LOA) of a vessel means the centerline longitudinal distance, 
rounded to the nearest foot, measured between: 

(1) The outside foremost part of the vessel visible above the waterline, including 
bulwarks, but excluding bowsprits and similar fittings or attachments, and 

(2) The outside aftermost part of the vessel visible above the waterline, including 
bulwarks, but excluding rudders, outboard motor brackets, and similar fittings or 

attachments (see Figure 6 to this part). 
CFEC regulations Sec 16.05.530 Renewal of vessel license. 

 
(b) For calendar year 2006 and following years, the annual fee for a vessel license 

issued or renewed under this section is set according to the overall length, 
as defined by the United States Coast Guard 

USCG code 46 U.S. Code 2101(28)(b). 

(28) "overall in length" means - 

(A) for a foreign vessel or a vessel engaged on a foreign voyage, the greater of - 

(i) 96 percent of the length on a waterline at 85 percent of the least molded depth 
measured from the top of the keel (or on a vessel designed with a rake of keel, on 

a waterline parallel to the designed waterline); and 

(ii) the length from the fore side of the stem to the axis of the rudder stock on the 
waterline: and 

(B) for any other vessel, the horizontal distance of the hull between the 
foremost part of the stern and the aftermost part of the stem, excluding 

fittings and attachments. 

ADF&G regulations 5 AAC 28.690. Vessel length restrictions for the Bering Sea-Aleutian Islands 
Area for groundfish 

(d) In this section, "overall length" means the straight line length between 
extremities of the vessel, excluding anchor rollers. 

 

6. Affected Small Entities (Regulatory Flexibility Act 
Considerations) 

Section 603 of the Regulatory Flexibility Act (RFA) requires than an initial regulatory flexibility analysis 
(IRFA) be prepared to identify if a proposed action will result in a disproportionate and/or significant 
adverse economic impact on the directly regulated small entities, and to consider any alternatives that 
would lessen this adverse economic impact to those small entities. NMFS Alaska region will prepare the 
IRFA in the classification section of the proposed rule for an action and a separate IRFA is not necessary 
for Council final actions on the issue. This section will provide information that NMFS will use to 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 71 of 77

Council Packet Page 109



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 72 

prepare the IRFA for this action, namely a description and estimate of the number of small, directly 
regulated entities to which the proposed action will apply. 

The proposed action would redefine the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector as the new BSAI Pacific cod small 
vessel sector which would include H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA (option 1 
and 2, respectively) and jig CVs and CPs. The current less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector would be 
redefined to exclude H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA. 

Identification of Directly Regulated Entities 

Entities that could be directly regulated by this action include vessels operating in the Federal BSAI 
Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CVs and jig CV/CP sectors. This section identifies all entities that 
could be considered directly regulated entities under the range of alternatives considered and likely 
represents an overestimate of the number of small entities that would be directly regulated by any one 
action alternative.  

Count of Small, Directly Regulated Entities  

Under the RFA, businesses that are classified as primarily engaged in commercial fishing are considered 
small entities if they have combined annual gross receipts not in excess of $11.0 million for all affiliated 
operations worldwide, regardless of the type of fishing operation (81 FR 4469; January 26, 2016). If a 
vessel has a known affiliation with other vessels – through a business ownership or through a cooperative 
– these thresholds are measured against the small entity threshold based on the total gross revenues of all 
affiliated vessels. In the most recent five years for which data are available (2016 through 2020) there 
were 58 active vessels that participated in the Federal BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and 
jig sectors. Of these 58 vessels, 55 were active in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV and jig sectors in 2020 
and all but one vessel are considered small entities.  

• Five vessels participated in the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector (2016 through 2020), of which three 
were active in 2020. All of these vessels are considered small entities. 

• 15 H&L or pot CVs less than or equal to 56’ LOA participated in the BSAI Pacific cod fishery 
(2016 through 2020), of which 14 were active in 2020. All of these vessels are considered small 
entities. 

• 40 H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ LOA participated in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector 
(2016 through 2020), of which 38 were active in 2020. 37 of the 38 vessels are considered small 
entities.  

7. Summation of the Alternatives with Respect to Net Benefit 
to the Nation 

Overall, this action is likely to have a limited effect on the net benefits to the Nation. Under the status quo 
(Alternative 1), vessels in the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector would continue to 
harvest BSAI Pacific cod from their 2 percent allocation. This could impact H&L or pot CVs less than or 
equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA (option 1 and option 2, respectively) as they compete against larger H&L 
or pot CVs in the sector with additional efficiencies and capacity typically associated with vessels 58’ or 
greater. However, it does not appear that H&L or pot CVs greater than 56’ are harvesting a larger portion 
of the sector’s final allocation over time (see Figure 4-1). As such, the extent of these potential effects is 
difficult to predict and depends on several factors, including future levels of BSAI Pacific cod TAC and 
future fishing activity.  

Under Alternative 2, H&L or pot vessels that are less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA (option 1 and 
option 2, respectively) would be eligible to harvest BSAI Pacific cod from the jig sector’s allocation (1.4 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 72 of 77

Council Packet Page 110



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 73 

percent). This action could potentially provide benefits to H&L or pot vessels less than or equal to 55’ (28 
vessels) or 56’ (5 vessels) LOA that have historically participated in the BSAI Pacific cod less than 60’ 
H&L or pot CV sector. However, as described in Chapter 4, under Alternative 2, there is a distinct 
possibility of incidental allocation effects that would impact H&L or pot CVs that are greater than 56’ 
LOA and would remain in the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector.  

Historically common patterns of annual reallocations from the BSAI Pacific cod jig sector to the less than 
60’ H&L or pot CV sector, which has occurred every year since 2008, are likely to be impacted under 
Alternative 2. This would represent a change in historical patterns of use between sectors as seen over the 
2008-2021 period. These effects could occur under option 1 and option 2 and are more likely under option 
2 which includes 56’ H&L or pot CVs. As a result, this action would have distributional effects on 
historical participants in the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector as routine reallocation(s) of BSAI Pacific 
cod from the jig sector to the less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector (status quo) would instead be utilized 
by the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector.  

There is potential for NMFS to reallocate any projected remaining BSAI Pacific cod TAC from the new 
BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector to the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector which could 
mitigate some of distribution effect of this action. However, it is uncertain if or when NMFS would know 
whether any TAC would be available from the new BSAI Pacific cod small vessel sector to reallocate to 
the redefined less than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector. This could have cumulative effects on these vessel’s 
safety, and it is more challenging for NMFS to conservatively manage a fishery with smaller quotas and 
fished at a faster pace. However, any reduction in operational efficiency could be somewhat offset by the 
potential benefits identified in the Council’s problem statement that would accrue from supporting 
smaller H&L or pot CVs that could benefit from harvesting BSAI Pacific cod from the jig sector’s 
allocation absent the competition from larger H&L or pot CVs with modified capacity and efficiencies.  

8. Magnuson-Stevens Act and FMP Considerations 
Below are the 10 National Standards as contained in the MSA. In recommending a preferred alternative at 
final action, the Council must consider how to balance the National Standards.  

A brief discussion of this action with respect to each National Standard will be prepared for final action.  

  Magnuson-Stevens Act National Standards 
Below are the 10 National Standards as contained in the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and 
Management Act (Magnuson-Stevens Act). In recommending a preferred alternative at final action, the 
Council must consider how to balance the national standards.    

A brief discussion of this action with respect to each National Standard will be prepare for Council final 
action.  

National Standard 1 — Conservation and management measures shall prevent overfishing while 
achieving, on a continuing basis, the optimum yield from each fishery for the United States fishing 
industry. 

National Standard 2 — Conservation and management measures shall be based upon the best scientific 
information available. 

National Standard 3 — To the extent practicable, an individual stock of fish shall be managed as a unit 
throughout its range, and interrelated stocks of fish shall be managed as a unit or in close coordination.  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 73 of 77

Council Packet Page 111



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 74 

National Standard 4 — Conservation and management measures shall not discriminate between 
residents of different states. If it becomes necessary to allocate or assign fishing privileges among various 
United States fishermen, such allocation shall be; (A) fair and equitable to all such fishermen, 
(B) reasonably calculated to promote conservation, and (C) carried out in such a manner that no particular 
individual, corporation, or other entity acquires an excessive share of such privileges. 

National Standard 5 — Conservation and management measures shall, where practicable, consider 
efficiency in the utilization of fishery resources, except that no such measure shall have economic 
allocation as its sole purpose. 

National Standard 6 — Conservation and management measures shall take into account and allow for 
variations among, and contingencies in, fisheries, fishery resources, and catches. 

National Standard 7 — Conservation and management measures shall, where practicable, minimize 
costs and avoid unnecessary duplication. 

National Standard 8 — Conservation and management measures shall, consistent with the conservation 
requirements of this Act (including the prevention of overfishing and rebuilding of overfished stocks), 
take into account the importance of fishery resources to fishing communities by utilizing economic and 
social data that meet the requirements of National Standard 2, in order to (A) provide for the sustained 
participation of such communities, and (B) to the extent practicable, minimize adverse economic impacts 
on such communities. 

National Standard 9 — Conservation and management measures shall, to the extent practicable, 
(A) minimize bycatch, and (B) to the extent bycatch cannot be avoided, minimize the mortality of such 
bycatch. 

National Standard 10 — Conservation and management measures shall, to the extent practicable, 
promote the safety of human life at sea. 

 Section 303(a)(9) Fisheries Impact Statement 
Section 303(a)(9) of the Magnuson-Stevens Act requires that a fishery impact statement be prepared for 
each FMP or FMP amendment. A fishery impact statement is required to assess, specify, and analyze the 
likely effects, if any, including the cumulative conservation, economic, and social impacts, of the 
conservation and management measures on, and possible mitigation measures for (a) participants in the 
fisheries and fishing communities affected by the plan amendment; (b) participants in the fisheries 
conducted in adjacent areas under the authority of another Council; and (c) the safety of human life at sea, 
including whether and to what extent such measures may affect the safety of participants in the fishery. 

The RIR for this FMP amendment constitutes the fishery impact statement. The likely effects of the 
proposed action are analyzed and described throughout this RIR, particularly Chapter 4. The effects of the 
proposed action on participants in the fisheries and fishing communities are evaluated in sections 4.3 
and4.5. The effects of the proposed action on safety of human life at sea are evaluated in Section 4.3.3. 

The proposed action affects the groundfish fisheries in the EEZ off Alaska, which are under the 
jurisdiction of the North Pacific Fishery Management Council. Impacts on participants in fisheries 
conducted in adjacent areas under the jurisdiction of other Councils are not anticipated as a result of this 
action.  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 74 of 77

Council Packet Page 112



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 75 

 Council’s Ecosystem Vision Statement 
In February 2014, the Council adopted, as Council policy, the following: 

Ecosystem Approach for the North Pacific Fishery Management Council 

Value Statement 

The Gulf of Alaska, Bering Sea, and Aleutian Islands are some of the most biologically 
productive and unique marine ecosystems in the world, supporting globally significant 
populations of marine mammals, seabirds, fish, and shellfish. This region produces over 
half the nation’s seafood and supports robust fishing communities, recreational fisheries, 
and a subsistence way of life. The Arctic ecosystem is a dynamic environment that is 
experiencing an unprecedented rate of loss of sea ice and other effects of climate change, 
resulting in elevated levels of risk and uncertainty. The North Pacific Fishery 
Management Council has an important stewardship responsibility for these resources, 
their productivity, and their sustainability for future generations. 

Vision Statement 

The Council envisions sustainable fisheries that provide benefits for harvesters, 
processors, recreational and subsistence users, and fishing communities, which (1) are 
maintained by healthy, productive, biodiverse, resilient marine ecosystems that support a 
range of services; (2) support robust populations of marine species at all trophic levels, 
including marine mammals and seabirds; and (3) are managed using a precautionary, 
transparent, and inclusive process that allows for analyses of tradeoffs, accounts for 
changing conditions, and mitigates threats. 

Implementation Strategy 

The Council intends that fishery management explicitly take into account environmental 
variability and uncertainty, changes and trends in climate and oceanographic conditions, 
fluctuations in productivity for managed species and associated ecosystem components, 
such as habitats and non-managed species, and relationships between marine species. 
Implementation will be responsive to changes in the ecosystem and our understanding of 
those dynamics, incorporate the best available science (including local and traditional 
knowledge), and engage scientists, managers, and the public.  

The vision statement shall be given effect through all of the Council’s work, including 
long-term planning initiatives, fishery management actions, and science planning to 
support ecosystem-based fishery management.  

In considering this action, the Council is being consistent with its ecosystem approach policy. There are 
no anticipated impacts to the human environment and this action would continue to support productive 
and resilient marine ecosystems. Additionally, this action could potentially provide benefits to H&L or 
pot vessels less than or equal to either 55’ or 56’ LOA currently operating in the BSAI Pacific cod less 
than 60’ H&L or pot CV sector, and there are no anticipated direct or indirect impacts on the subsistence 
harvest, sharing or use of BSAI Pacific cod. 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 75 of 77

Council Packet Page 113



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 76 

9. Preparers and Persons Consulted 
Preparers  
Kate Haapala, NPFMC 
Jon McCracken, NPFMC 
Abby Jahn, NMFS 
 
Contributors 
Alicia M. Miller, NMFS 
Mary Furuness, NMFS 
Krista Milani, NMFS 
Mike Fey, AKFIN 
Bridget Mansfield, NMFS 
Asia Beder, ADFG 
 
  

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 76 of 77

Council Packet Page 114



 

Small Vessel Cod Initial Review, June 2022 77 

10. References 
Alaska Fisheries Science Center (AFSC). 2019. Wholesale Market Profiles for Alaska Groundfish 

and Crab Fisheries. http://www.mcdowellgroup.net/wp-
content/uploads/2020/09/wholesale-market-profiles-for-alaska-groundfish-and-crab-
fisheries-noaa.pdf.  

Fall,J. A., A. Godduhn, G. Halas, L. Hutchinson-Scarbrough, B. Jones, E. Mikow, L.A. Sill, A. Trainor, 
A. Wiita & T. Lemons. 2018. Alaska subsistence and personal use salmon fisheries 2015 annual 
report. Alaska Department of Fish and Game Division of Subsistence, Technical Paper No. 440, 
Anchorage.  

Farringon, C. 2015. Super 8 vessels for CFEC in-house use, CFEC Report15-5N. 
Himes-Cornell, A., K. Hoelting, C. Maguire, L. Munger-Little, J. Lee, J. Fisk, R. Felthoven, C. Geller, 

and P. Little. 2013. Community profiles for North Pacific fisheries - Alaska. U.S. Dep. Commer., 
NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-AFSC-259, Volumes 1-12. NPFMC. 2016. Bering Sea/Aleutian 
Islands Groundfish Fishery Management Plan Amendment Action Summaries.  

NPFMC. 2019. The BSAI Pacific Cod Allocation Review Analyzed the BSAI Pacific cod Allocations 
Established Under Amendment 85. https://www.npfmc.org/wp-
content/PDFdocuments/catch_shares/Pcod/BSAIPcodAllocationReview2019.pdf  

NPFMC. 2021. RIR/EA for Proposed Amendment to the Fishery Management Plan for Groundfish of the 
Bering Sea and Aleutian Islands Management Area and Gulf of Alaska Management Area. BSAI 
Pacific cod Trawl Catcher Vessel Cooperative Program. 
https://meetings.npfmc.org/CommentReview/DownloadFile?p=b8e19123-5e2d-4dd6-a541-
5eed3c5788dc.pdf&fileName=C4%20Trawl%20CV%20Cod%20Analysis%20.pdf  

NMFS. 2020. Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation (SAFE) Report for the Groundfish Fisheries of 
the Gulf of Alaska and Bering Sea/Aleutian Islands Area: Economic Status of the Groundfish 
Fisheries off Alaska https://meetings.npfmc.org/CommentReview/DownloadFile?p=bc83c1f0-
2cc5-49a4-850c-ee822082b6be.pdf&fileName=D7%20Groundfish%20Economic%20SAFE.pdf  

Reedy, K. and H. Maschner. 2014. Traditional foods, corporate controls: networks of household access to 
key marine species in southern Bering Sea villages. Polar Record, 50(225), 364-378. 

Wise, S., K. Sparks, J. Lee, and S. Kasperski. Annual Community Engagement and Participation 
Overview.  AFSC, NOAA. March 19, 2021 

 

C2 Small Vessel Cod Analysis 
June 2022 

Attachment 2, page 77 of 77

Council Packet Page 115



Unalaska Native Fishermen's Association PO Box 591, Unalaska, AK 99685 

Securing Unalaska's Small Boat Future 

UNFA 
·· • ·-t- ·• ·· 

SUBSISTENCE • SPORT • COMMERCIAL 

The Issue: Loss of Small Boat Access in Bering Sea Cod Fisheries 
The Unalaska Native Fishermen's Association (UNFA) has always worked to create 
and preserve small boat fishing opportunity for current and future generations of 
Unalaska's community-based fleet. Our work includes spearheading the creation of 
the jig sector allocation, and pioneering the creation of the Under 60 sector. In both 
cases, UNFA worked within the North Pacific Fishery Management Council (NPFMC) 
process to ensure entry-level and small boat opportunity in Bering Sea Pacific cod 
fisheries. 

In the past decade, Unalaska's small boat fleet has suffered a dramatic loss of 
fishing opportunity. The benefits of UNFA's previous efforts have shifted away from 
Bering Sea communities. The changing nature of the Under 60 sector in particular 
threatens the survival of Unalaska's small boat fleet, and diminishes past NPFMC 
actions intended to protect community access and participation in Bering Sea Pacific 
cod fisheries. 

The Under 60 Sector Today 
When the Under 60 sector was created in the late 1990s, the sector was made up of primarily local, small 
boats. In 2003, the Under 60 sector was comprised of seven vessels. ln 2018, 26 vessels participated in the 
sector, the highest number of vessels to date.1 Many of these vessels are not from the region. 

In addition to increasing numbers of nonlocal boats, the rise of 'Super 8' vessels within the sector has led to 
growing disparities and unfair competition within the sector that has detrimental effects on our local vessels 
and communities. local boats are being outpaced and outcompeted by Super 8s that are larger and more 
powerful due to 'non-traditional' efficiency improvements in power, capacity, and vessel width (see Figure 1). 
Changes in vessel capacity and power are contributing to an increasingly shorter fishing season. In 2008, the 
Federal BSAI cod season for the Under 60 sector lasted more than 100 days. In 2018, the bulk of the sector 
allocation was harvested in the first 11 days of the season. For local small boats highly dependent on cod, the 
season has become too short to make a living. The rise of the Super 8s within the Under 60 sector have come 
at the expense of Unalaska's small boat fleet, and demonstrates the need to again work within the NPFMC 
process to ensure opportunity, stability, and protection for Unalaska's small boat fleet. 

A Path Forward at NPFMC 
UNFA has raised small boat concerns to the NPFMC, and asked for assistance in addressing the inequities and 
impacts on our small boat fleet. The Council has consistently indicated that the most appropriate time to 
address these small boat issues is when other management changes to Bering Sea cod fisheries are under 
consideration. 

In 2019, the NP FMC initiated discussion on the potential rationalization of the BSAI Trawl CV Sector. 2 This 
action will impact the Under 60 sector, in part because the Under 60 sector is dependent on rollovers from the 

1 See NPFMC 2019. D2 Discussion Paper: Bering Sea/Aleutian Islands Pacific Cod Limited Access Privilege Program Scoping Paper for 
the Trawl Catcher Vessel Sector and Pot Catcher Vessels~ 60 feet. p. 66 
2 The Council also initiated discussion on the potential rationalization of the Over 60 Pot Catcher Vessels Sector, but that action is 
not moving forward at this time. 

Council Packet Page Number 32 

Attachment 3

Council Packet Page 116



under MSA provisions described above, and would be required to comply with the provisions of that section. 
The CFA would determine how to distribute the allocation according to criteria consistent with the CFA's goals 
and objectives, which will be approved by the Council and set in federal regulation. Annual reporting to the 
Council would be required. 

The intent of a CFA is to ensure that small boat fishing opportunity in rural Bering Sea fishing communities is 
protected under a new management plan and that community concerns, including sustained community 
participation, small-scale fishing opportunity, and entry opportunities are addressed in the initial program 
design. An initial allocation of Pacific cod quota to a CFA would be anchored to the region and would not be 
available for purchase by individuals or corporations. 

Key elements of a CFA that require careful attention and community input include identifying and refining: 
community eligibility requirements,4 options to fund a community allocation, CFA governance and 
administration (i.e. board composition and functions), quota leasing and distribution processes, including 
lease rates and eligibility, and reporting requirements. UNFA has developed a draft framework that provides 
more detail on how a CFA might be function and welcomes input as we move forward. 

Next Steps: Securing Unalaska's Small Boat Future 
For more than a century, Unalaska's small boat fleet has depended on viable access to Bering Sea Pacific cod 
fisheries for economic livelihood and cultural survival. As always, UNFA's intent today is to provide stability 
and opportunity for Unalaska's small boat fleet. Preserving local cod fishing opportunity is preserving our 
cultural heritage. The rationalization of the BSAI Trawl CV sector is on the agenda for the December NP FMC 
meeting in Anchorage, and represents an important opportunity to advance our efforts. We appreciate your 
support in helping to preserve access for our region's future small boat fishermen. 

For questions or comments please contact: 
Dustan Dickerson 
Vice President 
Unalaska Native Fishermen's Association 
Email: codfish1408@yahoo.com 
Phone: (907) 359-3117 

4 We envision a CFA serving the needs and interests of Bering Sea communities located within the management area and historically 
dependent on access to Pacific cod. These criteria would allow small boat fishermen from Unalaska and Akutan to lease quota from 
the CFA. 

3 
Council Packet Page Number 34 

Attachment 3

Council Packet Page 117



CITY OF UNALASKA 
43 Raven Way - P.O. Box 610 

Unalaska, Alaska 99685 
Tel (907) 581-1251 FAX (907) 581-1417 

May 25, 2022 

Simon Kinneen, Chairman 

-.. 

North Pacific Fisheries Management Council 
1007 W 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 
Anchorage, AK 99501 

......... ~ 
'---·R-" 

Re: C-2 BSAI Pacific Cod Small Boat Access 

Chairman Kinneen: 

Unalaska, Alaska 

The City of Unalaska is writing in support of moving Alternative 2 Option 1: 55' LOA and Sub 
option B: the B season would remain a jig gear only fishery; for public review and final action at 
the October 2022 North Pacific Fishery Management Council (NPFMC) meeting in Anchorage, 
Alaska. We feel Alternative 2 Option 1 and sub option B which would develop a new fishing sector 
that would combine the less than 55' LOA or smaller, Hook and Line (HAL), Pot CV, and Jig 
sectors to fish the 1.4 percent jig allocation. 

Mr. Chairman, as you are aware, the City of Unalaska and the Unalaska Native Fishermen's 
Association have provided written and verbal testimony of our concerns for years, concerning the 
ongoing race for fish within the overcapitalized < 60' fishing fleet. Combined with the continued 
decline in cod allocations and shorter fishing seasons, the economic viability of the cod fishery, 
of which the Unalaska's small boat is fleet heavily dependent upon, is threatened. 

The analysis under Alternative 2 Option 1 appears to us to address the concerns of the small 
vessels that are facing increased competition in the <60' Pacific Pot Cod fishery. In 1994, the 
NPFMC supported a request from UNFA for a 1.4% Pacific cod jig allocation to be used by the 
region's local small-boat vessels to provide additional participation in the region's Pacific Cod 
fishery. It seems reasonable that the jig allocation could be developed under this new sector that 
could assist the smaller HAL, Pot CV, and would continue to provide a jig allocation as laid out in 
Sub option B of Alternative 2. I believe rollover provisions if needed from the A season, would be 
made to the <55' HAL, Pot CV for the C season which opens on September 1st. 

Looking at trimester allocation within the jig allocation, I believe it could stay as is, with the HAL, 
Pot CV fishing the A and C season, and the Jig sector working the B season during the summer, 
which they traditionally do; and the jig sector harvesters could also participate in the A and C 
season if they so choose. Leaving the trimester season allocations would also assist with any sea 
lion concerns. 

Attachment 4

Council Packet Page 118



Simon Kinneen, Chairman 
NPFMC 
May 25, 2022 

In closing, the City of Unalaska supports moving Alternative 2 Option 1 and Sub-option B for 
public review and final action at the October NPFMC meeting. This option is the only Alternative 
that addresses the City of Unalaska's concerns in a timely manner. The main objectives of the 
City of Unalaska are continuing to protect fishing opportunities for local vessels in BSAI Pacific 
Cod fisheries; continued support for fishing opportunities for community members; and to 
minimize the economic impact of an overcapitalized fishery facing a further reduction in fishing 
time and reduced Cod allocations. 

We thank the North Pacific Fishery Management Council for considering the City of Unalaska's 
comments on C-2 BSAI Small Boat Access. 

Sincerely, 

CITY OF UNALASKA 

t/4.uJ.-111.~1.4,IJ,x. 
Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. t,,// 
Mayor 

CC: City Manager Erin Reinders 
Unalaska City Council Members 

Council Packet Page 119



CITY OF UNALASKA 
PO BOX 610 

UNALASKA. ALASKA 99685-0610 

(907) 581-1251 FAX (907) 581-1417 

May 26, 2021 

Simon Kinneen, Chairman 
North Pacific Fisheries Management Council 
1007 W 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 
Anchorage, Alaska 99501 

RE: D-1 BSAI Pacific Cod Small Boat Access 

Chairman Kinneen: 

UNALASKA. ALASKA 

The City of Unalaska is writing in support of continued analysis of Option 2 in the 
discussion paper for consideration at the June meeting by the Council. We feel this option 
which would develop a new fishing sector that would combine the less than 57' or smaller, 
Hook and Line (HAL), Pot CV, and Jig sectors to fish the 2.0 percent jig allocation. 

Mr. Chairman, as you are aware, the City of Unalaska and the Unalaska Native 
Fishermen's Association have provided written and the verbal testimony of our concerns 
for years about the ongoing race for fish within the overcapitalized < 60' fishing fleet. 
Combined with the continued decline in cod allocations and shorter fishing seasons, the 
economic viability of the cod fishery, of which the Unalaska's small boat is fleet heavily 
dependent upon, is threatened. 

The analysis under Option 2 appears to us to address the concerns of the small 
vessels that are facing increased competition in the <60' Pacific Pot Cod fishery. In 1994, 
the NPFMC supported a request from UNFA for a 1.4% Pacific cod jig allocation to be 
used by the region's local small-boat vessels to provide additional participation in the 
region's Pacific cod fishery. It seems reasonable that the jig allocation could be developed 
under this new sector that could assist the smaller HAL, Pot CV, and would continue to 
provide a jig allocation. I believe the further analysis on how this allocation from the Jig 
sector would be broken out would 100% go to the <57' HAL, Pot CV, and Jig allocation, 
or would a portion go to the <60' HAL. Pot CV, and Jig vessels. I believe rollover 
provisions would need to be looked at. I would assume rollovers would be made to the 
<60' HAL, Pot CV first. 

Attachment 5

Council Packet Page 120



Letter to Chairman Simon Kinneen 
North Pacific Fishery Management Council 
Page 2 

Looking at trimester allocation within the jig allocation, I believe it could stay as is, 
with the HAL, Pot CV fishing the A and C season, and the Jig sector working the B season 
during the summer, which they traditionally do. As of May 15, there have been no jig 
landings made so far this fishing year. Leaving the trimester season c·ould also assist with 
any sea lion concerns. 

In closing, the City of Unalaska supports further analysis of Option 2. This option 
appears to be the only option to address the City of Unalaska concerns in a timely 
manner. The main objectives of the City of Unalaska are continuing to protect fishing 
opportunities for local vessels in BSAI Pacific's cod fisheries. Continued support for 
fishing opportunities for the community members, and to minimize the economic impact 
of an overcapitalized fishery facing a further reduction in fishing time and reduced cod 
allocations. 

We thank the North Pacific Fishery Management Council for considering the City 
of Unalaska comments on D-1 BSAI Small Boat Access. 

Sincerely, 

U?»u~//l?.12J:ifJ,,_ 
Vincent Tutiakoff Sr. 
Mayor 
City of Unalaska 

CC: City Manager Erin Reinders, 
Unalaska City Council Members 

Attachment 5

Council Packet Page 121



Attachment 6

Council Packet Page 122



Attachment 6

Council Packet Page 123



 

-1- 
 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
ORDINANCE 2022-16 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL AMENDING SECTION 2.20.075 OF THE 
UNALASKA CODE OF ORDINANCES, REMOVING THE PROHIBITION OF COUNCIL 
MEMBERS PARTICIPATING IN EXECUTIVE SESSION BY TELEPHONE AND ADDING 
PARTICIPATION IN MEETINGS BY OTHER ELECTRONIC MEANS 
 
BE IT ENACTED BY THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL, as follows: 
 
 
Section 1: Classification. This is a Code Ordinance. 
 
 
Section 2: Amendment of Section 2.20.075. Section 2.20.75 of the Unalaska Code of 
Ordinances is hereby amended to read as follows, with new language underlined; and deleted 
language overstruck: 
 

§ 2.20.075 TELEPHONIC PARTICIPATION BY TELEPHONE OR OTHER 
ELECTRONIC MEANS 
 
(A) A Council member or the Mayor may participate via by telephone or other electronic 
means, in any meeting or work session, including executive session, up to six times 
annually. Additional meetings by telephone or other electronic means may be considered 
by the Mayor or Mayor pro-tem depending on the circumstances which prevent the 
person’s physical attendance at the meeting. A City Council meeting or executive session 
must have at least three members physically present. Any member participating by 
telephone or other electronic means shall be considered present at the meeting or session 
for all purposes under this chapter. In order to participate by telephone or other electronic 
means, the member or the Mayor must declare in advance to the City Clerk that out of 
town travel or other circumstances prevents physical attendance at the meeting. If the 
Mayor chooses to participate via telephone or other electronic means, the Council shall 
appoint a Mayor pro tem to preside in the Mayor’s stead.  
 
(B) Notice under this section is acceptable, if provided in writing or via electronic mail, and 
must include a short description of the circumstances which prevent the person’s physical 
attendance at the meeting. 
 
(C) Telephonic participation shall be refused by the Mayor if, at any time, it appears that 
technical capabilities or other interference does not allow all persons, whether physically 
present or not, to hear and engage in discussion. Where practicable, any written materials 
or other information presented during the meeting should be made available to persons 
participating via telephone or other electronic means. 
 
(D) Council member telephonic participation in executive sessions is prohibited. 

 
 
 
 

Council Packet Page 124



 

-2- 
 

Section 3: Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect upon adoption.  
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 
_____, 2022. 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Marjie Veeder, CMC 
City Clerk 
 

Council Packet Page 125



- 1 - 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Marjie Veeder, City Clerk 
Through: Chris Hladick, Interim City Manager 
  Bil Homka, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 27, 2022 
Re: Ordinance 2022-16: Amending Section 2.20.075 of the Unalaska Code of 

Ordinances, removing the prohibition of Council Members participating in 
executive session by telephone and adding participating in meetings by other 
electronic means 

 

 
SUMMARY: Since 2017, Unalaska’s Code of Ordinances has prohibited participation in executive 
session by telephone. Ordinance 2022-16 amends code to allow participation in executive session 
by telephone as well as “other electronic means”; and expands participation in regular meetings 
to include “other electronic means”, such as online platforms like Zoom. Given the discussion with 
Council and their subsequent directive to the City Manager on September 13, 2022, staff 
recommends adoption. 
  
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Previous Council action related to this section of code includes 
the following: 
 
1. Ordinance 2006-10, adopted on May 23, 2006: This ordinance added § 2.20.075 to the code 

and specifically allowed telephonic participation in executive session by mayor and council 
members, but limited the number of council members participating by telephone to two.  

2. Ordinance 2015-09, adopted May 12, 2015: This ordinance added language to § 2.20.075, 
paragraph (A), but maintained in paragraph (B) the language allowing telephonic participation 
in executive session. 

3. Ordinance 2015-20, adopted November 10, 2015: Again, § 2.20.075(A) was amended, but 
telephonic participation in executive session was maintained. 

4. Ordinance 2017-11, adopted December 12, 2017: Subparagraph (D) was added to § 
2.20.075, stating “Council member telephonic participation in executive sessions is 
prohibited.” This change was made, along with many others, in a comprehensive update of 
Title 2 in 2017.  

5. Council discussed this topic and the proposed ordinance in work session on September 13, 
2022, and directed the City Manager to present an ordinance for consideration and action at 
a future meeting. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: UCO §2.20.075 is set out below, reflecting the changes 
proposed by the City Clerk. New language is underlined; and deleted language is overstruck. 
 

§ 2.20.075 TELEPHONIC PARTICIPATION BY TELEPHONE OR OTHER 
ELECTRONIC MEANS 

Council Packet Page 126



- 2 - 
 

 
(A) A Council member or the Mayor may participate via by telephone or other 
electronic means, in any meeting or work session, including executive session, up 
to six times annually. Additional meetings by telephone or other electronic means 
may be considered by the Mayor or Mayor pro-tem depending on the 
circumstances which prevent the person’s physical attendance at the meeting. A 
City Council meeting or executive session must have at least three members 
physically present. Any member participating by telephone or other electronic 
means shall be considered present at the meeting or session for all purposes 
under this chapter. In order to participate by telephone or other electronic means, 
the member or the Mayor must declare in advance to the City Clerk that out of 
town travel or other circumstances prevents physical attendance at the meeting. If 
the Mayor chooses to participate via telephone or other electronic means, the 
Council shall appoint a Mayor pro tem to preside in the Mayor’s stead.  
 
(B) Notice under this section is acceptable, if provided in writing or via electronic 
mail, and must include a short description of the circumstances which prevent the 
person’s physical attendance at the meeting. 
 
(C) Telephonic participation shall be refused by the Mayor if, at any time, it appears 
that technical capabilities or other interference does not allow all persons, whether 
physically present or not, to hear and engage in discussion. Where practicable, 
any written materials or other information presented during the meeting should be 
made available to persons participating via telephone or other electronic means. 
 
(D) Council member telephonic participation in executive sessions is prohibited. 

 
There are two basic changes proposed: (1) removing the prohibition of participation executive 
session by telephone; and (2) adding participation by “other electronic means”. The changes are 
discussed separately below. 
 

PROHIBITION OF TELEPHONIC 
PARTICIPATION IN EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
The changes to Title 2 adopted in 2017, when the prohibition of telephonic participation in 
executive session was added, were part of a comprehensive update to Title 2. The staff memos 
from that time do not shed any light on the reason behind the prohibition. The recommendation 
for the prohibition came from an Ad-Hoc Committee consisting of the then-Mayor and two Council 
Members, along with the former City Clerk and City Manager. None of the committee members 
are presently an elected official or employee of the city. At that point in time, our City Attorney 
was very concerned about the security and confidentiality of executive sessions because anyone 
who had the number could call in and listen, potentially undetected.  
 
I listened to the audio recordings of the council meetings when this topic was discussed and the 
security and confidentiality of executive session was a stated concern. One council member 
stated they were in favor of this prohibition because there was no control over who might be 
listening to the executive session by telephone, either another party in the room with a council 
member, or someone calling into the telephone conference line who was not a council member. 
This concern has been partially addressed by obtaining a new executive session telephone 
conference number which is not disclosed to anyone but the authorized participants. Also, we can 
change the executive session call in number as frequently as we choose to do so. Further, if we 

Council Packet Page 127



- 3 - 
 

begin using the Zoom platform for executive session, there are additional security features to 
prevent uninvited participants listening in on executive session. 
 
If elected officials are to be trusted to maintain the confidentiality of matters discussed in executive 
session, they should also be trusted not to allow others to listen to the discussion in executive 
session. The City Attorney has advised elected officials to ensure they are in a private setting 
while participating remotely, and to take steps to prevent others from overhearing the discussion. 
Anyone participating in executive session remotely should take these steps.  
 
Another stated concern in 2017 was when council reconvenes to regular session to vote on an 
issue discussed in executive session. If a council member was out of town and unable to 
participate in executive session remotely, they are being asked to vote on a matter without the 
benefit of hearing and participating in the executive session discussion with their fellow council 
members. Council may recall a recent example of this when two council members participated by 
telephone in the May 24 council meeting, which was continued on May 26, 2022. These council 
members were not allowed to participate by telephone in the executive session discussion of 
three collective bargaining agreements either evening. Following executive session, those council 
members voted on three resolutions, without the benefit of hearing and participating in that 
discussion with their fellow council members and staff. This is not an ideal situation. 
 
The Mayor, attorneys, consultants and staff are allowed to participate in executive session by 
telephone. Council members should be provided the same opportunity. 
 
It would be ideal if all Council Members are physically present at every meeting. The best 
discourse is had when all participants are present in person with one another, in the same room 
and able to hear and observe the other participants. There are many nuances of communication 
that are nonverbal, and this is lost in part during remote participation in meetings, especially since 
local internet bandwidth doesn’t presently support video. For this reason, we propose keeping the 
restriction to remote participation to six times per year; and keeping the requirement that at least 
three council members must be physically present. 
 

OTHER ELECTRONIC MEANS 
 

During the COVID-19 pandemic emergency and related social distancing measures, the City 
Manager issued an Emergency Order suspending the provisions of UCO §2.20.075 regarding 
council member participation in meetings by telephone. This allowed Council Members to attend 
by telephone more than six meetings per year, and also allowed telephonic participation in 
executive session during the declared emergency.   
 
During this time, the city began using the online meeting platform Zoom for remote participation 
in council meetings. Online platforms are an improvement over simple telephone conferences, 
due to the security features and controls available. These features include the ability to mute 
participants to prevent disruption; displaying documents; virtual waiting rooms (participants must 
be added to a meeting by the host); and other controls to provide a better experience for all 
participants, both in chambers and remotely. 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic and associated societal changes demonstrate that remote participation 
in meetings, including Unalaska City Council meetings, is generally more accepted and expected. 
Both in business and our personal lives, more and more meetings of all kinds are held 
electronically. The time has come to amend code to allow participation in City Council meetings 
by “other electronic means”, including executive sessions.  

Council Packet Page 128



- 4 - 
 

 
DOCUMENTS USED IN EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
During the work session on September 13, 2022, discussion was had about maintaining the 
confidentiality of documents viewed in Executive Session for those participating remotely. The 
City Clerk has begun researching cloud based document solutions to determine the best fit for 
this purpose, looking for a service that supplies appropriate security to satisfy our needs. This 
security may include document encryption, document passwords, and login requirements such 
as usernames and passwords. The Clerk hopes to have further information on this topic at the 
October 11 meeting, but this element is not contained in code. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Council may choose not to proceed with the proposed ordinance, which means 
telephonic participation in executive session by council members will continue to be prohibited; 
and code will not be updated to include participation in meetings by “other electronic means”.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: None. 
 
LEGAL: City Attorney Brooks Chandler reviewed the proposed ordinance. Mr. Chandler said he 
has participated in many, many executive sessions by telephone and a growing number by Zoom; 
and if he can participate in that manner, it makes sense for council members to as well. His main 
concern is confidentiality and security: “Members participating by telephone or Zoom need to be 
careful they are in a private setting. When on a speakerphone or computer speaker, steps to 
prevent others from overhearing should be taken. … On balance I think the security concerns are 
outweighed by the convenience of having more people able to participate.  If the ordinance is 
adopted, I suggest you research whether there are security issues with Zoom and what steps 
could be taken to limit potential eavesdropping on an executive session held by Zoom.”    
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION: I move to introduce Ordinance 2022-16 and schedule it for public hearing 
and second reading on October 11, 2022.  
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support the staff recommendation. 

Council Packet Page 129



BE IT ENACTED BY THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL

Section 1. Classification: This is a non-code ordinance.
Section 2. Effective Date: This ordinance becomes effective upon adoption.
Section 3. Content: The City of Unalaska FY23 Budget is amended as follows:

A. That the following sums of money are hereby accepted and the following sums of money
are hereby authorized for expenditure.

B. The following are the changes by account line item:
 
Amendment No. 2 to Ordinance 2022-10

Current Requested Revised
I.  OPERATING BUDGETS
A. General Fund

Sources
Local Support - APIA -$               10,834$       10,834$            
General Fund - Appropriated Fund Balance 6,224,748      957,232       7,181,980         
PERS Non-Employer Contribution 747,381          45,398          792,779            

6,972,129$    1,013,464$  7,985,593$       
Uses

Mayor & Council 432,215$       75,000$       507,215$          
Clerks 555,515          22,719          578,234            
Finance/IS 2,126,285      129,332       2,255,617         
Planning 779,777          21,690          801,467            
Public Works 6,177,533      418,570       6,596,103         
Parks, Culture & Recreation 3,552,906      346,153       3,899,059         

13,624,231$  1,013,464$  14,637,695$     

B. Proprietary Funds
Sources

Electric Fund - Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 3,753,863$    630,832$     4,384,695$       
Electric Fund - PERS Non-Employer Contribution 145,573          22,311          167,884            
Water Fund - Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 1,644,562      622,988       2,267,550         
Water Fund - PERs Non-Employer Contribution 69,642            5,187            74,829              
Wastewater Fund - Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 1,336,158      102,789       1,438,947         
Wastewater Fund - PERS Non-Employer Contribution 62,218            5,288            67,506              
Solid Waste Fund - Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 1,429,039      102,467       1,531,506         
Solid Waste Fund - PERS Non-Employer Contribution 61,587            5,505            67,092              
Ports Fund - Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 4,235,063      47,574          4,282,637         
Ports Fund - PERS Non-Employer Contribution 99,018            2,674            101,692            
Airport Fund - Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 310,348          18,869          329,217            
Airport Fund - PERS Non-Employer Contribution 11,409            991               12,400              
Housing Fund - Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 324,744          12,538          337,282            
Housing Fund - PERS Non-Employer Contribution 9,399              648               10,047              

13,492,623$  1,580,661$  15,073,284$     

CITY OF UNALASKA
UNALASKA, ALASKA

ORDINANCE 2022-17

CREATING BUDGET AMENDMENT #2 TO THE FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET TO (1) INCREASE WAGES, FRINGE BENEFITS 
AND ASSOCIATED STATE OF ALASKA PERS CONTRIBUTIONS FOR IUOE LOCAL 302 UNION EMPLOYEES COVERING 
INCREASED WAGE SCALES, LONGEVITY BONUSES AND EDUCATION INCENTIVES FOR THREE COLLECTIVE 
BARGAINING UNIT AGREEMENTS; (2) RECOGNIZING LOCAL SUPPORT REVENUE OF $10,834 FROM APIA IN THE 
GENERAL FUND AND INCREASING THE PCR OPERATING BUDGET BY $10,834 FOR THE SENIOR EXERCISE PROGRAM; 
(3) INCREASING MAYOR AND COUNCIL BUDGET BY $75,000 TO FULLY FUND TWO COMMUNITY FIREWORKS SHOWS; (4) 
APPROPRIATING AN ADDITIONAL $252,154 FROM THE ELECTRIC PROPRIETARY FUND FOR THE GENERATOR SETS 
REBUILD PROJECT; AND (5) APPROPRIATING AN ADDITIONAL $526,447 FROM THE WATER PROPRIETARY FUND FOR 
THE PYRAMID WATER TREATMENT PLANT CHLORINE UPGRADE PROJECT

1

Council Packet Page 130



Current Requested Revised
Uses

Transfers to Electric Project 883,112$       252,154$     1,135,266$       
Electric Fund - Utility Administration Expenses 5,868,123      74,911          5,943,034         
Electric Fund - Power Production Expenses 12,227,482    110,627       12,338,109       
Electric Fund - Power Distribution Expenses 1,199,561      203,310       1,402,871         
Electric Fund - Vehicle Maintenance 62,557            4,799            67,356              
Electric Fund - Facilities Maintenance 126,078          7,342            133,420            
Transfers to Water Project 791,061          526,447       1,317,508         
Water Fund - Utility Administration Expenses 1,870,677      39,123          1,909,800         
Water Fund - Operating Expenses 1,596,254      57,426          1,653,680         
Water Fund - Vehicle Maintenance 38,322            2,797            41,119              
Water Fund - Facilities Maintenance 59,390            2,382            61,772              
Wastewater Fund - Utility Administration Expenses 1,958,143      32,763          1,990,906         
Wastewater Fund - Operating Expenses 1,998,824      70,503          2,069,327         
Wastewater Fund - Vehicle Maintenance 30,251            2,204            32,455              
Wastewater Fund - Facilities Maintenance 60,661            2,607            63,268              
Solid Waste Fund - Utility Administration Expenses 1,673,007      19,174          1,692,181         
Solid Waste Fund - Operating Expenses 1,962,110      71,900          2,034,010         
Solid Waste Fund - Vehicle Maintenance 147,021          8,907            155,928            
Solid Waste Fund - Facilities Maintenance 112,313          7,991            120,304            
Ports Fund - Harbor Office Expenses 7,024,257      42,807          7,067,064         
Ports Fund - Vehicle Maintenance 62,479            4,209            66,688              
Ports Fund - Facilities Maintenance 52,096            3,232            55,328              
Airport Fund - Admin/Operating Expenses 678,188          5,202            683,390            
Airport Fund - Facilities Maintenance 169,289          14,658          183,947            
Housing Fund - Admin/Operating Expenses 403,530          1,054            404,584            
Housing Fund - Facilities Maintenance 179,113          12,132          191,245            

41,233,899$  1,580,661$  42,814,560$     

II.  CAPITAL PROJECT BUDGETS
A. Public Utilities - Project Budgets

Electric Projects - Generator Sets Rebuild (EL23B)
Sources

Transfers from Electric Operating 750,000$       252,154$     1,002,154$       
Uses

Generator Sets Rebuild (FY23) Project 750,000$       252,154$     1,002,154$       

Water Projects - Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrade (WA21A)
Sources

Transfers from Water Operating 981,500$       526,447$     1,507,947$       
Uses

Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrade 981,500$       526,447$     1,507,947$       

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 11, 2022.

________________________________________
Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr.
Mayor

ATTEST:

________________________________________
Marjie Veeder, CMC
City Clerk

2

Council Packet Page 131



Ordinance 2022-17

1)

2)

3)

4)

Org Object Current Requested Revised

1) General Fund - Operating Budget
Sources:

PCR Private Contributions 01012047 47400 0 10,834 10,834
Appropriated Fund Balance 01010049 49900 6,224,748 957,232 7,181,980
PERS Non-Employer Contributions 01010041 42355 747,381 45,398 792,779

Uses:
Mayor & Council

General Supplies 1020152 56100 40,000 75,000 115,000

Clerks
Salaries and Wages 01020551 51100 245,361 17,151 262,512
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01020551 52200 20,034 1,127 21,161
PERS Employer Contribution 01020551 52300 72,523 4,441 76,964

Finance
Salaries and Wages 01020651 51100 563,254 79,920 643,174
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01020651 52200 44,520 6,113 50,633
PERS Employer Contribution 01020651 52300 165,936 21,683 187,619

Information Systems
Salaries and Wages 01020751 51100 222,443 16,029 238,472
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01020751 52200 17,429 1,224 18,653
PERS Employer Contribution 01020751 52300 61,182 4,363 65,545

Planning
Salaries and Wages 01020851 51100 377,871 15,745 393,616
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01020851 52200 30,231 1,204 31,435
PERS Employer Contribution 01020851 52300 107,905 4,741 112,646

DPW Administration
Salaries and Wages 01022051 51100 335,094 27,324 362,418
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01022051 52200 25,946 2,091 28,037
PERS Employer Contribution 01022051 52300 98,233 7,322 105,555

Roads
Salaries and Wages 01022251 51100 877,263 113,999 991,262
Temporary Employees 01022251 51200 36,088 3,609 39,697
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01022251 52200 73,314 9,000 82,314
PERS Employer Contribution 01022251 52300 271,671 29,507 301,178

Add $927,630 for 302 Wages & Benefits
Add $10,834 to Rec Program Temp Employees for APIA senior exercise program

Proprietary Funds - Operating Budgets
Add $802,060 for 302 Wages & Benefits
Add $252,154 for Electric Transfers to Capital Projects
Add $526,447 for Water Transfers to Capital Projects

Electric Fund - Capital Projects Budget
Add $252,154 for Generator Sets Rebuild Project (FY23)

Water Fund - Capital Projects Budget
Add $526,447 for Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrades Project

General Fund - Operating Budget

Add $75,000 to Council Supplies for fireworks

3

Council Packet Page 132



Ordinance 2022-17

Org Object Current Requested Revised
Supply

Salaries and Wages 01022351 51100 156,157 43,065 199,222
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01022351 52200 12,184 2,926 15,110
PERS Employer Contribution 01022351 52300 46,712 10,590 57,302

Vehicle Maintenance
Salaries and Wages 01022851 51100 436,092 58,914 495,006
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01022851 52200 34,542 4,509 39,051
PERS Employer Contribution 01022851 52300 131,499 13,745 145,244

Facilities Maintenance
Salaries and Wages 01022951 51100 458,731 69,200 527,931
Temporary Employees 01022951 51200 40,459 2,080 42,539
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01022951 52200 39,729 5,266 44,995
PERS Employer Contribution 01022951 52300 139,335 15,423 154,758

Rec Programs
Salaries and Wages 01023251 51100 355,454 77,783 433,237
Temporary Employees 01023251 51200 30,000 10,834 40,834
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01023251 52200 31,170 5,216 36,386
PERS Employer Contribution 01023251 52300 102,209 19,326 121,535

Community Center
Salaries and Wages 01023351 51100 375,009 106,968 481,977
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01023351 52200 30,216 7,266 37,482
PERS Employer Contribution 01023351 52300 84,030 18,460 102,490

Library
Salaries and Wages 01023451 51100 328,059 60,122 388,181
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01023451 52200 26,512 4,600 31,112
PERS Employer Contribution 01023451 52300 80,299 14,299 94,598

Aquatics Center
Salaries and Wages 01023551 51100 249,388 15,446 264,834
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 01023551 52200 19,459 1,182 20,641
PERS Employer Contribution 01023551 52300 52,574 4,651 57,225

2) Electric Fund - Operating Budget
Sources:

Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 50015049 49910 3,753,863 630,832 4,384,695
PERS Non-Employer Contributions 50015041 42355 145,573 22,311 167,884

Uses:
Transfers Out

Transfers to Enterprise Capital Projects 50029854 49940 883,112 252,154 1,135,266

Electric - Utility Administration
Salaries and Wages 50024051 51100 427,003 55,994 482,997
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 50024051 52200 32,942 4,136 37,078
PERS Employer Contribution 50024051 52300 124,669 14,781 139,450

Electric Production
Salaries and Wages 50024151 51100 754,648 83,038 837,686
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 50024151 52200 60,962 6,077 67,039
PERS Employer Contribution 50024151 52300 233,230 21,512 254,742

Electric Line Repair
Salaries and Wages 50024251 51100 512,815 149,310 662,125
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 50024251 52200 42,137 9,645 51,782
PERS Employer Contribution 50024251 52300 162,569 44,355 206,924

4

Council Packet Page 133



Ordinance 2022-17

Org Object Current Requested Revised
Electric (Vehicle Maint.)

Salaries and Wages 50022851 51100 27,153 3,665 30,818
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 50022851 52200 2,150 279 2,429
PERS Employer Contribution 50022851 52300 8,187 855 9,042

Electric (Facilities Maint.)
Salaries and Wages 50022951 51100 39,516 5,587 45,103
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 50022951 52200 3,116 425 3,541
PERS Employer Contribution 50022951 52300 11,815 1,330 13,145

Water Fund - Operating Budget
Sources:

Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 51015549 49910 1,644,562 622,988 2,267,550
PERS Non-Employer Contributions 51015541 42355 69,642 5,187 74,829

Uses:
Transfers Out

Transfers to Enterprise Capital Projects 51029854 59940 791,061 526,447 1,317,508

Water - Utility Administration
Salaries and Wages 51024051 51100 262,704 29,248 291,952
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 51024051 52200 20,189 2,164 22,353
PERS Employer Contribution 51024051 52300 76,236 7,711 83,947

Water - Operations
Salaries and Wages 51024351 51100 562,496 40,856 603,352
Temporary Employees 51024351 51200 28,714 2,881 31,595
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 51024351 52200 47,866 3,073 50,939
PERS Employer Contribution 51024351 52300 173,733 10,616 184,349

Water (Vehicle Maint.)
Salaries and Wages 51022851 51100 15,839 2,136 17,975
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 51022851 52200 1,256 161 1,417
PERS Employer Contribution 51022851 52300 4,775 500 5,275

Water (Facilities Maint.)
Salaries and Wages 51022951 51100 12,824 1,810 14,634
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 51022951 52200 999 142 1,141
PERS Employer Contribution 51022951 52300 3,816 430 4,246

Wastewater Fund - Operating Budget
Sources:

Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 52016049 49910 1,336,158 102,789 1,438,947
PERS Non-Employer Contributions 52016041 42355 62,218 5,288 67,506

Uses:
Wastewater - Utility Administration

Salaries and Wages 52024051 51100 219,066 24,515 243,581
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 52024051 52200 16,774 1,805 18,579
PERS Employer Contribution 52024051 52300 63,636 6,443 70,079

Wastewater - Operations
Salaries and Wages 52024551 51100 501,855 51,331 553,186
Temporary Employees 52024551 51200 28,714 2,881 31,595
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 52024551 52200 43,224 3,967 47,191
PERS Employer Contribution 52024551 52300 156,982 12,324 169,306

Wastewater (Vehicle Maint.)
Salaries and Wages 52022851 51100 12,442 1,684 14,126
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 52022851 52200 988 127 1,115
PERS Employer Contribution 52022851 52300 3,751 393 4,144

5

Council Packet Page 134



Ordinance 2022-17

Org Object Current Requested Revised
Wastewater (Facilities Maint.)

Salaries and Wages 52022951 51100 13,995 1,981 15,976
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 52022951 52200 1,721 154 1,875
PERS Employer Contribution 52022951 52300 6,629 472 7,101

Solid Waste Fund - Operating Budget
Sources:

Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 53016549 49910 1,429,039 102,467 1,531,506
PERS Non-Employer Contributions 53016541 42355 61,587 5,505 67,092

Uses:
Solid Waste - Utility Administration

Salaries and Wages 53024051 51100 179,631 14,359 193,990
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 53024051 52200 13,709 1,057 14,766
PERS Employer Contribution 53024051 52300 52,073 3,758 55,831

Solid Waste - Operations
Salaries and Wages 53024751 51100 476,334 51,325 527,659
Temporary Employees 53024751 51200 27,903 2,787 30,690
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 53024751 52200 41,635 4,140 45,775
PERS Employer Contribution 53024751 52300 148,543 13,648 162,191

Solid Waste (Vehicle Maint.)
Salaries and Wages 53022851 51100 50,342 6,801 57,143
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 53022851 52200 3,983 520 4,503
PERS Employer Contribution 53022851 52300 15,177 1,586 16,763

Solid Waste (Facility Maint.)
Salaries and Wages 53022951 51100 43,023 6,079 49,102
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 53022951 52200 3,382 464 3,846
PERS Employer Contribution 53022951 52300 12,861 1,448 14,309

Ports and Harbors Fund - Operating Budget
Sources:

Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 54017049 49910 4,235,063 47,574 4,282,637
PERS Non-Employer Contributions 54017041 42355 99,018 2,674 101,692

Uses:
Harbor Office

Salaries and Wages 54025051 51100 629,033 31,810 660,843
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 54025051 52200 48,467 2,404 50,871
PERS Employer Contribution 54025051 52300 179,912 8,593 188,505

Ports (Vehicle Maint.)
Salaries and Wages 54022851 51100 23,754 3,212 26,966
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 54022851 52200 1,882 248 2,130
PERS Employer Contribution 54022851 52300 7,162 749 7,911

Ports (Facilities Maint.)
Salaries and Wages 54022951 51100 17,438 2,458 19,896
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 54022951 52200 1,357 188 1,545
PERS Employer Contribution 54022951 52300 5,164 586 5,750

Airport Fund - Operating Budget
Sources:

Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 55017549 49910 310,348 18,869 329,217
PERS Non-Employer Contributions 55017541 42355 11,409 991 12,400

6

Council Packet Page 135



Ordinance 2022-17

Org Object Current Requested Revised
Uses:
Airport Admin/Operations

Salaries and Wages 55025651 51100 66,011 3,858 69,869
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 55025651 52200 4,986 296 5,282
PERS Employer Contribution 55025651 52300 18,949 1,048 19,997

Airport (Facilities Maint.)
Salaries and Wages 55022951 51100 78,313 11,169 89,482
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 55022951 52200 6,237 856 7,093
PERS Employer Contribution 55022951 52300 23,410 2,633 26,043

Housing Fund - Operating Budget
Sources:

Budgeted use of unrestricted net assets 56018049 49910 324,744 12,538 337,282
PERS Non-Employer Contributions 56018041 42355 9,399 648 10,047

Uses:
Housing Admin & Operating

Salaries and Wages 56025851 51100 49,274 783 50,057
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 56025851 52200 3,798 60 3,858
PERS Employer Contribution 56025851 52300 14,045 211 14,256

Housing (Facilities Maint.)
Salaries and Wages 56022951 51100 65,299 9,230 74,529
FICA & Medicare Emplr Match 56022951 52200 5,471 706 6,177
PERS Employer Contribution 56022951 52300 20,851 2,196 23,047

3) Electric Fund - Capital Project Budgets
Sources:
Generator Sets Rebuild Project (FY23)

Transfers From Proprietary Operating 750,000 252,154 1,002,154

Uses:
Generator Sets Rebuild Project (FY23)

Repair/Maintenance Services 716,923 252,154 969,077
Transfers From Proprietary Operating 33,077 0 33,077

4) Water Fund - Capital Project Budgets
Sources:
Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrades Project

Transfers From Proprietary Operating 981,500 526,447 1,507,947

Uses:
Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrades Project

Engineering & Architecture 108,819 66,120 174,939
Other Professional 27,500 0 27,500
Construction Services 441,475 460,327 901,802
Telephone/Fax/TV 290 0 290
Advertising 284 0 284
Contingency 118,081 0 118,081
Machinery & Equipment 285,051 0 285,051

51125553-55912-WA21A

50119848-49130-EL23B

50125053-54300-EL23B

51125553-53240-WA21A

51125553-57400-WA21A

51125553-53300-WA21A
51125553-54500-WA21A
51125553-55310-WA21A
51125553-55901-WA21A

50125053-54300-EL23B

51119848-49130-WA21A

7
Council Packet Page 136



 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Clay Darnell, Interim Finance Director 
Through: Chris Hladick, Interim City Manager 
  Bil Homka, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 27, 2022 
Re: Ordinance 2022-17, FY23 Budget Amendment #2, funding for the three IUOE 

302 Collective Bargaining Agreements 
 

 
SUMMARY: This budget amendment fully funds the Council approved Collective Bargaining 
Agreements (CBAs) for three units of the International Union of Operating Engineers Local 302 
(IUOE). The total cost to the City for this implementation is $1,729,690. The cost to each 
department is itemized on the Budget Amendment spreadsheet. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council approved three separate CBAs with IUOE on May 24, 
2022. 
 
BACKGROUND: Every three years the City and IUOE Local 302 bargaining units enter contract 
negotiations to agree upon CBAs for a new three-year term. The three bargaining units include 
(1) City Hall, (2) DPU/W and (3) PCR. Council approved all three CBAs on May 24, 2022. 
 
DISCUSSION: This budget amendment will fund the implementation of the CBAs. The breakdown 
of the funding is:  
 

51100 Salaries and Wages $1,293,905 
51200 Temporary Employees $14,238 
52200 Payroll Taxes $94,818 
52300 PERS $326,729 
 $1,729,690 

A total of $1,729,690 is the cost to fully fund the Council approved CBAs.  

ALTERNATIVES: Council could choose not to implement the approved changes for the CBAs. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The total cost to the City is $1,729,690. The cost to each 
department is itemized on the Budget Amendment Spreadsheet. 
 
LEGAL: None 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption. 
  
PROPOSED MOTION: I move to introduce Ordinance 2022-17 and schedule it for second 
reading and public hearing on October 11, 2022. 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support staff’s recommendation. 
 

Council Packet Page 137



 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Roger Blakeley, PCR Director 
Through: Chris Hladick, Interim City Manager 
  Bil Homka, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 27, 2022 
Re: Ordinance 2022-17, creating FY23 Budget Amendment #2, to receive 

$10,834.20 from the Aleutian Pribilof Islands Association to pay an instructor for 
the Senior Exercise Program 

 

 
SUMMARY: Ordinance 2022-17 accepts $10,834.20 to fund the Senior Exercise Program. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: In 2019, Council approved a similar request for $7,000 to start 
the program. The program was successful, with funding from APIA. Due to the COVID-19 
pandemic and the inability to offer regular instructor led classes in FY21 this funding request was 
not made in 2020. Council approved a similar budget amendment for $7,200.00 in FY22 which 
allowed PCR to continue offering this programming in partnership with APIA.  

BACKGROUND: The Aleutian Pribilof Islands Association (APIA) partnered with the Department 
of Parks, Culture and Recreation (PCR) to develop a senior exercise program, held at the 
Unalaska Senior Center. APIA received a grant to fund the program and is working with PCR to 
provide an instructor. PCR requests a budget amendment to allocate an additional $10,834.20 to 
01023251-51200 (Temporary Employees) to hire the instructor for this program. This amount 
reflects the amount of money APIA received to fund the personnel portion of the program. 

PCR will invoice APIA for the hours worked by the instructor and we will receive reimbursement 
for those hours up to the $10,834.20 outlined in the APIA grant. The result is $0 net loss to the 
city, and gives PCR the ability to provide a much-needed senior exercise class in cooperation 
with APIA. The program will end when the grant funds are exhausted. 

DISCUSSION: Staff requests $10,834.20 to pay the Instructor for the Senior Exercise Class held 
up to three times per week. Without this grant funding PCR would not be able to offer this senior 
exercise program to the community.  

ALTERNATIVES: Council may choose to approve the budget amendment and fund the program; 
or not approve the funding and cancel the program.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: None 

LEGAL: None 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption. 

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to introduce Ordinance 2022-17 and schedule it for second 
reading and public hearing on October 11, 2022. 

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support staff’s recommendation. 

Council Packet Page 138



- 1 - 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Ben Knowles, Acting Fire Chief 
Through: Chris Hladick, Interim City Manager 

Bil Homka, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 27, 2022 
Re: Budget Amendment request for fireworks shows to be held New Year’s Eve and 

Independence Day 2022 
 

 
SUMMARY: The City has sponsored fireworks shows for many years. Due to increased vendor 
costs, as well as cost increases for fireworks materials, shipping, travel and the need to repair 
equipment, a budget amendment of $75,000 is being requested in order to put on two fireworks 
shows (New Year’s Eve 2022 and 4th of July 2023). 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council approved the FY23 Operating Budget on June 28, 2022, 
with Ordinance 2022-23, which included $35,000 for fireworks shows. This budget line contains 
an additional $5,000 for miscellaneous supplies, which can be used for fireworks expenses. 

On September 13, 2022, Council directed the City Manager to provide a New Year’s Eve fireworks 
show, along with a budget amendment to cover the costs for the fireworks trailer and a 4th of July 
fireworks show. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: City funded fireworks displays have been a long time 
community event. Shows prior to FY20 were awarded to a pyrotechnics company that is no longer 
in business. That company offered the city an extremely appealing package for a commercial 1.3g 
fireworks display that was well below the market value and city employees provided much of the 
labor for the build and firing of the show. The average cost per show from 2014-2019 was about 
$20,500 per show.  

During the COVID-19 pandemic the city opted to cancel the NYE 2021 show in the best interest 
of the community’s health. The Alaska State Firefighters Association (ASFA) – Unalaska Chapter 
was able to fund a smaller non-commercial 1.4g show with no cost to the City by solicitation of 
donation as a registered 501(c)(3) non-profit from Gorilla Fireworks LLC of Houston, Alaska. 1.4g 
fireworks are considered to be “over-the-counter” explosives and are available to the general 
public. They are heavily regulated on size and weight of explosive which provides a very restricted 
display. Since the NYE 2021 display, ASFA has shot a one show per fiscal year with help from a 
community support grant. This has allowed the city to only be financially responsible for one 
display per fiscal year, which has made the budget adequate. ASFA has been battling staffing 
issues and is at a point where continuing to organize and coordinate the 1.4g displays is becoming 
overly taxing to the remaining members. Although recruitment efforts are in full swing, the 
likelihood that the organization is able and willing to handle another fireworks display commitment 
is slim.  

The fireworks equipment is in need of repair or replacement. DPW staff worked to create a 
dedicated fireworks trailer to mitigate incurring repair costs to their low-boy trailer following a 
fireworks display. Because of the nature of this event, ultimately there was damage being done 

Council Packet Page 139



- 2 - 
 

to the equipment used for firing the display. This includes damage to mortar tubes, mortar racks, 
wiring boards, and DPW’s low-boy trailer. There has always been a small contingency of 
equipment that could be utilized in cases where something failed or there wasn’t enough of, which 
has now been used, mostly beyond repair or is outdated and unsafe to use any further. We are 
requesting a one-time funding cost of $25,000 in FY23 for replacement of broken equipment. 

After some discussion with pyrotechnic companies in the Anchorage area, the unofficial cost for 
a show that meets the last issued RFP is $35,000 per show, which does not include air travel, 
rental vehicle, hotel, and per diem for the pyro technician, which is estimated at an additional 
$5,000. This leaves no funding for contingency, repairs to the trailer or an additional show on 4th 
of July 2023. 

We request an additional $75,000 be added to the FY23 budget, as follows: 

Equipment and trailer build/repair  $25,000 
4th of July Show   $40,000 
Contingency for FY23 shows  $10,000 
 
Total:   $75,000 

 
ALTERNATIVES: Council could choose to: 

1. Discontinue community fireworks shows and return the $35,000 budgeted to the general 
fund.  

2. Fund one show per fiscal year: 

a. But still need to provide funding to repair equipment. 

b. Scale down the size the duration of the show in order not to exceed the $35,000 
presently budgeted.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: If approved, $75,000 to be transferred from the general fund to 
council’s budget for FY23. 

LEGAL: None. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Based on Council’s Directive to the City Manager, staff 
recommends approval.  

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to introduce Ordinance 2022-17 and schedule it for public hearing 
and second reading on October 11, 2022. 

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support the Staff Recommendation. 

Council Packet Page 140



- 1 - 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Steve Tompkins, Acting Director of Public Utilities 
Through: Chris Hladick, Interim City Manager 
  Bil Homka, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 27, 2022 
Re: Ordinance 2022-17, Creating Budget Amendment #2 to the Fiscal Year 2023 

Budget Adding $252,154 to Capital Project EL23B Generator Sets Rebuild 
(FY23) 

 

 
SUMMARY: This budget Amendment Request consists of a transfer of $252,154 from the 
Electric Proprietary Fund to Capital Project EL23B Generator Sets Rebuild, increasing the 
budget to $1,002,154. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: City Council approved Ordinance 2022-10 on June 28, 2022, 
adopting the FY23 Operating and Capital Budget, allocating $750,000 to the FY23 Generator 
Sets Rebuild Project. 

BACKGROUND: Each fiscal year since FY18, staff estimates which gensets will need major 
work based on the hour meters, overall condition, and known issues. There is generally a 30% 
contingency added to allow for unexpected failures that need immediate attention. This system 
has generally worked well with significant portions of the budget returned to the proprietary fund 
budgetary reserves at the end of each year: 

  

DISCUSSION: There are three primary unanticipated issues in FY23 that contributed to 
exceeding the original budget of $750,000, intended to fully fund a scheduled in-frame overhaul 
of Caterpillar Unit #13: 

 Inflationary factors and supply chain issues increased the price of the planned rebuild to 
$762,481, with almost $700 in parts. Previous rebuilds on the Cats have been in the 
$300,000 - $400,000 range. 

 Severe storm events increased water intrusion into the Valley Power Module container, 
ultimately shorting out the generator. It is over $82,000 to remove the generator portion 
of the genset and get the stator rewound and the unit reconditioned in Seattle. Staff are 

Original Budget Revised Budget Actual

FY18 1,267,306.00$     750,171.66$        

FY19 1,292,652.00$     516,889.52$        

FY20 1,714,056.00$     2,097,683.00$     1,920,749.83$     

FY21 1,748,338.00$     978,547.44$        

FY22 500,000.00$        295,718.38$        

FY23 750,000.00$        714,863.37$         Encumbered to date

Council Packet Page 141



- 2 - 
 

exploring options for a better generator enclosure for improved protection from the 
elements and noise abatement. The old container currently housing the genset should 
be replaced in the next budget cycle. 

 The Wartsila cylinder heads that were rebuilt on-site by Motor-Services Hugo Stamp 
(MSHS) in FY20 are failing prematurely at the exhaust seats due to non-OEM parts and 
improper seat installation. There are four heads sitting in the Surrey, British Columbia 
Wartsila workshop awaiting a purchase order to proceed with rebuilds, and staff have 
used the two new heads from inventory to keep one of the units on-line. 

Breakdown usage of funds requested:
 

 

ALTERNATIVES: Unalaska Power Division’s Certificate of Fitness from the Alaska Energy 
Authority states we are required to keep all electrical generating equipment in good running 
condition.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: EL23B – The proposed budget for the Capital Project is set out 
as follows: 

 

LEGAL: N/A 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval of this budget amendment. 

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to introduce Ordinance 2022-17 and schedule it for public 
hearing and second reading on October 11, 2022. 

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support staff’s recommendation. 

ATTACHMENTS: None. 

Unanticipated Rebuild Expenses

Item Provided By Amount

Labor and Misc. to Perform In‐frame Overhaul on #13 NC Power 77,000$              

Remove and Re‐install Generator UVPM NC Power 15,905$                     

Rewind Stator and Recondition UVPM Generator Delta Electric Motors 52,995$                     

Ocean Freight for Generator RT Seattle Coastal  14,000$                     

Rebuild Four Cylinder Heads and Two Turbos Wartsila 92,254$                     

Total 252,154$                  

Account Number Description
Original 

Budget
Transfers

Revised 

Budget

Expensed & 

Encumbered
Available

This 

Request

Proposed 

Revised 

Budget

50125053‐54300‐EL23B Repair/Maint. Services $576,923.00 $140,000.00 $716,923.00 $714,863.37 $2,059.63 $252,154.00 $969,077.00

50125053‐55912‐EL23B Contingency $173,077.00 ‐$140,000.00 $33,077.00 $33,077.00 $33,077.00

$1,002,154.00

Generator Sets Rebuild (FY23) ‐ MUNIS Project EL23B

Council Packet Page 142



 

- 1 - 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Tom Cohenour, Director, Department of Public Works 
  Bob Cummings, City Engineer 
  Steve Tompkins, Director, Department of Public Utilities 
  Lori Gregory, Administrative Operations Manager, DPW/DPU 
Through: Chris Hladick, Interim City Manager 
  Bil Homka, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 27, 2022 
Re: Ordinance 2022-17, Budget Amendment Request of $526,447 to fund 

Construction of the Chlorine Upgrades Project 
 

 
SUMMARY: This Budget Amendment requests $526,447 from the Water Proprietary Fund in 
order to fund a contract with Industrial Resources, Inc. to construct the Chlorine Upgrades Project. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION:  

 This Project was initially funded at $100,000 via the FY2021 Capital Budget appropriation 
Ordinance No. 2020-10, adopted on June 9, 2020.  

 On May 11, 2021, budget amendment Ordinance 2021-09 appropriated $300,000 to fund 
the purchase of the Chlorine Generation Unit.  

 The FY2022 Capital Budget appropriation Ordinance 2021-07, adopted May 25, 2021, 
provided another $581,500 in project funding.  

 Also on May 25, 2021, Council approved Resolution 2021-37, authorizing the Agreement 
with PSI Water Technologies to provide the Owner Furnished Materials, the Chlorine 
Generating Unit, for $288,000.  

 On December 28, 2021, Council approved Resolution 2021-80, awarding the construction 
of the Project to Industrial Resources, Inc. via contract addendum for $441,474.73. 

BACKGROUND: This project was initiated to move the Water Utility away from the expensive 
and potentially dangerous practice of shipping in the chlorine gas used for potable water 
disinfection at the Pyramid Water Treatment Plant. The machinery purchased to achieve the 
project’s goal is similar to that already in use at the Wastewater Treatment Plant and Aquatics 
Center. The Project’s construction phase was awarded to Industrial Resources, Inc. (“IRI”) via 
Resolution 2021-80 and consisted of installing the procured MicroChlor chlorine generator and 
integrating it into the Water Distribution System at the Plant on a time and materials basis. Due 
to supply chain, travel, and inflation issues, IRI informed the City on April 14, 2022, two weeks 
before mobilization to the island, it expected an additional $288,000 in costs associated with 
completing the project. This amount exceeded the available budget and at this time all IRI work 
was stopped for this project. The project was then prepared to be put out to bid.  

DISCUSSION: The project’s construction was rebid on June 21, 2022. The sole bid received on 
July 21, 2022 was from IRI, quoting $661,200 to perform the work. There is the construction 
services shortfall of $460,327, 10% ($66,120) of the construction contract is being requested to 
fund Contract Administration and Inspection activities. 

Council Packet Page 143



 

- 2 - 
 

ALTERNATIVES: Alternatives to funding this Budget Amendment request include abandoning 
the project or re-advertising for bids. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The proposed new budget is set forth below. 

 

LEGAL: None.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff does not believe it is in the best interests of the City to delay 
this important safety project any further. It is unfortunate that complications from the Pandemic 
have caused the cost of construction to increase. The generating unit is currently in storage until 
it can be incorporated into the distribution system. Further delays will only increase the final cost 
of the project. 

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to introduce Ordinance 2022-17 and schedule it for public hearing 
and second reading on October 11, 2022. 

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support the staff recommendation. 

ATTACHMENTS: None. 

 

ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION
CURRENT 

BUDGET
ENCUMBERED

REMAINING 

BUDGET
THIS REQUEST

REVISED 

BUDGET

Engineering and Architectural 108,819$          21,858$            (274)$                66,120$            174,939$         

Other Professional 27,500$            26,863$            ‐$                  27,500$           

Construction Services 441,475$          402,683$          ‐$                  460,327$          901,802$         

Telephone / Fax / TV 290$                 33$                   290$                

Advertising 284$                 ‐$                  284$                

Contingency 118,081$          118,081$          118,081$         

Machinery and Equipment 285,051$          35,712$            ‐$                  285,051$         

981,500$          487,116$          117,840$          526,447$          1,507,947$      

Council Packet Page 144


	00 Agenda 2022 09 27
	05  FY23 DVAM Proclamation
	07  Draft Minutes 2022 09 13
	08  City Manager Report 2022 09 27
	11a Presentation re Airport Master Plan
	Airport Master Plan - Memo to City Council 9-27-22
	DUT MPU Proposed Capital Projects

	11b APCM slide deck September 2022
	Unalaska September 2022.pdf
	City of Unalaska���Investment Review
	Account Summary as of August 31, 2022�City of Unalaska
	Historical Market Value as of August 31, 2022�City of Unalaska
	Portfolio Review�For Period Ending August 31, 2022
	Slide Number 5
	Portfolio Characteristics of August 31, 2022�City of Unalaska
	Market Review
	Main Conclusions
	Peak Inflation – Not Necessarily Peak Rates
	Inflation Components Suggest Underlying Trends To Remain Well Above 2%  for Years
	Monetary Policy Expectations – Far From Done
	US Treasury Curve and the US Growth Outlook 
	Corporate Outlook
	Appendix

	Unalaska_Appraisal_Appendix_8.31.22.pdf

	11c City Attorney Report
	12 UNFA request for support letter to NPFMC
	UNFA - staff memo 2022 09 27
	1 Proposed September 2022 letter to NPFMC
	2 C2 small vessel cod analysis June  2022
	3 Dickerson information paper
	4 Mayor to NPFMC 2022
	5 Mayor to NPFMC 2021
	6 Resolution 2019-55

	13a Ordinance 2022-16 Amend 2.20.075 Executive Session
	Ordinance 2022-16
	Staff Memo for Ordinance 2022-16

	13b Ordnance 2022-17 FY23 BA #2
	Ordinance 2022-17 FY23 BA #2
	Ordinance 2022-17 supporting pages
	Staff Memo FY23 BA #2 IUOE 302 Funding
	Staff Memo FY23 BA #2 Senior Exercise Program
	Staff Memo FY23 BA #2 Fireworks
	Staff Memo FY23 BA #2 Generator Sets Rebuild EL23B
	Staff Memo FY23 BA #2 Chlorine Upgrades




